UNIVERSITÉ LILLE 2 – DROIT ET SANTÉ

## ÉCOLE DOCTORALE BIOLOGIE-SANTÉ

## DOCTORAT DE BIOMOLÉCULES, PHARMACOLOGIE, THÉRAPEUTIQUE

**Biochimie et Biologie Moléculaire** 

## **RODRIGO LORENZI**

## VALUE OF RAGE AS A CIRCULATING BIOMARKER:

## FROM sRAGE TO ANTI-sRAGE AUTOANTIBODIES

Thèse dirigée par le Professeur Eric BOULANGER

Université Lille 2

Thèse soutenue le 23 septembre 2013

## JURY

Professeur Philippe Gillery Professeur Jean-Luc Wautier Docteur Frédéric Tessier Professeur Brigitte Jude

Professeur Eric Boulanger

Rapporteur Rapporteur Examinateur Examinateur Examinateur

## Dedication

I dedicate this thesis to my parents Eliseu Lorenzi and Wanda Maria Ledur Lorenzi, who self-deprived and made their best efforts in order to make my life better. It was never in vain. I love you.

"Tant que les gens croient aux absurdités,

ils continueront à commettre des atrocités."

Voltaire

"That which can be asserted without evidence,

can be dismissed without evidence."

**Christopher Hitchens** 

"Everybody's looking for the sun. People strain their eyes to see.

But I see you and you see me. Ain't that wonder?"

**Ray Davies** 

## Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank my wife Ana. You were the major support I needed through the difficulties. I hope to be important to you as you are to me. I love you.

I kindly thank my thesis advisor Eric for this wonderful opportunity. Thank you also for your patience. I know sometimes I'm not that easy-going.

Special thanks for Nicolas, Cyril, François and Fred. Les garçons B2V! Thank you for the interesting discussions and for enriching my french vocabulary!

To the members of the jury:

Pr. Jean-Luc Wautier, awarded by the Institut de France with the Mémain-Pelletier prize. It is a great honor to have you being part of this jury;

Pr. Philippe Gillery, from Université Reims-Champagne Ardenne University, I am very glad and honored with your presence in this jury.

Pr. Frédéric Tessier, from Institut Polytechnique LaSalle Beauvais, it was a great pleasure and honor to have your collaboration in this work. Thank you very much.

Pr. Brigitte Jude, from Université Lille2, it was a great pleasure to be part of your team and an honor to have you present in this special moment.

I am very thankful for all my colleagues of the EA2693. I'd rather not mention names, as they are so many. Your support was very important during these 3 years. Thank you for all the great moments of fun and joy.

I am very grateful for Sylvain Dubucquoi and everybody at the lab of humoral immunity. Very special thanks to Carine and Sandrine.

To Didier Lefranc and Christophe Flahaut: thank you for the excellent scientific support.

To all my friends of the football matches, a huge "thank you" for letting me show you how to play! And sorry for the tackles.

I am grateful for my friends in Brazil, for their support and friendship. Of course, all the friends I've made here, Brazilians or not, will have my friendship and gratitude.

Many thanks to everybody of the International Relations: Philippe Cordonnier, Mathilde Modaine, Virginie Perotti, Angeline Nova and Claire Devos. What a wonderful experience!

# **Table of Contents**

Abbrevia	ations	vii
Résumé	,	1
Abstract		2
Chapter	One - RAGE and its soluble forms in human diseases	16
1.1	The Receptor of Advanced Glycation End-products	16
1.1.	1 Pathophysiological roles of RAGE	17
1.2	RAGE downstream signaling	23
1.3	RAGE ligands	27
1.3.	1 Advanced Glycation End-products	28
1.3.2	2 Amphoterin (HMGB1)	34
1.3.3	3 S100 proteins	34
1.3.4	4 Amyloid beta peptide (Aβ)	35
1.3.	5 Other RAGE ligands	36
1.4	Soluble RAGE	37
1.5	sRAGE levels in human diseases	39
1.5.	1 sRAGE in diabetes	39
1.5.2	2 Neurological diseases	44
1.5.3	3 Cardiovascular diseases	45
1.5.4	4 Kidney diseases	48
1.5.	5 Lung diseases	50
1.5.0	6 Cancer	51
1.5.	7 Other disorders	52
1.6	Modulation of sRAGE levels	54
1.8	Anti-sRAGE autoantibodies	61
Chapter	Two - Metabolic and Inflammatory Disorders	63
2.1	Cardiovascular Diseases	63
2.2	2 Diabetes6	
2.3	2.3 Obesity	
2.4	Autoimmunity	71
Chapter	Three - Objectives	76
Chapter	Four - Articles	77

4.1 quant	Do RAGE ligands or anti-sRAGE autoantibodies interfere with sRAGE ification?	78
4.2	Anti-sRAGE autoantibody: a new biomarker during obesity	98
Chapte	Five - Discussion	116
5.1	From sRAGE to anti-sRAGE autoantibodies	116
5.2	The sRAGE rollercoaster	117
5.3	The interest of the ABOS cohort	120
5.4	Autoimmunity against sRAGE	123
5.5	Limitations	125
5.6	Conclusion	126
Chapter Six - Perspectives		
Referer	ices	130

# Abbreviations

ACE	Angiotensin-converting enzyme
ACEi	Inhibitor of angiotensin-converting enzyme
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ADAM	Sheddase a disintegrin and metalloprotease
ADAMTS	A disintegrin and metalloproteinase with a thrombospondin type 1
	motif
AGEs	Advanced glycation end-products
Akt	Protein kinase B
АроЕ	Apoliprotein E
APP	Amyloid precursor protein
APS	Antiphospholipid syndrome
Αβ	Amyloid beta peptide
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
BMI	Body-mass index
CAD	Coronary artery disease
Ca-IC	Calcium ionophore calcimycin
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CDR	Clinical Dementia Score
CHD	Coronary heart disease
СКD	Chronic kidney disease
CML	Nɛ-carboxymethyllysine
cRAGE	Cleaved receptor for advanced glycation end-products
CRP	C-reactive protein
CVDs	Cardiovascular diseases
Dia-1	Diaphanous-1

EC	Endothelial cell
esRAGE	Endogenous secretory receptor for advanced glycation end-
	products
ESRD	End-stage renal disease
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FcFree-rHu-sRAGE	Fc-free recombinant human sRAGE
FL-RAGE	Full length RAGE
G6P	Glucose-6-phosphate
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate
GLUT	Glucose transporter
GPCRs	G protein-coupled receptors
HbA <sub>1C</sub>	Glycated hemoglobin
HD	Hemodialysis
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HMGB1	High-mobility group protein-B1/amphoterin
HOMA-IR	Homeostatic model assessment - insulin resistance
HSA	Human serum albumin
hsCRP	high sensitiviy C-reactive protein
HSP	Heat-shock protein
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1
IFN	Interferon
lg	Immunoglobulin
IKK	Kappa factor inhibitor kinase
IL	Interleukin
IMT	Intima media thickness
IRAK4	Interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase 4
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase

LADA	Latent autimmune diabetes of adults
LC-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography coupled to linear ion-trap tandem mass
	spectrometry
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
MMP	Matrix metallopeptidase
MyD88	Myeloid differentiation primary response gene (88)
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor kappa B
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PC7	Proprotein convertase 7
РКС	Protein kinase C
РМА	Phorbol ester myristate actetate
pNPP	Para-nitrophenylphosphate
PRR	Pattern-recognition receptor
PS	Phosphatidylserine
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
Rac-1	Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate-1
RAGE	Receptor for advanced glycation end-products
RBANS	Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological
	Status
rHu-sRAGE	recombinant sRAGE
ROS	Reactive oxygen species

SAA	Serum amyloid alpha		
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus		
SMC	Smooth muscle cells		
SPARC	Secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine		
sRAGE	Soluble receptor for advanced glycation end-products		
Src	Sarcoma family of proteins		
TACE	Tumor necrosis factor alpha converting enzyme		
TGF-β1	Transforming growth factor beta 1		
TIRAP	Toll-interleukin 1 receptor domain containing adaptor protein		
TLR	Toll-like receptor		
TNBS	2,4,6-trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid		
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha		
VCAM-1	Vascular-cell adhesion molecule-1		
WHR	Waist to hip ratio		

## Résumé

Les pathologies cardio-vasculaires (CVD) représentent la principale cause de morbidité et de mortalité dans le monde. Le risque de CVD augmente avec l'âge, le tabagisme, le diabète, les dyslipidémies, l'obésité et l'insuffisance rénale. L'incidence et la prévalence des CVD nécessitent le développement de stratégies de prévention et de traitement, et la recherche de nouveaux biomarqueurs. Le récepteur aux produits de glycation avancée (RAGE) est impliqué dans plusieurs pathologies métaboliques ou inflammatoires. L'activation du RAGE par ses multiples ligands, i.e. produits de glycation avancée (AGE), protéines de la famille S100 et amphotérine (HMGB1) induit une cascade pro-inflammatoire. La forme soluble du RAGE (sRAGE) a été proposée comme biomarqueur du risque vasculaire, de la sévérité et du devenir des CVD, particulièrement chez les patients diabétiques ou insuffisants rénaux. Cependant, les données sont contradictoires et des corrélations positives et négatives sont observées pour une même pathologie. L'importance de l'axe ligand-RAGE dans les processus pathologiques et le large éventail de molécules se liant au RAGE (des protéines proinflammatoires aux auto-anticorps), justifient le présent travail.

Au cours du présent travail, dans un premier temps, nous avons d'abord étudié les effets des ligands du RAGE et des auto-anticorps anti-sRAGE récemment décrit, sur la quantification du sRAGE en ELISA. Nous supposons que l'interaction entre le sRAGE et ces molécules pourrait perturber le dosage du sRAGE. Dans un deuxième travail, nous avons évalué les variations du taux de sRAGE et des auto-anticorps anti-sRAGE après chirurgie bariatrique d'une obésité morbide.

Les ligands du RAGE (Nɛ-carboxyméthyllysine, S100A6, S100A12, S100B, HMGB1 et peptide βamyloïde) se fixent au sRAGE en différents sites et pourraient potentiellement interférer dans sa quantification par l'intermédiaire d'un masquage d'épitope. Nous avons incubé ces ligands, à des concentrations physiologiques et pathologiques, avec du sRAGE recombinant et du sérum pour évaluer leur effet sur le dosage du sRAGE. Des auto-anticorps anti-sRAGE ont été identifiés et purifiés et leur effet sur le dosage de sRAGE a été évalué. La présence des ligands ou d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE ne modifie pas le dosage du sRAGE recombinant ou sérique.

L'obésité favorise les dyslipidémies, les perturbations glycémiques et l'inflammation, conditions au cours desquelles le RAGE pourrait jouer un rôle important. Nous avons étudié les variations des taux sériques du sRAGE et de ses auto-anticorps et leur évolution avec l'amélioration métabolique des sujets obèses après chirurgie bariatrique. Les patients ont été sélectionnés au sein d'une cohorte déjà établie (Patient présentant une obésité morbide et candidat à une chirurgie de bypass gastrique, ABOS, Lille). Les patients présentant des facteurs pouvant modifier les niveaux de sRAGE, tels qu'un traitement par statines, une insuffisance rénale chronique ou une hypertension, ont été exclus. Comparé au groupe contrôle, les taux de sRAGE et d'auto-anticorps étaient significativement plus élevés chez les patients obèses avant la chirurgie. Parallèlement à la baisse de l'indice de masse corporelle, les taux de sRAGE et d'anti-sRAGE ont été significativement diminués un an après la chirurgie. La baisse d'anti-sRAGE a été corrélée à l'augmentation des taux de HDL.

Nous démontrons que les variations des taux de sRAGE constatées dans la littérature ne sont, à priori, pas dues à l'interaction des ligands du RAGE avec le sRAGE. D'autres hypothèses, comme la régulation de la formation et de la clairance du sRAGE, sont discutées. Nous avons, pour la première fois, démontré la présence d'auto-anticorps anti-sRAGE chez les patients obèses, et la diminution du taux de ces auto-anticorps après une chirurgie de bariatrique. Ces résultats suggèrent que l'obésité pourrait être responsable d'une réaction auto-immune contre le sRAGE. Par ailleurs, ces données sont en défaveur de l'utilisation du sRAGE comme biomarqueur mais suggèrent que les auto-anticorps anti-sRAGE pourraient être des bons candidats au suivi du risque métabolique et d'une auto-immunité anti-sRAGE.

Mots-clés : RAGE; sRAGE ; biomarqueur; autoimmunité

## Abstract

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are the leading cause of mortality and morbidity in the world. The risk of CVDs increases with age, tobacco, diabetes, dyslipidemia, obesity and kidney dysfunction. The incidence and prevalence of CVDs demand the development of efficient strategies for prevention and treatment, as well as new biomarkers. The receptor for advanced glycation end-products (RAGE) is implicated in several metabolic and inflammatory disorders. RAGE activation by its multiple ligands, i.e. advanced glycation end-products (AGEs), S100 proteins and amphoterin (HMGB1) induces pro-inflammatory events upon RAGE engagement. The soluble circulating form of RAGE (sRAGE) has been proposed as a biomarker of vascular risk, disease severity and outcome, especially in individuals with diabetes or kidney dysfunction. However, data is controversial since positive and negative correlations are observed for a same disease. The importance of the ligand-RAGE axis in pathological processes and the wide range of RAGE-binding molecules (from pro-inflammatory proteins to autoantibodies), appreciates the present study.

In this thesis, we first investigated effects of RAGE ligands and the recently described antisRAGE autoantibodies on sRAGE quantification. We hypothesized that interactions between sRAGE and these molecules could impair sRAGE quantification. On the second part, we evaluated the value of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies as biomarkers of metabolic improvement after bariatric surgery for morbid obesity. Patients were selected from the established cohort ABOS (Lille).

RAGE ligands (Nɛ-carboxymethyllysine, S100A6, S100A12, S100B, HMGB1 and amyloid beta peptide) bind sRAGE at different sites and could potentially impair its quantification through epitope masking. We tested this hypothesis by incubating these ligands, from physiological to pathological concentrations, with recombinant sRAGE and serum to evaluate their effects on sRAGE quantification. Anti-sRAGE autoantibodies were identified and further purified and their effects on sRAGE measurement evaluated. The presence of ligands or anti-sRAGE autoantibodies did not impair recombinant or serum sRAGE quantification.

Obesity is a condition of dyslipidemia, glycemia deregulation and inflammation where RAGE is believed to play an important role. We aimed then to investigate the levels of sRAGE and its autoantibodies according to metabolic improvement in obese subjects submitted to weight loss surgery. Patients were highly selected from a well established cohort (morbidly obese patients eligible for gastric bypass, ABOS, Lille). Patients under statins treatment, with kidney dysfunction or hypertension, factors that could affect sRAGE levels, were excluded. In obese patients, significant higher levels of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies were observed before weight-loss surgery. In parallel to body-mass Index, both sRAGE and anti-sRAGE titers were significantly decreased one year after surgery. The decrease in anti-sRAGE was correlated with the increase in HDL levels.

We demonstrate that the variations of sRAGE levels among the literature are, most likely, not due to an interaction between RAGE ligands and sRAGE. Other hypothesis like the regulation of sRAGE formation and clearance are further discussed. We have, for the first time demonstrated the presence of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies in obese subjects and that their levels decrease after bariatric surgery. Although our data suggest that morbid obese status may lead to an autoimmune reactions against sRAGE. Together, our findings argue against sRAGE as a good biomarker but suggest that anti-sRAGE autoantibodies may have a potential implication to evaluate metabolic risk and autoimmunity associated to RAGE.

**Key-words:** RAGE; sRAGE; biomarker; autoimmunity

### Introduction :

### Le RAGE

Le récepteur aux produits de glycation avancée (RAGE, *Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts*) est une protéine transmembranaire appartenant à la famille des immunoglobulines (Ig). Le fragment extra-cellulaire est constitué de trois domaines semblables aux Ig (*Ig-like*) : un domaine variable (V) et deux domaines constants (C1 et C2). Le RAGE est également composé d'un domaine transmembranaire et d'un domaine intracellulaire. Le gène du RAGE humain est situé dans le chromosome 6, locus 6p21.3, dans la région du complexe majeur d'histocompatibilité III (CMH III). Le RAGE est exprimé de manière constitutive par de nombreux types cellulaires incluant les cellules musculaires lisses, endothéliales, mésangiales, mésothéliales, hépatiques et neuronales... Dans le sang, le RAGE est exprimé par les monocytes/macrophages, les polynucléaires neutrophiles et les plaquettes. Le RAGE est particulièrement exprimé dans les poumons, les muscles squelettiques et le cœur.

Le rôle physiologique du RAGE demeure incertain. Le RAGE est très exprimé par l'embryon mais la diminution de son expression à la naissance suggère qu'il joue un rôle important au cours du développement embryonnaire. Cependant, les souris dont le gène du RAGE a été invalidé ne présentent aucune anomalie de développement, de fertilité ni de longévité. Les souris RAGE-KO ont malgré tout une hypersensibilité auditive et semblent plus agressives que les souris de phénotype sauvage.

Le RAGE a été initialement décrit comme récepteur aux produits de glycation avancée (AGE, *Advanced Glycation End-products*). L'interaction AGE-RAGE est un des mécanismes majeurs impliqués dans les complications vasculaires du diabète. Les globules rouges (GR) de patients diabétiques adhèrent à l'endothélium de manière augmentée par rapport aux GR de sujets sains. Cette adhérence, due à l'interaction des AGE membranaires du GR avec le RAGE endothélial, est suivie par l'induction d'un stress oxydant et l'activation du *Nuclear Factor kappa B* (NF-kB). L'adhérence et les voies de signalisation consécutives peuvent être bloquées par un

anticorps anti-RAGE. De plus, le RAGE est impliqué dans l'hyperperméabilité endothéliale au cours du diabète et dans la surexpression du *Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1* (VCAM-1). L'activation du RAGE endothélial contribue à l'apparition de la dysfonction endothéliale et de l'athérosclérose, mais le RAGE est également le chef d'orchestre d'une large réponse inflammatoire en raison de son expression par les cellules inflammatoires et de son grand répertoire de ligands. L'adhérence et la migration des leucocytes, étapes essentielles de la réponse inflammatoire et de l'athérosclérose, sont médiées par la liaison des intégrines avec des protéines membranaires. L'intégrine β2 lie le RAGE et potentialise la réponse inflammatoire induite par l'interaction entre le RAGE et la protéine S100B. L'activation du RAGE augmente l'activité du Facteur Tissulaire (FT) des macrophages et des cellules endothéliales via l'activation de la *Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide PHosphate* (NADPH) *oxidase*. La production d'espèces réactives de l'oxygène (ROS, Reactive Oxygen Species) est un évènement majeur des atteintes cardiovasculaires et le RAGE est un médiateur de ce stress. Le RAGE perturbe également l'équilibre redox en diminuant l'expression de la glyoxalase 1 (Glo1).

La surexpression du RAGE chez les souris diabétiques accélère les complications rénales alors que le blocage du RAGE diminue l'albuminurie et la glomérulosclérose. Au cours du diabète, l'activation du RAGE par les AGE participe à la perte des péricytes et au développement de la rétinopathie. En plus de ses effets endothéliaux directs, le RAGE contribue aux pathologies vasculaires en affectant l'hémostase puisqu'il augmente l'expression du FT et du *Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1* (PAI1). Les AGE et le peptide β-amyloïde (Aβ), ligands du RAGE, peuvent activer les plaquettes, processus bloqué par l'incubation avec du RAGE soluble (sRAGE).

Bien que très étudié pour son rôle au cours du diabète et de l'athérosclérose, le RAGE est impliqué dans d'autres pathologies telles que la maladie d'Alzheimer, le cancer ou le syndrome métabolique.

L'activation du RAGE par ces ligands induit une réponse inflammatoire et pro-oxydante. La production de ROS, l'activation des *Mitogen Activated Protein Kinases* (MAPK) et la translocation nucléaire du NFkB ont été décrits dans de nombreux types cellulaires en réponse

à l'activation du RAGE. Cette activation passe par l'oligomérisation du RAGE. Une étude de la structure du RAGE aux rayons X a mis en évidence que la région VC1, chargée positivement et capable de lier les ions Zn<sup>2+</sup>, participe à l'oligomérisation par les acides aminés His180, Glu182 et His158.

Le RAGE, liant une grande variété de ligands de structures différentes, est considéré comme un *Pattern Recognition Receptor* (PRR) capable d'interagir avec des structures tridimensionnelles plutôt que des séquences peptidiques spécifiques. Les différents ligands du RAGE se lient à des sites différents, suggérant diverses réponses cellulaires et la possibilité de liaison avec plusieurs ligands simultanément.

### Ligands du RAGE

Les AGE sont des modifications stables des protéines, des lipoprotéines et de l'ADN, initialement décrits comme les produits de la réaction de Maillard dite réaction de brunissement des sucres. La réaction de Maillard consiste en la modification non-enzymatique des groupes amines dans les protéines par un sucre. Des intermédiaires de la réaction de Maillard ou des produits secondaires de la glycolyse, très réactifs, peuvent également générer des AGE. L'interaction des AGE avec le RAGE est exclusivement localisée dans le domaine V du RAGE. Cette interaction est due aux charges négatives des AGE liant les charges positives du RAGE. Parmi les AGE, la N $\epsilon$ -carboxyméthyllysine (CML) a été particulièrement étudiée. La CML est l'AGE ayant la plus forte affinité pour le RAGE. L'interaction AGE-RAGE induit un stress oxydant par la NADPH oxydase, active NF- $\kappa$ B, induit la sécrétion de cytokines telles que l'interleukine-6 (IL6) ou le *Tumor Necrosis Factor-α* (TNF $\alpha$ ), et augmente l'expression des molécules d'adhérence et du *Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor* (VEGF).

La HMGB1, ou amphotérine C, est une protéine liant l'ADN. Elle participe à la réparation de l'ADN, sa réplication, sa recombinaison et sa transcription. La HMGB1 est activement sécrétée par les cellules immunocompétentes ou passivement par les cellules nécrotiques et apoptotiques. En liant le RAGE, la HMGB1 stimule la production d'IL6, d'*Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1* (ICAM-1) et de *Transforming Growth Factor*  $\beta$ 1 (TGF $\beta$ 1) et augmente la

perméabilité endothéliale. De plus, l'interaction HMGB1-RAGE stimule la prolifération des cellules tumorales pancréatiques, gastriques et gliales.

Les membres de la famille des S100/calgranulines sont des protéines de bas poids moléculaire possédant deux domaines *EF-hand*. Ils sont impliqués dans l'homéostasie calcique, la prolifération cellulaire et le métabolisme énergétique. Les protéines S100 lient différents domaines du RAGE et activent différentes voies de signalisation. Ainsi, les conséquences de l'activation par les protéines S100 vont de la différenciation neuronale, à l'apoptose, en passant par la sécrétion de cytokines inflammatoires.

Le clivage de la protéine précurseur de l'amyloïde (APP, *Amyloid Precursor Protein*) par la  $\beta$ -sécrétase génère le peptide  $\beta$ -amyloïde (A $\beta$ ) dont la taille varie entre 39 et 43 acides aminés. Les dépôts cérébraux d'A $\beta$  sont caractéristiques de la maladie d'Alzheimer. Bien que l'APP soit essentiellement étudié en raison de la formation d'A $\beta$ , son rôle physiologique a été en partie élucidé. L'APP intervient dans la formation et les fonctions des synapses, l'adhérence cellulaire et la maturation des neurones. L'A $\beta$ , sous la forme de fibrilles ou d'agrégats, est un ligand du RAGE. Le RAGE est impliqué dans le transport de l'A $\beta$  à travers la Barrière Hémato-Encéphalique (BHE). L'interaction A $\beta$ -RAGE induit un stress oxydant et peut entraîner l'apoptose des neurones.

En plus de ces ligands, d'autres molécules ont été identifiées comme ligands du RAGE, démontrant sa fonction de PRR dans la réponse inflammatoire et l'infection bactérienne. Ainsi, la *Heat Shock Protein-70* (HSP70), les *Secreted Protein Acidic and Rich in Cysteine* (SPARC), les composants du complément C1q and C3a, le Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), la phosphatidylsérine et les oligonucléotides CpG ont été identifiés comme ligands du RAGE.

### RAGE soluble

Des isoformes circulantes du RAGE, dont les domaines transmembranaire et intracellulaire sont tronqués, ont été identifiées. Ces isoformes, formées soit par épissage alternatif soit par clivage du RAGE, sont respectivement appelées *endogenous secretory* RAGE (esRAGE) et *cleaved* RAGE (cRAGE). Ces deux isoformes constituent le pool total de RAGE soluble (sRAGE)

circulant. Le sRAGE agit comme une protéine leurre pour les ligands du RAGE en bloquant l'activation du RAGE cellulaire. Le sRAGE est également capable de former des hétérodimères avec le RAGE membranaire.

Le sRAGE est dosé par technique ELISA dans de nombreuses pathologies afin d'évaluer son rôle biologique et son potentiel en tant que biomarqueur. Dans la majorité des pathologies dans lesquelles le sRAGE a été mesuré (diabète, insuffisance rénale, pathologies cardiovasculaires, maladie d'Alzheimer...), le RAGE est connu pour participer activement à leur développement. Le taux de sRAGE est ainsi interprété comme un reflet de l'expression du RAGE voire un mécanisme anti-RAGE. Les taux sanguins de sRAGE sont augmentés au cours de l'insuffisance rénale.

### Controverse

La qualité de sRAGE en tant que biomarqueur est discutée en raison des résultats controversés présents dans la littérature pour une même pathologie. Ainsi, dans le diabète de type 2, des taux élevés ou diminués de sRAGE sont trouvés associés aux complications vasculaires de la maladie. Il nous semble donc hasardeux aujourd'hui de proposer le sRAGE comme biomarqueur du risque vasculaire compte tenu de nombreux biais, comme par exemple la variabilité des paramètres d'inclusion et d'exclusion des patients selon les études. Les facteurs tels que le traitement médicamenteux, l'activité physique ou l'activité des protéases peuvent influencer les taux de sRAGE.

## **Objectifs**

Le sRAGE pouvant lier une grande diversité de ligands, leur effet sur le dosage du sRAGE demeure incertain. La présence d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE circulants a été décrite notamment au cours la maladie d'Alzheimer (avec ou sans diabète) et de la polyarthrite rhumatoïde, pathologies au cours desquelles le RAGE est surexprimé.

Les objectifs de notre travail étaient :

1/ d'évaluer les effets des ligands du sRAGE et des autoanticorps anti-sRAGE sur le dosage du sRAGE (ELISA) afin d'évaluer le rôle de ces ligands sur les variations des taux de sRAGE observées dans la littérature (1<sup>er</sup> article) et,

2/ d'évaluer dans la cohorte ABOS (Lille) si les taux de sRAGE et d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE sont modifiés au cours de l'obésité morbide et si leur taux diminue après chirurgie bariatrique (2<sup>e</sup> article).

## 1<sup>er</sup> article

Dans la première partie de cette thèse, les effets des ligands du sRAGE et des auto-anticorps anti-sRAGE sur le dosage du sRAGE ont été étudiés. Notre hypothèse ici était que leur liaison au sRAGE pouvait perturber le dosage par ELISA par un masquage d'épitope. Nous précisons que, dans la quasi-totalité des études publiées, le dosage du sRAGE est réalisé par technique ELISA à l'aide du Kit Quantikine<sup>®</sup> sRAGE humain commercialisé par la compagnie R&D Systems.

Nous avons incubé du sRAGE humain recombinant (625, 1250 and 2500 pg/ml) avec de la CML-HSA (10, 100 et 1000 μg/ml), de la S100A6 (10, 100 et 1000 ng/ml), de la S100A12 (10, 100 et 1000 ng/ml), de la S100B (10, 100 et 1000 ng/ml), de la HMGB1 (1, 10 et 100 ng/ml) ou de l'Aβ (1, 10 et 100 ng/ml) pendant une heure à température ambiante. L'incubation avec tous les ligands simultanément et à leur plus forte concentration a été réalisée. Les mêmes incubations ont également été réalisées avec du sérum de sujets sains. Les effets des autoanticorps anti-sRAGE ont été analysés après purification des IgG de patients hémodialysés ayant des taux élevés ou bas d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE. Ces IgG (0,1 ; 0,5 et 1mg/ml) ont été incubées avec le sRAGE recombinant ou du sérum pendant une heure. Après incubations avec les ligands du sRAGE ou les anticorps anti-sRAGE, les dosages de sRAGE ont été réalisés par le kit ELISA (Quantikine<sup>®</sup>).

Aucun des ligands du RAGE, quelque soit leur concentration, n'a perturbé le dosage du sRAGE recombinant ou sérique. L'incubation simultanée de tous les ligands n'a pas modifié le dosage

du sRAGE. De façon similaire, les anticorps anti-sRAGE (IgG purifiées) n'ont pas perturbé le dosage du sRAGE.

Nos résultats démontrent donc que les divergences des taux de sRAGE comme biomarqueur du risque vasculaire retrouvées dans la littérature ne sont pas liées à un biais de dosage mais très probablement à d'autres facteurs tels que les critères d'inclusion et les mécanismes de production et de clairance du sRAGE.

## 2<sup>e</sup> article

Nos premiers résultats nous ont amenés à mesurer les taux de sRAGE et d'autoanticorps antisRAGE dans une cohorte aux critères d'inclusion bien définis. Nous avons ainsi eu accès à la cohorte ABOS composée de patients atteints d'obésité morbide et soumis à une chirurgie bariatrique. Notre objectif initial était d'évaluer l'association entre les taux de sRAGE, les taux en autoanticorps anti-sRAGE et l'obésité morbide et ses paramètres cliniques. A partir des 750 patients initiaux, et afin d'exclure tout biais (connu à ce jour) pouvant influencer les taux de sRAGE, avons sélectionné les patients ayant filtration glomérulaire nous une >90mL/min/1,73m<sup>2</sup> (MDRD), ne recevant pas de traitements anti-hypertenseurs (inhibiteurs de l'enzyme de conversion, antagonistes du récepteur à l'angiotensine 2) ni de statines et étant non-fumeurs. Après cette sélection, 254 patients demeuraient parmi lesquels 150 ont été choisis afin de former 3 groupes en fonction de leur statut glycémique: normoglycémiques (n=50), intolérants au glucose (n=50) ou diabétiques (n=50). 46 sujets sains ont composé le groupe contrôle (donneurs de sang).

Les taux de sRAGE et d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE ont été mesurés chez les 150 patients juste avant chirurgie bariatrique et chez 46 sujets sains. La sélection des patients a été poursuivie selon la disponibilité du suivi à un an après la chirurgie bariatrique et selon le type de chirurgie. Seuls les patients ayant subi un *by-pass* gastrique ont été conservés. Les taux de sRAGE et d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE ont été mesurés un an après chirurgie et comparés aux changements métaboliques ou inflammatoires.

Le jour de la chirurgie, les patients atteints d'obésité morbide avaient des taux de sRAGE et d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE supérieurs aux sujets sains (1490±513 vs. 1141±458 pg/ml, p<0,0001 et 0,847±0,496 vs. 0,187±0,133 (absorbance à 405nm), p<0,0001, respectivement). Ni les taux de sRAGE, ni les taux d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE ne différaient entre les patients normoglycémiques, intolérants au glucose et diabétiques. Un an après la chirurgie, les taux de sRAGE et d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE ont significativement diminué. Les taux de sRAGE chez les patients obèses un an après chirurgie bariatrique ne différaient plus avec le groupe contrôle (1084±344 vs.1141±458 pg/ml) alors que les taux d'autoanticorps restaient supérieurs (0,663±0,460 vs. 0,187±0,133 (absorbance à 405nm), p<0,0001). La chirurgie bariatrique a induit une diminution de l'indice de masse corporelle (IMC) de 31,9% et a amélioré la pression sanguine, les taux de triglycérides, de glucose à jeun, d'insuline et d'hémoglobine glyquée. Cependant, aucun de ces paramètres n'étaient associés à la diminution des taux de sRAGE ou d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE. Une corrélation est démontrée entre la diminution des taux d'autoanticorps et l'augmentation des taux de HDL-cholestérol (r=0,23, p=0,02).

Bien que nos résultats ne permettent pas d'expliquer le lien entre l'obésité et les taux de sRAGE ou d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE, nous montrons que l'obésité morbide induit une augmentation des taux de ces deux molécules. Savoir si les taux élevés de sRAGE reflètent une surexpression du RAGE ou traduisent un mécanisme de protection reste à élucider. Néanmoins, l'obésité morbide active une auto-immunité dirigée contre le sRAGE. La corrélation entre les autoanticorps anti-sRAGE et le HDL-cholestérol indique que l'auto-immunité pourrait être liée au risque vasculaire. Des études futures devront être menées pour étudier le rôle physiopathologique des autoanticorps anti-sRAGE et comprendre la signification de leur taux dans les maladies humaines.

### Discussion

Ce travail de thèse présente deux articles.

Dans le premier article, notre hypothèse était que les ligands du RAGE, en raison de leur variabilité structurale et de l'hétérogénéité de leur site de liaison, pouvaient altérer le dosage du

sRAGE. Cette hypothèse, si elle était vraie, impliquerait que les taux de sRAGE dans la littérature refléteraient les taux de sRAGE libre (non complexé aux ligands). En incubant le sRAGE avec différentes concentrations de ligands, nous n'avons pas observé de variations de mesure du sRAGE. Dans un deuxième temps, la mise en évidence récente d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE nous a amené à tester leur effet sur le dosage du sRAGE (les autoanticorps pouvant posséder une affinité pour le RAGE supérieures à celle des ligands). Les autoanticorps anti-sRAGE purifiés n'ont pas modifié le dosage du sRAGE, comme montré dans la première partie de cette thèse.

Dans le deuxième article, nous nous sommes intéressés au sRAGE et aux autoanticorps antisRAGE dans la cohorte ABOS (Atlas biologique d'Obésité Sévère) qui inclue des patients éligibles pour une chirurgie bariatrique. Les nombreuses hypothèses concernant les variations des taux de sRAGE nous ont amenés à étudier les taux de sRAGE à partir d'une cohorte nous permettant d'éliminer les facteurs connus comme potentiellement capables de modifier les taux de sRAGE. Par conséquent, nous avons décidé d'étudier les taux de sRAGE et également des autoanticorps anti-sRAGE dans cette cohorte ABOS. Les taux de base (avant chirurgie) du sRAGE étaient plus élevés chez les patients obèses que dans le groupe contrôle. Nous n'avons pas observé de différence entre les patients normoglycemiques, intolérants au glucose et diabétiques. Un an après chirurgie bariatrique, les taux de sRAGE sont normalisés alors que les taux d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE ont significativement diminué mais restent positifs.

Des nombreuses publications ont étudié les taux de sRAGE au cours de différentes pathologies. Malgré les nombreux travaux ayant étudié sRAGE comme un biomarqueur notamment du risque vasculaire, les taux de sRAGE et leurs associations trouvés dans la littérature sont controversés. Les taux de sRAGE ont été associés chez l'homme aux taux d'AGE circulant, à l'insuffisance rénale et à l'utilisation de statines. Parmi ces facteurs, l'insuffisance rénale est la moins controversée (avec des taux de sRAGE plus élevés) et les taux de sRAGE les plus bas sont associés à une plus forte incidence de maladies cardiovasculaires. Il n'y a à ce jour pas d'explications sur la raison de l'augmentation des taux

de sRAGE chez les patients ayant une atteinte rénale. Cette augmentation pourrait être due à (i) une réponse coordonnée contre le stress oxydant et l'inflammation, (ii) une clairance altérée ou (iii) une conséquence d'une surexpression du RAGE dans les tissus lésés. De plus, d'autres paramètres tels que les polymorphismes ou l'ethnicité sont rarement pris en compte même s'ils sont connus pour influencer les taux de sRAGE. Il en est de même de la prescription des médicaments pouvant influencer les taux de sRAGE. Les inhibiteurs de l'enzyme de conversion, les antagonistes des récepteurs à l'angiotensine 2 et les statines, souvent prescrits chez les patients dits « vasculaires », font rarement partie des critères d'exclusion ou sont rarement référencés dans les études.

Par ailleurs, en plus de ces facteurs mentionnés ci-dessus, d'autres hypothèses pour expliquer la variation des niveaux de sRAGE pourraient être évoquées comme la nécrose cellulaire et la séquestration par les ligands du RAGE ou du RAGE lui-même. Dans le cas de la nécrose, le RAGE membranaire serait libéré, aussi bien que l'esRAGE intracellulaire. Il semble cependant peu probable qu'une nécrose (endothéliale) soit suffisamment importante pour être capable de modifier considérablement les taux systémiques de sRAGE. Dans le cas du sRAGE séquestré, on a montré que le sRAGE forme des dimères avec le RAGE de membrane, un mécanisme par lequel le sRAGE exercerait ses effets bénéfiques. Ici également, il faudrait une expression de RAGE membranaire suffisamment importante pour lier le sRAGE circulant afin d'en affecter ses taux.

Nos résultats concernant le sRAGE chez l'obèse sont contradictoires avec ceux obtenus dans deux autres études. Les taux de sRAGE étaient alors inversement corrélés à l'IMC et diminués chez les patients souffrant d'obésité morbide. De plus, les taux de sRAGE augmentaient deux ans après la chirurgie. Puisque toutes ces études ont utilisé la même technique de dosage du sRAGE, on peut supposer que les différences observées étaient donc dues aux critères d'inclusion et d'exclusion. La controverse entre ces études et la notre pourrait résider dans la régulation à long terme du sRAGE en parallèle avec la perte de poids et l'amélioration métabolique. La perte maximale de poids est observée deux ans après la chirurgie, quelque

soit le type de procédure, et l'amélioration de la résistance à l'insuline survient un an après la chirurgie.

Comme le sRAGE, les taux d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE étaient augmentés chez les patients obèses, quelque soit le statut glycémique. De plus, la chirurgie a réduit significativement ces taux, mêmes s'ils restaient supérieurs au groupe contrôle. Malgré l'absence de corrélation entre les taux d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE et l'IMC ou la perte de poids, nous avons observé une faible corrélation entre la diminution des taux d'autoanticorps et l'augmentation du HDL-cholestérol ( $r^2$ =0,077, p=0,02). Cette association ne présume pas d'une relation cause-conséquence entre ces deux paramètres, mais pourrait impliquer une association entre les taux d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE et le risque vasculaire chez les sujets obèses.

Les données biologiques disponibles pour notre étude ne nous permettent pas d'autres spéculations concernant le rôle des autoanticorps anti-sRAGE au cours de l'obésité morbide. Il est possible d'émettre l'hypothèse que le RAGE est surexprimé dans les cellules endothéliales et les adipocytes, sans faire la preuve du rôle de ces types cellulaires dans l'augmentation des taux de sRAGE et d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE. D'autres marqueurs de dysfonction endothéliale tels que VCAM-1 soluble, l'endothéline et les cytokines inflammatoires (IL1, IL6, IL8) pourraient être dosés afin de mieux comprendre le rôle de l'autoimmunité dirigée contre le sRAGE. Les modèles d'obésité chez la souris invalidée pour le RAGE permettraient d'élucider en partie ces questions.

Dans les études précédentes, les autoanticorps anti-sRAGE ont été mesurés seulement dans la polyarthrite rhumatoïde (PR) et chez les patients atteints de maladie d'Alzheimer (AD), avec dans les deux cas une augmentation par rapport aux groupes contrôles. Chez les patients atteints de PR, les autoanticorps anti-sRAGE ont été observés dans le sérum et également dans le liquide synovial : des niveaux plus élevés d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE dans le liquide synovial étaient associés à des formes moins érosives de la maladie. Au cours de la maladie d'Alzheimer, le taux des autoanticorps anti-sRAGE sont associés au niveau de démence. Un rôle protecteur des autoanticorps anti-sRAGE a été évoqué avec le développement d'un vaccin composé d'un complexe sRAGE/Aß, qui augmente la production d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE.

Les autoanticorps anti-sRAGE vaccin-induits accroissent la viabilité neuronale après exposition à l'Aβ et améliorent les fonctions cognitives chez la souris. Concernant l'auto-immunité chez l'obèse, d'autres études ont démontré l'apparition d'une auto-immunité anti-thyroïde, antisperme et anti-cellules β pancréatiques chez les sujets obèses. Néanmoins, la pertinence biologique et clinique de l'auto-immunité liée à l'obésité peut être sous-estimée puisque l'amélioration de la maladie est évaluée par la perte de poids et les changements métaboliques. En effet, des anticorps contre la thyroglobuline, l'hormone stimulant de la thyroïde et l'ADAMTS13 sont augmentés chez les sujets obèses. Cependant, à notre connaissance, il n'y a aucune étude analysant l'incidence des autoanticorps avant et après la chirurgie bariatrique. Nos résultats sont, ainsi, les premiers à montrer une diminution de l'auto-immunité liée à la perte de poids, en dépit du manque de corrélation directe entre les autoanticorps et le BMI ou la perte de poids.

### Limitations

Au cours de nos travaux, nous avons mesuré les taux de sRAGE par une technique ELISA qui quantifie aussi bien l'esRAGE que le cRAGE (sRAGE total). En ce qui concerne les sites d'interaction, l'esRAGE et le cRAGE partagent les mêmes domaines de liaison aux ligands et à ce jour, aucun ligand ne semble être en mesure d'interagir avec la séquence spécifique de l'esRAGE. Bien que nos résultats rejettent l'hypothèse initiale (masquage des épitopes par les ligands), la méthodologie testée dans notre étude (ELISA) reste simple pour élucider la question. Une autre limite de notre étude est qu'elle ne fournit pas d'informations supplémentaires quant aux effets des ligands et des autoanticorps anti-sRAGE sur les taux de sRAGE. En effet, ils pourraient augmenter ou diminuer la production ou la clairance de l'esRAGE ou du cRAGE.

Dans la deuxième partie de la thèse, bien que nous ayons choisi notre population d'étude afin éviter les facteurs qui pourraient influencer les taux de sRAGE (c.-à-d. insuffisance rénale, tabagisme, hypertension et médicaments), nous n'avons aucune donnée au sujet de la fréquence des polymorphismes du RAGE parmi les patients. Par ailleurs, nous n'avons pas

étudié l'activité les enzymes responsables pour la formation du cRAGE (ADAM10, MMP-3, MMP-9 et MMP-13) ce qui pourrait fournir des informations utiles concernant les mécanismes régulant la formation de sRAGE. Cependant, une telle recherche exigerait un grand criblage pour évaluer les activités de ces enzymes dans différents tissus. Des approches semblables devraient être encouragées dans d'autres pathologies afin d'élucider les spécificités de chaque pathologie. De plus, nous avons seulement un suivi à un an. L'évolution des taux de sRAGE et des autoanticorps anti-sRAGE devrait être étudiée à plus long terme afin d'analyser leur corrélation avec les changements métaboliques et inflammatoires qui suivent la chirurgie bariatrique.

### Conclusions

Nous avons démontré au cours de ce travail que la présence des ligands du RAGE et les autoanticorps anti-sRAGE ne perturbe pas le dosage du sRAGE, suggérant que les variations observées dans les publications ne sont pas liées à une mauvaise fiabilité du dosage. Ces variations dans la littérature pourraient être dues à des différences d'inclusion et d'exclusion des patients et des connaissances limitées des facteurs influençant les taux de sRAGE. Nous avons aussi démontré que les patients atteints d'obésité morbide ont des taux élevés de sRAGE et d'autoanticorps anti-sRAGE. Dans la cohorte de patients obèses, les taux de ces molécules diminuaient un an après la chirurgie bariatrique. La diminution des autoanticorps anti-sRAGE était corrélée avec l'augmentation du HDL-cholestérol. Ces découvertes montrent une réaction auto-immune dirigée contre le sRAGE au cours de l'obésité et suggèreraient que cette auto-immunité est associée au risque vasculaire.

# **Chapter One**

# **RAGE** and its soluble forms in human diseases

Inflammatory processes favor the formation of modified proteins and lipids, as wells as the release of cytokines, which may interact with the receptor of advanced glycation end-products, RAGE. These interactions take part in deleterious processes that link inflammatory bursts and metabolic disorders to organ dysfunction. Therefore, the regulation of these mechanisms and counteracting molecules represent key therapeutic targets. The biological aspects of RAGE, its binding molecules and soluble forms are discussed in chapter one.

## 1.1 The Receptor of Advanced Glycation End-products

The RAGE is a transmembrane protein, member of the immunoglobulin (Ig) superfamily of receptors [1]. The extracellular portion is constituted of 3 Ig-like domains: 1 variable (V) and 2 constant (C1 and C2). These domains are followed by a single transmembrane domain and a short cytoplasmic tail [2]. The RAGE gene is localized in the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class III locus of chromosome 6p21.3 [3]. The MHC is a group of genes involved in the immune response and graft rejection. The class III locus encodes cytokines like the tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), heat shock proteins (HSPs) and components of the complement [4]. RAGE is expressed constitutively in several human cells like smooth muscle, endothelial, mesangial, hepatic and neuronal cells. In the circulation, RAGE is found in macrophages, neutrophils and platelets [5-7]. Among tissues, RAGE is most abundant in the lungs, skeletal muscle and heart [7].

## 1.1.1 Pathophysiological roles of RAGE

RAGE was first described as a binding protein for advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) and AGE/RAGE interaction is one of the major mechanisms that contribute to diabetes complications. Erythrocytes from diabetic patients present higher adhesion to endothelial cells than those from healthy subjects and this adhesion is associated with vascular complications [8]. Wautier *et al.* demonstrated that this adhesion increases oxidative stress and activates nuclear factor kappa B (Nf-κB). Both adhesion and further responses are prevented by anti-RAGE antibody [9]. Moreover, RAGE mediates diabetes-associated vascular hyperpermeability [10] and the expression of vascular adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) [11].

RAGE activation in endothelial cells, especially by AGEs, contributes to the development of endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis, but RAGE orchestrates a more extensive inflammatory response due to its presence in inflammatory cells and its large ligand repertoire. The adhesion and migration of leukocytes, a major step in vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis, depends on the interaction between integrins and specific cell-surface proteins. The  $\beta$ 2-integrin Mac-1 binds RAGE and enhances the proinflammatory responses that follow RAGE/S100B interaction [12]. In endothelial cells and macrophages, AGEs bind RAGE and increase tissue factor activity. In macrophages this higher activity requires activation of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase [13]. Generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) is a major culprit in cardiovascular complications [14] and RAGE is a key mediator of ROS production. Its activation by AGEs increases cytosolic and mitochondrial ROS production [15], as well as the expression of heme-oxigenase [16]. RAGE also compromises the cellular redox state by downregulating glyoxalase 1 (Glo1) [17], a key enzyme that participates in methylglyoxal detoxification, recycling the major cellular antioxidant, glutathione [18].

RAGE overexpression in diabetic mice accelerates renal impairment [19] while RAGE blockade decreases albuminuria and glomerulosclerosis [20]. RAGE is further implicated in diabetic nephropathy because it is overexpressed in uremic patients and its activation by AGEs, found in peritoneal dialysis fluid, increases the expression of VEGF and VCAM-1 [21-23]. RAGE mediates AGE-toxicity to pericytes, contributing to pericyte loss and the development of retinopathy [24, 25]. Besides vascular damage and dysfunction, RAGE contributes to CVDs by affecting hemostasis. Its activation induces an increase in tissue factor activity and the expression of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in endothelial cells [13, 26]. A study showed that amyloid  $\beta$  (A $\beta$ ) and AGEs, both RAGE ligands, activate platelets in a process that is inhibited by a soluble form of RAGE (sRAGE) [27]. Nonetheless, the specific participation of RAGE remains to be elucidated, since AGEs and A $\beta$  interact with other receptors.

Ramasamy *et al.* proposed RAGE activation in diabetes as a self-perpetuating axis, where AGE-RAGE engagement triggers inflammation and expression of adhesion molecules. The subsequent recruitment and activation of immune cells increases other RAGE ligands that perpetuate the cycle and lead to vascular perturbation (Figure 1) [28].

Chapter One – RAGE and its soluble forms in human diseases



**Figure 1. RAGE mediates a perpetual axis of inflammation.** First engagement of RAGE by AGEs induces inflammation and recruitment of immune cells. Other RAGE ligands are produced and increase inflammation. MG, methylglyoxal; Glo1, glyoxalase 1; VCAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1; MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1; HMGB1, high-mobility group box protein-1; Mac-1, macrophage-1 antigen [28].

The pathological role of RAGE was further evidenced by its overexpression in the course of many different diseases. This feature was observed in podocytes [29] and vasa vasorum [30] of diabetic patients. In animal models of the same disease, RAGE was found increased in bones [31], kidney [32] and endothelium [33]. Moreover, RAGE is overexpressed in atherosclerotic plaques of diabetic patients, coinciding with activated Nf-KB and ciclooxygenase-2 [34]. RAGE is, with no doubt, a key mediator of diabetesassociated chronic inflammation.

Although RAGE has been most studied for its role in diabetes complications and atherosclerosis, several studies implicate RAGE in other diseases. RAGE mediates the transport of the amyloid beta peptide (A $\beta$ ) across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) [35] and

disrupts BBB's thigh junctions [36]. Moreover, Aβ/RAGE engagement in brain endothelial cells increase monocyte adhesion and migration [37]. RAGE is normally expressed in brain endothelial cells, microglia and neurons [38, 39] but it is found overexpressed in neurons and astrocytes of Alzheimer's disease (AD) patients [40].

Carcinogenesis and tumor proliferation may be mediated by RAGE according to the stimuli and cell type. RAGE ligands like S100 proteins and HMGB1 are often overexpressed in tumors and cancer's increased glucose metabolism favors the generation of AGEs. HMGB1 expression is also associated with tumor invasion and metastasis, being co-expressed with RAGE in pancreatic, prostate and colon cancer [41]. S100A6 is overexpressed in breast cancer and colorectal carcinoma, while S100B is overexpressed in melanoma [41]. Also in melanoma, AGE/RAGE interaction induces proliferation and invasion *in vitro* while anti-RAGE therapy improves survival and reduces metastasis *in vivo* [42]. Blockade of RAGE with sRAGE or by genetic deletion reduces the incidence of hepatic tumor in mice [43, 44], while inhibition of RAGE activation decreases cell proliferation and invasion in fibrosarcoma and breast cancer cell lines [45, 46].

RAGE is also believed to play a critical role in metabolic syndrome by mediating adipocyte hypertrophy and insulin resistance [47]. The AGE/RAGE axis activates c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) [48] which plays a crucial role in obesity and insulin resistance by phosphorylating IRS-1 and thus, preventing insulin downstream events [49]. In addition, it was observed that RAGE -/- mice fed an atherogenic diet develop less atherosclerotic plaques and present an attenuated increase of body fat [50].

A lot of evidence comes from studies that apply RAGE knockout (-/-) mice in disease models, corroborating a role for RAGE in the development of sustained inflammation. Table 1 summarizes the effects of RAGE deletion in some disease models.

Model	References	Findings
Diabetes	[51-53]	RAGE mediates loss of pain perception, activation of NF-κB, atherosclerosis development and pancreatic β cells apoptosis.
Pulmonary fibrosis	[54-56]	Controversial results showing protection and worsening associated with RAGE knockout, although they use 2 different models of fibrosis.
Glomerulosclerosis	[57]	Albuminuria and tubule formation in antibiotic- induced glomerulosclerosis are mediated by RAGE
Sepsis	[58-61]	In the cecal ligation and puncture model, RAGE knockout mice present improved survival and decreased inflammatory cell recruitment. In <i>Escherichia coli</i> infection, RAGE has beneficial effects, reducing bacterial dissemination.

## Table 1. Experimental models using RAGE - /- mice.

The physiological roles of RAGE are still unclear. The constitutive expression in embryonic development and its postnatal downregulation suggest a role for RAGE signaling in development, although mice that do not express RAGE show no developmental or fertility disturbances [7, 62]. Nonetheless, RAGE knockout mice present hyperactivity and higher sensitivity to auditory stimuli than wild-type animals [63]. It is believed that RAGE plays a role in lung homeostasis because of its high expression in that tissue, although the precise importance mechanisms mediated by RAGE in the lung are unknown. RAGE is also important for neuronal development. The interaction between RAGE and amphoterin induces neuronal differentiation and neurite outgrowth [64, 65]. However, there is no evidence of lung or brain malformation in RAGE knockout mice.

As a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily, RAGE has a putative role in the immune response. Indeed, it participates in the macrophage uptake of apoptotic cells, by

interaction with phosphatidylserine (PS) [66]; and immune response through activation by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [61]. Moreover, RAGE binds the C3a and C1q members of the complement, further implicating RAGE in the immune system [67, 68]. Again, there is no strong evidence showing that the absence of RAGE is immuno-compromising.

As reviewed by Sorci and colleagues, the role of RAGE in chronic inflammation and epithelial cancer is undisputed but there is growing evidence supporting physiological roles for RAGE in a cell-specific fashion [62]. Besides cell-specificity, the concentration of ligands seems to be crucial in determining the downstream pathways that follow RAGE activation. In neuroblastoma cells, low doses of S100B protect against RAGE-mediated amyloid beta toxicity, while higher doses enhance the deleterious effects [69].

While largely accepted as a propagator of inflammation, recent evidence points to an acute anti-inflammatory action of RAGE. In a murine model of tuberculosis, RAGE knockout mice present higher lung inflammation and enhanced mortality [70]. In *Escherichia coli* sepsis, RAGE attenuates inflammatory and pro-coagulant responses [58]. In *Aspergillus fumigates* infection, Toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 activation results in the release of S100B, which paracrinally interacts with RAGE, leading to TLR-2 inhibition and restraint of fungus-induced inflammation [71]. Noteworthy, the anti-inflammatory effect occurs at nanomolar concentrations of S100B. Higher doses enhance inflammation in a RAGE-dependent manner, underscoring the importance of ligand concentration on RAGE biological effects [71]. Interestingly, RAGE is detrimental in pneumococcal and influenza A pneumonia [72, 73], suggesting different roles of RAGE in pathogen-induced inflammation, perhaps depending on the identity and/or concentration of RAGE ligands, the intervening leukocyte population and the amount of expressed RAGE [62].

A role for RAGE in tissue repair has also become evident. Particularly, muscle satellite cells rely on RAGE for their homeostasis. After acute injury, muscle satellite cells have an increase in RAGE expression and its activation by HMGB1 and S100B mediates muscle

regeneration [74, 75]. Secondly, muscle regeneration of RAGE knockout mice was delayed in comparison to wild type animals [74]. It seems however that in the absence of RAGE (knockout mice) other molecules mediate these beneficial effects credited to RAGE [62].

### 1.2 RAGE downstream signaling

Engagement of RAGE by its ligands is often reported as proinflammatory and prooxidative. Increased formation of ROS [15, 76] and activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling cascades, culminating in the translocation of the transcription factor nuclear factor kappa-B (NF-KB) [11, 77, 78] have been documented in different cell types after RAGE activation. RAGE has two putative N-glycosylation sites [2] and the binding of N-glycans to RAGE increases affinity for AGEs [79] and HMGB1 [80]. Furthermore, evidence shows that RAGE is subject to oligomerization in the cell membrane, a process that would be mandatory for RAGE signaling. It was first proposed that RAGE assembly was mediated by the C1-domain [81] but it was later demonstrated by X-ray crystal structure that the VC1 region participates in RAGE oligomerization through His180, Glu182 and His158, with several charged residues and hydrogen bonds with a Zn<sup>2+</sup> ion at the interface [82]. Later, Xu and colleagues showed that for RAGE oligomerization to occur, heparan sulfate is needed, corroborating their previous study showing that the proteoglycan is mandatory for HMGB1/RAGE signaling [83, 84]. These studies, together with the one from Park et al.[85] elucidated the basis of ligand-binding to RAGE, showing that it occurs mainly by the interaction of positive patches on the receptor surface with negatively charged ligands.

RAGE lacks tyrosine kinase activity in its cytoplasmic tail, presupposing the need of adaptor proteins. Indeed, the cytoplasmic portion of RAGE was found associated to Diaphanous-1 (Dia-1) and mediates RAGE/ligand-induced cell migration [86]. Dia-1 is a

formin that regulates endocytosis and modulates the cytoskeleton [87]. By interacting with RAGE, Dia-1 promotes activation of Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate-1 (Rac-1) which in turn activates NADPH oxidase [88]. NADPH oxidase activation has been described as a key step in RAGE signaling [13, 33, 89] (Figure 2A). The recruitment of the sarcoma family of proteins (Src) is necessary for tyrosine kinase activity and downstream signaling [90].

Sakaguchi and colleagues observed that RAGE is phosphorylated at serine 391 by protein kinase  $C_{\zeta}$  after ligand-binding, in a kidney cell line and primary endothelial cells. Phosphorylation at Ser391 promotes the binding of the myeloid differentiation primary response gene (88) (MyD88) and toll-interleukin 1 receptor domain containing adaptor protein (TIRAP) to the intracellular domain of RAGE and activates p38, JNK, kappa factor inhibitor kinase (IKK) and NF- $\kappa$ B [91] (Figure 2B).

Downstream signaling to RAGE was recently reviewed by Xie and colleagues [92]. The RAGE panorama is a complex network of pathways that may or may not cross-talk, in a cell-specific manner. As presented by the authors, the outcome of RAGE activation may vary among inflammation, apoptosis, autophagy, proliferation, cell mobility and microtubule stabilization [92]. The proinflammatory response of RAGE depends on different MAPK pathways, according to cell type and ligand.

The idea of RAGE-mediated perpetual inflammation is evidenced by the positive feedback on its expression [93]. However, the regulation of RAGE expression seems to be cell and stimuli-specific. In A549 lung cancer cells, retinol-induced oxidative stress activates Nf-  $\kappa$ B through p38 MAPK, leading RAGE downregulation [94].

In 2013, RAGE was found in the mitochondria of pancreatic tumor cells, mediating the increase in mitochondrial function elicited by HMGB1 [95]. In this study, RAGE phosphorylation at serine 377 was mandatory for RAGE mitochondrial location. Since RAGE activation is associated with tumor growth and increased ROS production, one

might infer that other RAGE ligands may regulate the presence of RAGE in the mitochondria and intracellular RAGE-ligand interaction should have a great impact on cell biology. It remains, nevertheless, to be further investigated.



**Figure 2. RAGE signaling pathways.** In the cytosol, RAGE may be associated with Dia-1, TIRAP or MyD88, which will mediate downstream events that usually translocate NF-κB to the nucleus. TIRAP, toll-interleukin 1 receptor domain containing adaptor protein; Rac-1, Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate-1; Dia-1, diaphanous-1; Akt, protein kinase B; PI3K, phosphatidylinositide 3-kinase; IKK, kappa factor inhibitor kinase; IRAK4, interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase 4. Adapted from Fritz *et al.* [96]
# 1.3 RAGE ligands

RAGE binds a variety of ligands that are very different structurally. It has been proposed then that RAGE is a pattern-recognition receptor (PRR) that interacts with threedimensional structures rather than specific amino acid sequences [97]. Interestingly, different ligands bind RAGE at different sites [98] (Figure 3), suggesting a diversity of cellular responses and the possibility of simultaneous binding.



Figure 3. Different RAGE ligands bind RAGE at different sites [98].

### 1.3.1 Advanced Glycation End-products

Chronic hyperglycemia, a key characteristic of diabetes, is the root cause of diabetesassociated complications (i.e. vasculopathy, nephropathy and neuropathy). Glucose exerts its toxicity through 4 major pathways: the polyol pathway, the hexosamine pathway, the protein kinase C (PKC) pathway and the advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) pathway (Figure 4) [99]. As reviewed by Brownlee, these pathway share the formation of the superoxide anion radical as common link, which inhibits glycolysis and leads to an accumulation of its intermediates and glucose itself [99]. The influx of glucose through the polyol pathway increases the activity aldose reductase and further decreases the cytosolic pool of NADPH. The reduction of oxidized to reduced glutathione needs NADPH as a cofactor and a decrease in this reaction depletes cells of their major antioxidant [100]. The hexosamine pathway is another diversion pathway from glycolysis where fructose-6converted to glucosamine-6-phosphate, phosphate is which forms UDP-Nacetylglycosamine. N-acetylglycosamine itself may modify proteins such as the endothelial nitric oxide synthase [101]. Hyperglycemia increases diacylglycerol content, which furthers activate the PKC pathway. PKC  $\beta$  and  $\delta$  isoforms induce the expression of growth factors, activate Nf- $\kappa$ B and decrease nitric oxide synthase activity [99].

AGEs are stable structural modifications in molecules, first described as the nonenzymatic browning or Maillard reaction [102]. The fundament of the Maillard reaction is the non-enzymatic modification of amino groups of proteins and peptides by sugars. In the reaction, the carbonyl group of a reducing sugar forms a Schiff base (group with a carbonnitrogen double bond, with the latter bound to an alkyl or aryl group) with an amino structure of the biomolecules. The base may undergo further rearrangements to form an Amadori product. The Amadori structure undergoes irreversible cycles of condensations, dehydrations and oxidations to form AGEs [103]. Some AGEs are fluorescent and brown in color. Moreover, intermediates of the glycation reaction and glycolysis may generate reactive molecules that engage further reactions and AGEs formation. Glucose may

oxidize in the presence of transition metals, generating glyoxal and arabinose, while Amadori products decompose to form 3-deoxyglucosone [104]. Methylglyoxal, one of the most relevant glycation agents *in vivo*, derives from triose phosphates [105]. Glycolaldehyde, another reactive dicarbonyl, is also formed through the oxidation of serine by myeloperoxidase [106]. Figure 5 presents a general mechanism of AGE formation.



Figure 4. Mechanisms of glucose toxicity [99].



Figure 5. The Maillard reaction and byproducts. The spontaneous reaction between sugars and amino groups forms a Schiff base that undergoes rearrangements to originate an Amadori products

AGEs are more frequently found in proteins with longer half-life and may form intra and intermolecular cross-links, impairing protein function and tissue structure. Superoxide dismutase, an antioxidant enzyme, has its activity impaired by glycation [107, 108]. When glycated, human albumin has a decreased drug-binding capacity [109]. Increased collagen glycation is observed with aging and at accelerated rates in diabetes [110, 111]. Collagen is a major component of the arterial wall and its glycation has substantial consequences to vascular dysfunction and atherosclerosis. Overwhelming evidence demonstrates that collagen glycation, especially by cross-link formation, leads to a more fibrous and less soluble and flexible protein, which contributes to arterial stiffening [112-115]. Moreover, endothelial cells cultured over glycated collagen present premature senescence associated with decreased NO synthesis [116].

The rate and extent of glycation is directly influenced by the temperature, sugar concentration and time of exposure [117-120]. Physiologically, hyperglycemia, the turnover of glycation substrates and the redox nature of the microenvironment are critical to the formation of AGEs [93]. Since ROS participate in the reaction, AGEs are sometimes named advanced glycoxydation end-products [121, 122]. "AGEs" is a general denomination for different molecular structures. The particular molecular formula of each AGE depends on the reacting aldehyde, the target amino acid and the redox status. For example, glucose might generate different AGE structures [109]. In addition, AGEs differ structurally concerning the formation of cross-links, which may be intra or intermolecular. Methylglyoxal-lysine dimer (MOLD), methylglyoxal-derived imidazolium cross-link (MODIC), 3-deoxyalucosone-derived imidazolium cross-link (DOGDIC), 3deoxyglucosone-lysine dimer (DOLD), glucosepane, pentosidine, glyoxal-lysine amide (GOLA), glyoxal-lysine dimer (GOLD) and glyoxal-derived imidazolium cross-link (GODIC) are cross-link AGEs. On the other hand, carboxyethyllysine (CEL), carboxymethyllysine (CML), methylglyoxal-hydroimidazolone, tetrahydropyrimidine, argpyrimidine, glycolic

acid-lysine amide (GALA) and glyoxal-hydroimidazolone do not form cross-links. Figure 6 depicts the chemical structures of some AGEs.

Besides endogenous formation of AGEs, humans are exposed to exogenous sources of AGEs. Potential glycation agents were found in tobacco smoke and smokers have higher levels of serum AGEs compared to non-smokers [123]. In addition, through high temperature processing, foods commonly present in the western style diet contribute to the daily exposure to AGEs [124-126]. The amount of AGEs in foods depends on cooking temperature, moisture and cooking time. In mice, AGE-rich diet induces insulin resistance [127] and liver inflammation [128].

As reviewed by Wautier and Schmidt [104], AGEs participate in diabetes-associated retinopathy and nephropathy. In vitro, AGEs induce oxidative stress and apoptosis in bovine retinal pericytes [129, 130] and are found accumulated in diabetic retinal vasculature [131]. The reactive glycolaldehyde induces renal oxidative damage *in vivo* [132] and diabetic rats with nephropathy show AGE deposits in the mesangial area and glomerular basement membrane [133].

Interaction between RAGE and AGEs occur exclusively at the V domain [81]. This interaction is due to the negative charge of AGEs that bind to the positively charged structure of RAGE. Moreover, N-glycosylation of RAGE and the G82S polymorphism are known increase AGE-RAGE affinity [79]. It was observed that RAGE oligomerization, which happens through VC1 domain [82], also increases AGE-binding affinity [81]. Among the different AGEs, the most studied is Nɛ-carboxymethyllysine (CML), which has the greater RAGE-binding affinity [134]. The AGE/RAGE axis is known to increase ROS production via NADPH oxidase, activate NF- $\kappa$ B and induce the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, i.e. IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  [135, 136], increase the expression of adhesion molecules [11] and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [21]. These responses, associated to the upregulation of RAGE, are deeply implied in endothelial dysfunction.

The accumulation of AGEs in tissue and in circulation was observed in the course of ageing [137-139] and at higher rates in diabetes [140-142] and other inflammatory conditions such as Alzheimer's disease [143] and rheumatoid arthritis [144]. Serum levels of CML are associated with increased cardiovascular risk [145-147]. Moreover, AGEs deposits are observe atherosclerotic lesions [148, 149] and amyloid deposits from dialysis patients [150].



**Figure 4. Different reactive molecules generate different AGEs.** AGEs are heterogeneous regarding their structure and presence of cross-link (B) [151]. MOLD, methylglyoxal-lysine dimer; DOLD, 3-deoxyglucosone-lysine dimer; GOLD, glyoxal-lysine dimer; CEL, carboxyethyllysine; CML, carboxymethyllysine; MG-H, methylglyoxal-hydroimidazolone; G-H, glyoxal-hydroimidazolone; 3DG-H, 3-deoxyglucosone-hydroimidazolone.

## 1.3.2 Amphoterin (HMGB1)

High-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), or amphoterin, is a DNA-binding protein. It participates in DNA reparation, replication, recombination and transcription [152]. HMGB1 may actively secreted by immunocompetent cells or passively, by necrotic and apoptotic cells. It has been show that HMGB1 exerts stronger pro-inflammatory effects when released from necrosis, compared to apoptosis [153, 154].

Besides RAGE [64], HMGB1 binds to toll-like receptors (TLR) 2 and 4 [155]. Amphoterin has a great affinity for RAGE and its binding activity is associated to high molecular weight complexes [156]. By interacting with RAGE, HMGB1 induces IL-6, ICAM-1, TGF-β1 and permeability in human umbilical vein endothelial cells [157, 158]. In pancreatic [95], gastric [159] and glioma [160] tumor cells, HMGB1/RAGE axis promotes growth.

Increased serum levels of HMGB1 are associated with inflammation. In septic patients, it is related to mortality [161], while in both non-diabetic and type 2 diabetic subjects, higher levels of amphoterin are associated with coronary artery disease [162]. Arrigo and colleagues proposed HMGB1 as biomarker of metabolic syndrome since it was increased in obese individuals and associated with insulin resistance and lower levels of adiponectin [163]. In healthy subjects, HMGB1 levels are directly associated with white blood cell count but inversely correlated with sRAGE levels, suggesting a role of sRAGE for HMGB1 clearance [164].

## 1.3.3 S100 proteins

The members of the S100/calgranulin family are low molecular weight (~11KDa) calciumbinding proteins that possess two helix-loop-helix domains (EF-hand). They are particularly implied in calcium homeostasis, although they play an important role in cell growth and energy metabolism [98, 165]. Today, there are 21 S100 proteins described and for some of them, the biological role is still unclear. Except for calbindin  $D_{9K}$ , all calgranulins are present intracellularly as homodimers. As intracellular dimers, S100 proteins interact with target proteins and regulate mainly the cytoskeleton (microtubules organization and interaction of keratin intermediate filaments) but also regulate enzyme functions (activation of guanilate cyclase and fructose-1,6-biphosphate aldolase, inhibition of glycogen phosphorylase and phospholipase A<sub>2</sub>) [165]. As secreted proteins, they exert different actions depending on the target cell and S100 member.

Members of the S100 family bind RAGE differently and activate different downstream pathways. For example, while S100B and S100A12 [98, 166] bind to the VC1 domain, S100A6 has a much higher affinity for the C2 domain [167]. To date, S100A1 [168], S100A2 [98], S100A4 [169], S100A5 [98], S100A6 [167], S100A7 [170], S100A8/A9 [171], S100A11 [172], S100A12 [173], S100A13 [174], S100B [173] and S100P [175] are known to bind RAGE. The activation of NF-κB is observed when RAGE is engaged by S100B, S100A12 and S100A1 [168, 173]. The outcome of this activation varies from neuronal differentiation, apoptosis, and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines [165].

S100 proteins are normally increased on inflammatory conditions. Rheumatoid arthritis patients have higher levels of S100A8, S100A9 and S100A12 compared to healthy subjects [176], and so do obese subjects for S100B [177], S100A8 and S100A9 levels [178]. The biology of calgranulins has been particularly studied in tumors and they are indeed increased in the occurrence of cancer [179, 180].

#### **1.3.4** Amyloid beta peptide (Aβ)

The cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) by a  $\beta$ -secretase gives origin to the short amyloid beta peptide (A $\beta$ ) [181]. Its length usually varies from 39 to 43 amino acids. A $\beta$  is the major component of amyloid deposits in AD patients [182, 183]. Although APP is

studied mainly because of A $\beta$  formation, some of its physiological roles have been elucidated. Synapse formation and function [184], cell adhesion [185] and neuronal maturation [186] are attributed, in part, to APP.

A $\beta$  binds RAGE in the form of fibrils and aggregates and both induce apoptosis in neuronal cells [187]. RAGE/A $\beta$  interaction also elicits oxidative stress [188] and the receptor is responsible for the transport of A $\beta$  through the blood-brain barrier [38]. In AD patients, serum A $\beta$  is increased and correlated with serum creatinine [189] and is suspected to be associated with increased cardiovascular risk factors [190].

#### 1.3.5 Other RAGE ligands

Besides the aforementioned ligands, other molecules have been studied, to a lesser extent, by their capacity to bind RAGE. The diverse repertoire of RAGE ligands corroborates its role as a PRR implicated in host response to injury, inflammation and infection. Not only AGE-modified proteins but also hypochlorite-oxidized albumin interacts with RAGE and induces expression of MCP-1 [191].

The role of RAGE in the immune response was further evidenced by the discovery of its interaction with phosphatidylserine [66] and C1q complement component [67], participating in the recognition and elimination of apoptotic cells. LPS, increasing levels of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, HMGB1 and endothelin [61]. In addition, serum Amyloid A (SAA), an acute phase protein that is upregulated in tumors and rheumatoid arthritis, binds RAGE and further activate NF- $\kappa$ B in fibroblasts [192] and induces tissue factor expression in monocytes [193].

Using an ELISA to screen RAGE ligands, Ruan *et al.* [68] increased the repertoire of RAGE binding molecules. Heat-shock protein 70 (HSP70), secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine (SPARC), C3a complement component and CpG oligonucleotides. RAGE

engagement by C3a and double-strand DNA induces production of interferon alpha (IFNα) by peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) [68]. The fusion protein of the human respiratory syncytial virus was, very recently, found to bind RAGE. Nonetheless, RAGE seems to prevent the virus entry mediated by the fusion protein [194].

As novel RAGE ligands are described, a role for RAGE in inflammation becomes more obvious, although the specific mechanisms mediated by these interactions remain unclear, they place RAGE in a complex network that overlaps physiological and pathological pathways.

#### **1.4 Soluble RAGE**

In 1999, analysis of complementary DNA (cDNA) revealed a RAGE clone encoding only the soluble extracellular portion of the receptor [195]. Although a synthetic form of soluble RAGE (sRAGE) was already applied to identify and prevent RAGE-dependent responses [10, 196] this was the first evidence of a potentially secreted form of RAGE. Later, Yonekura and colleagues [197] identified other splice variants of RAGE, one of them encoding the then named endogenous secretory RAGE (esRAGE). This form was described as more stable than the first one described in 1999 and was indeed shown to be secreted by human pericytes and endothelial cells.

In 2008, three independent groups demonstrated the cleavage of the full-length RAGE by metalloproteases, a mechanism that liberates cleaved RAGE (cRAGE) in the extracellular milieu [198-200]. All three reported the sheddase a disintegrin and metalloprotease 10 (ADAM10) as the major agent in RAGE cleavage. However, the results of Zhang and colleagues suggested that the matrix metallopeptidase 9 (MMP-9) is also capable of shedding membrane RAGE and that of Yamakawa *et al.* [201], showed that MMP-3 and MMP-13 are responsible for cRAGE release in alveolar epithelial cells. In addition, it was

shown that ADAM17 may also participate in RAGE shedding [202]. Figure 7 presents the amino acid sequence for full-length RAGE, esRAGE and cRAGE.

RAGE	1	MAAGTAVGAWVLVLSLWGAVVGAQNITARIGEPLVLKCKGAPKKPPQRLEWKLNTGRTEA
esrage	1	MAAGTAVGAWVLVLSLWGAVVGAQNITARIGEPLVLKCKGAPKKPPQRLEWKLNTGRTEA
CRAGE	1	MAAGTAVGAWVLVLSLWGAVVGAQNITARIGEPLVLKCKGAPKKPPQRLEWKLNTGRTEA
RAGE	61	WKVLSPQGGGPWDSVARVLPNGSLFLPAVGIQDEGIFRCQAMNRNGKETKSNYRVRVYQI
esrage	61	WKVLSPQGGGPWDSVARVLPNGSLFLPAVGIQDEGIFRCQAMNRNGKETKSNYRVRVYQI
CRAGE	61	WKVLSPQGGGPWDSVARVLPNGSLFLPAVGIQDEGIFRCQAMNRNGKETKSNYRVRVYQI
RAGE	121	PGKPEIVDSASELTAGVPNKVGTCVSEGSYPAGTLSWHLDGKPLVPNEKGVSVKEQTRRH
esrage	121	$\label{eq:prescaled} \textbf{PGKPEIVDSASELTAGVPNKVGTCVSEGSYPAGTLSWHLDGKPLVPNEKGVSVKEQTRRH}$
CRAGE	121	PGKPEIVDSASELTAGVPNKVGTCVSEGSYPAGTLSWHLDGKPLVPNEKGVSVKEQTRRH
RAGE	181	PETGLFTLQSELMVTPARGGDPRPTFSCSFSPGLPRHRALRTAPIQPRVWEPVPLEEVQL
esRAGE	181	${\tt petglftlgselmvtparggdprptfscsfspglprhralrtapiqprvwepvpleevql}$
CRAGE	181	PETGLFTLQSELMVTPARGGDPRPTFSCSFSPGLPRHRALRTAPIQPRVWEPVPLEEVQL
RAGE	241	VVEPEGGAVAPGGTVTLTCEVPAQPSPQIHWMKDGVPLPLPPSPVLILPEIGPQDQGTYS
esrage	241	VVEPEGGAVAPGGTVTLTCEVPAQPSPQIHWMKDGVPLPLPPSPVLILPEIGPQDQGTYS
CRAGE	241	VVEPEGGAVAPGGTVTLTCEVPAQPSPQIHWMKDGVPLPLPPSPVLILPEIGPQDQGTYS
RAGE	301	CVATHSSHGPQESRAVSISIIEPGEEGPTAGSVGGSGLGTLALALGILGGLGTAALLIGV
esrage	301	CVATHSSHGPQESRAVSISIIEPGEEGPTAGEGFDKVREAEDSPQHM
CRAGE	301	CVATHSSHGPQESRA
RAGE	361	ILNORRORRGEERKAPENQEEEERAELNQSEEPEAGESSTGGP
esRACE	361	
CRAGE	361	

Figure 7. Amino acid sequences of full-length RAGE, endogenous secretory RAGE and cleaved RAGE.

The cRAGE has a molecular weight around 48 kDa and lacks the unique amino acid sequence of esRAGE. It is possible, thus, to quantify total soluble RAGE (sRAGE) and esRAGE only. It was also observed that esRAGE represents only a small proportion of the total circulating sRAGE [199, 203]. Therefore, most of the literature concerns the levels of sRAGE (cRAGE and esRAGE).

Both esRAGE and cRAGE act as decoy receptors, preventing the activation of membrane RAGE by its ligands. In addition, sRAGE might act by forming heterodimers with membrane RAGE [82]. Seen that RAGE dimerization is essential for its signaling activity

through Dia-1, sRAGE-RAGE assembly would lack one cytoplasmic tail, preventing downstream events.

### 1.5 sRAGE levels in human diseases

Since its first observation in blood [204], sRAGE has been measured in the course of several human diseases in an attempt to define their biological roles and potential as biomarker. Indeed, in almost 10 years, sRAGE levels have been associated with different pathologies and their severity. Nevertheless, despite several indications of sRAGE and esRAGE as biomarkers, their levels present a huge inter and intra-populations variation and are sometimes controversial. However, there only a few publications presenting both esRAGE and sRAGE levels, the latter being the most studied and most controversial. There is great variation in sample size among publications but without direct association with the journal's impact factor (IF). Moreover, a recent meta-analysis suggested sample size as a potential bias in sRAGE levels associated with coronary artery disease [205]. It is important to notice that, for majority of diseases where sRAGE levels were studied (i.e. diabetes, CVDs, Alzheimer's and renal disease) RAGE plays an important role in their pathophysiology. Thus, serum sRAGE is often interpreted as a direct reflection of RAGE expression or an anti-RAGE mechanism.

## 1.5.1 sRAGE in diabetes

Diabetes mellitus is the "obvious RAGE disease". High glucose levels and inflammation increase the formation of AGEs, which interact with RAGE. Activation of NF-κB leads to expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and RAGE itself. Indeed, increased circulating levels of AGEs and cellular expression of RAGE were observed in both type 1 [206-208] and II [209, 210] diabetes.

Total sRAGE and esRAGE have been measured in diabetics, with greater attention given to the former and both increase and decrease in their levels are found. Although most publications showing an increase in sRAGE include patients with kidney dysfunction, this issue is not a consensus. Nevertheless, type 1 diabetics may have increased [211, 212] and decreased [213, 214] sRAGE levels, depending on the study. Cross-sectional studies with specific populations like children [213] and women [214] observed lower sRAGE levels in diabetics, although larger cohort studies, did not find associations with age and sex of the participants [211, 215, 216]. In two longitudinal studies, high baseline sRAGE levels were independently associated with cardiovascular mortality [211, 216].

The same controversy is observed in type 2 diabetics, where high [217-219] and low sRAGE [220, 221] are found associated with complications. Similarly to type 1 diabetes, longitudinal studies with large cohorts show that higher baseline sRAGE levels are associated with CVD risk [219, 222]. Cross-sectional studies often present important differences in their study populations, especially concerning the inclusion of patients under medication and with renal dysfunction. Unfortunately, the evaluated parameters are not always the same, which may lead to misinterpretation. Nonetheless, two studies of the same group failed to show the same associations between sRAGE and clinical parameters, although the sample sizes were similar and inclusion criteria were the same [217, 223]. Moreover, the authors reported that sRAGE positive correlation with AGEs, and soluble VCAM-1 were still significant when analyzed in diabetics without nephropathy only [223].

Although renal dysfunction clearly is associated with high sRAGE levels, it was reported that early stage diabetic nephropathy is not associated with changes in sRAGE [218]. In addition, even after adjustment for renal dysfunction, associations between high sRAGE levels and cardiovascular risk are still found [211, 216, 219, 222]. Separate studies observed that sRAGE levels were correlated with circulating AGEs in both diabetic [224] and non-diabetic subjects [225]. Furthermore, they did not find an association between

sRAGE and kidney function among diabetics. While they conclude that serum sRAGE may reflect cellular RAGE expression, other factors such as polymorphisms and ethnicity may help to explain the differences observed between studies.

Tables 2 and 3 present, respectively, sRAGE and esRAGE levels in type 1 diabetes. Levels of sRAGE and esRAGE in type 2 diabetes are presented in tables 4 and 5 respectively.

SRAGE LEVELS	COMMENTS	REFERENCE/ IF
Increased	In diabetics (n=45) compared to non-diabetics (n=35), p<0.01.	[212]/ 7.149
Increased	Diabetic children (n=75) compared to non- diabetic children (n=43), p= $0.047$ . Associated with low-density lipoprotein (LDL, r= $0.224$ ) levels and inversely associated with diabetes duration (r= $-0.265$ ).	[226]/ 0.747
Increased	Higher in diabetics with cardiovascular diseases (CVD) and albuminuria (n=477), p=0.005.	[215]/ 6.487
Decreased	Lower in diabetic women (n=43) compared to non-diabetics (n=43), p<0.01.	[214]/ 3.317
Increased	Higher baseline levels associated with CVD incidence and mortality (n=169, p=0.001).	[216]/ 7.895
Increased	High baseline levels associated with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality (n=3100, p<0.001).	[211]/ 6.487
Increased	In diabetics (n=42) compared to non-diabetics (n=24),p=0.001.	[227]/ 2.594
Decreased	In both pre-pubertal (n=34) and pubertal $(n=30)$ diabetics, compared to non-diabetics $(n=32)$ , p=0.001.	[213]/ 2.939

<b>Table 2.</b> Serum sRAGE levels and their association with type 1	diabetes.
----------------------------------------------------------------------	-----------

Table 3. Serum escage levels and their association with type 1 diabetes.				
esRAGE LEVELS	COMMENTS	REFERENCE/		
Decreased	In diabetics (n=67) compared to controls (n=23), p<0.0001. Inverse correlation with HbA <sub>1C</sub> .	[228]/ 7.735		
Increased	Positively associated with CML (r=0.310) and pentosidine (r=0.536). Inverse association with glomerular filtration rate (r=-0.626, n=70).	[229]/ 6.338		
Decreased	Lower in diabetics (n=130) than controls (n=22) (p<0.0001). Inverse correlation with HbA <sub>1C</sub> (r=- $0.361$ ), IMT (r=- $0.254$ ), body-mass index (r=- $0.28$ ) and total cholesterol (r=- $0.2$ ).	[203]/ 2.594		
Decreased	Low baseline esRAGE levels are associated with IMT (n=47) (r=-0.432, p=0.0022).	[230]/ 3.706		

Lower in both pre-pubertal (n=34) and pubertal (n=30) diabetics in comparison to controls (n=32)

(p<0.005). Inversely associated with mean kidney

Table 3.	Serum	esRAGE	levels	and their	association	with type 1	diabetes.
	Corum	0010102	10,010	und thom	abboolution	with type i	aluboloo.

## Table 4. Serum sRAGE levels and their association with type 2 diabetes.

volume (β=-0.503).

Decreased

SRAGE LEVELS	COMMENTS	REFERENCE/
Decreased	In diabetics (n=84) compared to non-diabetics (n=76) (p<0.0001). Inversely associated with $HbA_{1C}$ (r=-0.66)	[220]/ 6.430
Increased	Associated with albuminuria in diabetics (n=110, r=0.18, p<0.05).	[231]/ 4.209
Decreased	In diabetics (n=86) compared to non-diabetics (n=43). Inversely associated with glycated hemoglobin (r=-0.291)	[232]/ 5.271
Increased	In diabetics (n=75) compared to non-diabetics (n=75), p<0.0001. Inversely associated with high-density lipoprotein (HDL, $\beta$ =-9.951), HbA <sub>1C</sub> ( $\beta$ =98.51. Positive correlation with LDL ( $\beta$ =3.153), creatinine ( $\beta$ =777.3) and triglycerides ( $\beta$ =0.352).	[217]/ 2.968
Increased	Compared to non-diabetics (n=86, p<0.001). Positively associated with hyperlipidemia, HbA <sub>1C</sub> and AGEs. Negatively associated with HDL and diastolic blood pressure.	[233]/ 2.397
Decreased	Lower levels in diabetics with renal and retinal complications (n=10) compared to diabetics without such complications (n=20), p=0.028.	[221]/ 2.388
Increased	Positive correlation with serum AGEs ( $\beta$ =0.261) and soluble vascular adhesion molecule 1 (sVCAM-1, $\beta$ =0.3) (n=82).	[223]/ 2.929

[213]/

2.939

Decreased	Lower in diabetics (n=80) compared to non- diabetics (n=132) without coronary artery disease (CAD), p<0.05. Higher in diabetics with CAD (n=151) compared to non-CAD diabetics (n=80), p=0.002.	[162]/ 3.706
Increased	Positively associated with AGEs (n=180, r=0.22). Inverse correlation with glomerular filtration rate (GFR, r=-0.13).	[218]/ 2.741
Positive and negative associations	Positive correlation with serum AGEs (r=0.24) and negative correlation with high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP, r=-0.28) (n=245).	[234]/ 2.741
Increased	Higher levels predict coronary heart disease (CHD, hazard ratio=1.74) (n=718).	[219]/ 7.895
Decreased	In diabetics (n=50) compared to non-diabetics (n=50), p<0.01.	[235]/ 2.079
Increased	Higher in diabetics without retinopathy (n=14, p), compared to controls (n=20), p<0.05. Lower in diabetics with retinopathy (n=23) compared to controls, p<0.05.	[236]/ 2.056
Decreased	In diabetics (n=53) compared to non-diabetics (n=52), p<0.05.	[210]/ 4.859
Increased	Higher in diabetics without diabetic foot (n=30), compared to non-diabetics (n=20), p<0.05. Lower in patients with diabetic foot (n=30), p<0.05.	[237]/ 1.746
Increased	Higher in diabetics with in-stent restenosis (n=35), p=0.003.	[238]/ 1.107
Increased	In diabetics (n=79) compared to non-diabetics (n=220), p=0,025. Also higher in diabetics with heart failure patients (n=125), p<0.001.	[239]/ 5.247
Increased	High sRAGE levels are associated with higher CVD risk (n=276, hazard ratio=1.59).	[222]/ 3.706

Table 5.	Serum	esRAGE	levels	and their	association	with type 2	diabetes.
----------	-------	--------	--------	-----------	-------------	-------------	-----------

esRAGE LEVELS	COMMENTS	REFERENCE/
Increased	Higher in patients in dialysis (n=21) compared to diabetics with (n=47) and without nephropathy (n=39), p<0.0001. Correlated with CML (r=0.481) and pentosidine (r=0.502).	[240]/ 2.741
Decreased	Lower in patients with in-stent restenosis (n=86) than those without (n=128), $p<0.05$ .	[241]/ 2.850
Decreased	In diabetics (n=76) compared to non-diabetics (n=78), p=0.005. Inversely correlated with pulse wave velocity, r=-0.296.	[242]/ 5.509

Decreased	In diabetics (n=302) compared to non-diabetics (119), p<0.01. Even lower in diabetics with coronary artery disease (n=357), p<0.01. Inversely correlated with severity (r=-0.169) and extent of disease (r=-0.2).	[243]/ 3.706
Decreased	In diabetics (n=168) compared to non-diabetics (n=434), p<0.001.	[244]/ 2.850
Decreased	Lower in diabetics (n=113) compared to non- diabetics (n=152), p<0.001. Low sRAGE at follow- up is associated with plaque progression (odds ratio=23.477).	[245]/ 2.450
Decreased	In diabetics (n=231) compared to non-diabetics (n=281), p<0.001. Inversely associated with coronary artery disease.	[162]/ 3.706
Decreased	In diabetics (n=79) compared to controls (n=220), p<0.001. Levels are even lower in heart failure diabetics, p=0.001.	[239]/ 5.247
Increased	High levels predict coronary heart disease (n=718), hazard ratio=1.45.	[219]/ 7.895
Decreased	In diabetics (n=53) compared to non-diabetics (n=52), p<0.05.	[210]/ 4.859

# 1.5.2 Neurological diseases

Low levels of sRAGE are characteristic in Alzheimer's disease (AD). When compared to control [246] and patients with mild cognitive impairment [247] or vascular dementia [248], AD patients present lower circulating levels of sRAGE. Unfortunately, to our knowledge, there is no data concerning esRAGE levels in the plasma of AD patients, although Nozaki and colleagues [249] showed decreased esRAGE content in hippocampal neurons. In the same work they observed and increase in astrocyte esRAGE. Whether such an increase reflects in increased secretion of esRAGE is not known, but a cell-specific-response exists and might be a key process for therapeutic interventions. Although sRAGE levels are globally coherent in neurological disorders, their biological meaning is still uncertain. Larger longitudinal studies with several time points should be performed to understand the

evolution of sRAGE levels in parallel with disease progression. Tables 6 and 7 present the association of neurological disorders with sRAGE and esRAGE, respectively.

Table 6. Serum sRAGE	levels and their	association with	neurological	disorders.
----------------------	------------------	------------------	--------------	------------

SRAGE LEVELS	Сомментя	REFERENCE/
Decreased	In Alzheimer's disease (n=152) and vascular dementia (n=91), compared to controls (n=161), p<0.05.	[248]/ 6.31
Decreased	In mild cognitive impairment (n=66) and Alzheimer's disease (n=100) in comparison to controls (n=161), p<0.001.	[247]/ 3.052
Decreased	Lower in multiple sclerosis patients (n=37), compared to healthy subjects (n=22), p=0.005.	[250]/ 4.472
Decreased	In amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, compared to controls (n=20), p<0.05.	[251]/ 2.474
Decreased	Lower in Alzheimer's disease patients (n=276) compared to controls (n=254), p<0.0001.	[246]/ 3.052
Decreased	In Alzheimer's disease (n=126), vascular dementia (n=96) and non-Alzheimer's neurodegenerative dementia (n=30), compared to controls (n=98), p<0.001.	[252]/ 1.253

#### **Table 7.** Serum esRAGE levels and their association with neurological disorders.

esRAGE LEVELS	Сомментя	REFERENCE/ IF
Decreased	esRAGE levels are lower in patients with autistic spectrum disorder (n=18) than controls (n=18), p=0.002.	[253]/ 2.026

## 1.5.3 Cardiovascular diseases

RAGE is over expressed in atherosclerotic lesions and its activation has been implicated in the onset and progress of cardiovascular complications. In ApoE -/- mice, which spontaneously develop atherosclerotic lesions, sRAGE treatment prevents plaque formation [254]. Nevertheless, sRAGE levels in humans do not follow the logical thought of a protective decoy receptor. In patients with hypertension, sRAGE has been positively associated with inflammation and disease [255, 256], but also found decreased in comparison to normotensive subjects [257]. In non-diabetic patients with coronary artery disease (CAD) sRAGE levels are decreased [258, 259], although Mulder and colleagues did observe a positive correlation between sRAGE and skin autofluorescence [260]. Yan *et al.* [162] found lower esRAGE levels in CAD patients in both type 2 diabetic and non-diabetic populations although total sRAGE levels were increased in diabetics with CAD. In another work, type 2 diabetics with CAD also presented lower levels of esRAGE [243].

The group of Raposeiras-Roubin observed a positive association of sRAGE with chronic heart failure and atrial fibrillation [261-263]. On the other hand, in patients with kidney dysfunction, who usually present increased levels of sRAGE, negative correlations have been observed for atherosclerosis, vascular calcification and ventricular hypertrophy [264-266].

Very recently, Peng and colleagues performed a meta-analysis to investigate the association of RAGE polymorphisms and sRAGE with coronary artery disease [205]. They analyzed 27 articles including prospective and retrospective studies, with and without diabetic patients. The presence of diabetes or renal disease potentiates the statistical association of RAGE polymorphisms with CAD. Moreover, they concluded that, globally, sRAGE levels are not significantly associated with CAD, but a positive association is observed in studies with diabetics. Interestingly, they state that low esRAGE might be a predictor of CAD development in the absence of renal dysfunction. Tables 8 and 9 present, respectively, sRAGE and esRAGE in cardiovascular diseases.

SRAGE LEVELS	Сомментя	REFERENCE/
Decreased	Lower in CAD (n=328) than in non-CAD	[258]/
Decreased	(n=328) subjects, p<0.0001.	6.338
Decreased	Lower in hypertensive (n=147) than in	[257]/
	normotensive (n=177) subjects, p=0.002.	3.806
Increased	than those without (n=112), p= $0.0004$ .	[267]/ 3.320
Increased	Positive association with skin autofluorescence in CAD patients (n=63, $\beta$ =0.43).	[260]/ 3.706
Increased	Higher in symptomatic carotid atherosclerosis $(n=19)$ than in asymptomatic $(n=10)$ , p=0.009. Positive correlation with CML (r=0.6), CRP (r=0.618) and fibrinogen (r=0.522).	[268]/ 3.365
Decreased	In pre-mature CAD patients (n=100) compared to non-CAD individuals (n=40), p<0.0001.	[259] 3.706
Increased	High levels predict all-cause and CVD mortality in elder women (n= 559), hazards ratio=1.26.	[269]/ 1.006
Decreased	Lower in aortic valve stenosis (n=75) compared no controls (n=39), p<0.01. Inverse correlation with age (r=-0.33), total cholesterol (r=-0.228) and coronary calcium score (r=-0.57).	[270]/ 3.706
Increased	Higher in chronic heart failure with ischemic etiology (n=31), compared to non-ischemic (72), p=0.016. Correlated with heart failure severity (odds ratio=1.18).	[262]/ 5.247
Increased	In acute myocardial infarction (n=54) compared to controls (n=54), $p$ <0.001. Associated with plaque vulnerability (odds ratio=2.47).	[271]/ 3.578
Increased	Higher in patients with cardiac events (n=29) than event-free patients (n=77), $p=0.001$ .	[261]/ 3.209
Increased	Higher in heart failure subjects (n=222) than controls (n=220), p=0.001.	[239]/ 5.247
Increased	Higher in subjects with atrial fibrillation (n=38) than controls (n=59), p=0,001. Associated with atrial area (r=0.536) and volume(r=0.511).	[263]/ 5.509
Decreased	In hypertensive individuals, low sRAGE is associated with albuminuria (p<0,001) and arterial stiffening (p=0.003), n=430.	[272]/ 3.978

**Table 8**. Serum sRAGE levels and their association with cardiovascular diseases.

esRAGE LEVELS	COMMENTS	REFERENCE/ IF
Decreased	Inversely associated with components of metabolic syndrome (n=337).	[273]/ 6.338
Increased	High levels predict mortality in elder women (n=559), hazards ratio=1.28.	[269]/ 1.006
Decreased	Lower in subjects with coronary artery disease (n=149) than controls (n=132), p<0.001.	[162]/ 3.706
Decreased	In subjects with heart failure (n=222) than controls (n=220), p<0.001.	[239]/ 5.247

**Table 9.** Serum esRAGE levels and their association with cardiovascular diseases.

### 1.5.4 Kidney diseases

In general, sRAGE levels are inversely correlated with kidney function. Higher sRAGE levels were observed in patients with increased serum creatinine, albuminuria and low glomerular filtration rate (GFR). The evident question is whether sRAGE formation is increased (through RAGE cleavage and/or esRAGE secretion) or it is just a deficient excretion. However, within patients with kidney dysfunction, some articles demonstrate an inverse association between sRAGE levels and cardiovascular complications [264-266].

If circulating sRAGE is indeed an effective agent against RAGE activation, the lack of effectiveness in cases of renal dysfunction might be a saturation of sRAGE due to the increased levels of RAGE ligands. AGEs, HMGB1, S100A12, were found increased in patients with chronic kidney disease, end-stage renal disease and in peritoneal dialysis [265, 274, 275]. Moreover, sRAGE levels might reflect full length RAGE expression which is increased in renal diseases [276]. Increased RAGE expression and subsequent sRAGE production can be explained by higher levels of ADAM10, although, to our knowledge, there is only one study to date demonstrating its over-expression in kidney disease [277]. The levels of sRAGE and esRAGE in kidney diseases are respectively presented in tables 10 and 11.

SRAGE LEVELS	COMMENTS	REFERENCE/ IF
Increased	In chronic kidney disease (CKD) (n=25) and end-stage renal disease (ESRD) (n=25), compared to controls (n=21), p<0.001. Correlated with serum creatinine (r=0.5).	[278]/ 5.294
Increased	Higher in CKD (n=20), compared to healthy subjects (n=20), p<0.001. Correlated with serum AGEs (r=0.842).	[275]/ 3.096
Increased	Higher in CKD patients (n=142) than controls (n=49, p< $0.001$ ), but inversely associated with IMT (-0.31) and the number of atherosclerotic plaques (r=-0.24).	[264]/ 7.916
Increased	Associated with proteinuria ( $r=0.57$ ). Levels decrease after treatment with calcium channel blocker ( $n=30$ , p<0.01).	[279]/ 1.834
Increased	In hemodialysis (n=31) and CKD patients (n=46), compared to controls (n=24), p>0.0001.	[280]/ 1.596
Increased	Higher in peritoneal dialysis $(n=91)$ than controls $(n=29)$ (p<0.01), but inversely associated with carotid IMT and calcification score.	[265]/ 3.706
Increased	Higher in CKD patients (n=142) than controls (n=49) (p<0.001), but inversely associated with mean wall thickness ( $\beta$ =-0.17) and left ventricular mass ( $\beta$ =-0.16).	[266]/ 3.978

 Table 10. Serum sRAGE levels and their association with kidney diseases.

Table 11. Serum esRAGE levels and their association with kidney of	diseases.
--------------------------------------------------------------------	-----------

esRAGE LEVELS	Сомментя	REFERENCE/ IF
Increased	Higher in ESRD patients (p<0.01) but low esRAGE is associated with cardiovascular events (n=206, hazards ratio=0.4).	[281]/ 1.750
Increased	Higher in CKD patients (n=158) than non-CKD (n=858, p<0.0001) and predictor of CKD in the elder (hazards ratio=1.37).	[282]/ 2.623
Decreased	In CKD patients (n=65) compared to controls $(n=19)$ , p=0.001). Inversely associated with aortic calcification in CKD patients (r=-0.6).	[283]/ 1.325

## 1.5.5 Lung diseases

The lungs are the major organs to express membrane RAGE. Thus, it is believed they may contribute considerably to circulating sRAGE. The specific role of RAGE in the lung remains to be elucidated. However, an increase in sRAGE levels seems to be associated with an acute-phase response [284-286], while in chronic lung diseases sRAGE may be found decreased [287]. In lung acute disorders, sRAGE may reflect the degree of inflammation, reflected by the activation of proteases responsible for RAGE cleavage. Indeed, MMP-3, MMP-9 and MMP-13 are increased within 48h of acute lung injury development[288]. The decrease of sRAGE in chronic lung disease may be explained by an enhanced consumption or impaired formation of sRAGE, although these hypothesis are to be investigated. Tables 12 and 13 present sRAGE and esRAGE levels in lung disorders, respectively.

SRAGE LEVELS	Сомментя	REFERENCE/ IF
Increased	In lung graft patients with primary graft dysfunction (n=84) compared to those without (n=233), p=0.028. Also elevated in cardiopulmonary bypass (n=109), p<0.005.	[286]/ 11.041
Decreased	Lower in patients who develop acute lung injury (n=9) than those who doesn't (n=8), after sepsis surgery, p<0.05.	[289]/ 1.472
Increased	After cardiopulmonary bypass (n=20), p<0.01.	[290]/ 6.355
Increased	Higher in acute lung injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome (n=33), compared to controls (n=15), p<0.0001. Associated with severity scores (r=0.528).	[284]/ 6.124
Increased	High levels associated with mortality in acute respiratory distress syndrome patients (n=20), $\beta$ =0.537.	[291]/ 2.450
Decreased	Lower in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (n=200) than in controls (n=201), p=0.007. Inverse correlation with emphysema severity.	[287]/ 3.642

Table 12. Serum sRAGE levels and their association with lung disorders.

Positive and negative associations	Positively associated with macrophages (r=0.293) and negatively associated with lymphocytes (r=-0.311) and neutrophils (r=0.306) in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (n=76).	[292]/ 2.781
Decreased	In asthmatic (n=16) and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (n=37) patients compared to controls (n=18), p<0.01.	[293]/ 6.355
Increased	Increases after cardiopulmonary bypass and correlates with severity of acute lung injury (n=58, p<0.001).	[294]/ 4.718

Table 13. Serum esRAGE levels and their association with lung disorders.

esRAGE LEVELS	COMMENTS	REFERENCE/
Increased	Higher levels in asthmatic patients (n=44)	[295]/
	compared to controls (n=15), p<0.001.	2.585

## 1.5.6 Cancer

Evidence suggests an important role for membrane RAGE in tumor proliferation and invasion [160, 296, 297]. There are only a few publications concerning sRAGE levels in cancer and, although the majority shows a negative association, generalizations are misleading due to the great variability among tumor cells. Low levels of sRAGE are found in patients with lung and pancreatic cancer [298, 299]. Two studies showed lower sRAGE levels in breast cancer patients while Piperis and colleagues found higher levels compared to controls [300-302]. The discrepancies are probably due to different stages of cancer development in the studies. Serum levels of sRAGE and esRAGE in cancer patients are presented respectively in tables 14 and 15.

SRAGE LEVELS	Сомментя	REFERENCE/ IF
Decreased	Lower in breast cancer patients (n=120), compared to controls (n=92), p<0.05.	[302]/ 2.238
Decreased	Lower in breast cancer patients (n=113) than in controls (n=58), p<0.05.	[300]/ 2.238
Decreased	In patients with lung cancer (n=45) compared to controls (n=19), p=0.034.	[298]/ 1.574
Decreased	In patients with pancreas cancer (n=51) compared to controls (n=154), p<0.001. Even lower in patients with impaired glucose tolerance, p<0.05).	[299]/ 2.450
Decreased	Low levels are associated with colorectal cancer risk in male smokers (n=968, relative risk comparing quintiles = 0.65).	[303]/ 4.559
Decreased	Low levels associated with pancreatic cancer in male smokers (n=740, relative risk comparing quintiles = 0.46).	[304]/ 8.650
Increased	Higher in breast cancer patients (n=38), compared to controls (n=38), p<0.05.	[301]/ 1.713
Decreased	Low levels are associated with cases of colorectal adenoma (n=158, odds ratio=0.55)	[305]/ 1.329
Decreased	Inversely associated with liver cancer (n=630, relative risk=0.86).	[306]/ 12.003

Table 14. Serum sRAGE levels and their association with cancer.

Table 15. Serum esRAGE	levels and their	association with	cancer
------------------------	------------------	------------------	--------

esRAGE LEVELS	COMMENTS	REFERENCE/ IF
Decreased	Associated with pancreatic cancer incidence at short follow-up (2 years) (n=906, odds ratio=0.46).	[307]/ 4.559

# 1.5.7 Other disorders

Total sRAGE and esRAGE levels were also investigated in other conditions, especially inflammatory diseases. In septic patients, sRAGE levels increase [308, 309], although mean levels are considerably different between studies (2302±189 vs. 5499±1516 pg/ml).

It decreases in the autoimmune diseases Sjogren's disease and rheumatoid arthritis patients [310, 311], as well as in Charcot arthroneuropathy [312]. Very interestingly, it was shown that sRAGE levels increase within 30 minutes after a severe trauma [313], suggesting that high sRAGE levels for some disorders may be due to blood sampling at an acute phase. In addition, after acute bicycle exercise, CAD patients and healthy subjects show a non-significant increase in sRAGE levels (from 1578 to 1999 and 1824 to 2349 pg/ml, respectively) [314]. In both CAD patients and healthy subjects, exercise induced a significant increase in MMP-9 activity, which may explain the change in sRAGE levels. Despite the lack of statistical difference, this finding raises the question on how precise is sRAGE homeostasis. Moreover, the lack of significance may be due to the small sample size (n=21 for CAD and n=22 for controls). Table 16 shows the associations of sRAGE levels with other diseases not presented above.

SRAGE LEVELS	COMMENTS	REFERENCE/
Decreased	In rheumatoid arthritis patients (n=62), compared to healthy controls (n=45), p<0.0001.	[310]/ 4.302
Increased	Higher in septic patients (n=29) compared to controls (n=8), p<0.05. Even higher in non-survivors, p<0.001.	[308]/ 2.018
Decreased	Lower in Sjogren's syndrome (n=10), compared to anti-nuclear antibody positive patients (n=3), p<0.05.	[311]/ 2.214
Increased	Higher in septic patients (n=20) than controls (n=20), p<0.05.	[315]/ 2.043
Decreased	In non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (n=40) compared to controls (n=14), p<0.01.	[316]/ 2.450
Decreased	Inversely associated with body-mass index and waist-hip ratio (n=176, r=-0.24).	[317]/ 3.978
Increased	sRAGE increases rapidly after severe trauma (n=176), p<0.05.	[313]/ 2.348
Decreased	In patients with knee osteoarthritis (n=36) compared to controls (n=15), p<0.001. Associated with severity, r=-0.65.	[318] 2.450

TABLE 16. Serum sRAGE levels and their association with other diseases.

Decreased	In patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (n=121) compared to healthy controls (n=45), p<0.0001.	[319]/ 3.258
Decreased	Negative association, in HIV patients (n=76),, with carotid IMT, r=-0.329, LDL (r=-0.284), body-mass index (r=-0.324), total cholesterol (r=-0.24) and insulin resistance (r=-0.38).	[320]/ 3.706
Decreased	In patients with Charcot neuroarthropathy (n=20) compared to controls (n=30), p<0.01.	[312]/ 7.735
Increased	Higher in septic patients (n=15) than controls (n=15), p<0.01.	[309]/ 2.498
Decreased	Decreased in lupus patients (n=105) compared to controls (n=43), p=0.003.	[321]/ 2.199
Increased	Higher levels in smokers (n=45) than non- smokers (n=53), p=0.002. Associated with the number of cigarettes/day (r=0.6).	[322]/ 2.594

#### Table 17. Serum esRAGE levels and their association with other diseases.

esRAGE LEVELS	COMMENTS	REFERENCE/
Decreased	In patients with rheumatoid arthritis (n=54)	[323]/
	compared to healthy subjects (n=20), p<0.0001.	5.271

## 1.6 Modulation of sRAGE levels

Although the mechanisms of sRAGE (cRAGE and esRAGE) formation are quite well established, very little is known about their regulation. While *in vivo* studies lack the signaling details of this regulation, the few *in vitro* studies are not sufficient to explain or extrapolate an explanation for the high variability of sRAGE levels.

The endogenous secretory RAGE is formed by alternative splicing of RAGE mRNA. While cRAGE is formed at the direct cost of one membrane RAGE, esRAGE is produced with the expense of a potential full-length RAGE mRNA [324]. Unfortunately, very little is known about the regulation of the mRNA splicing that leads to esRAGE formation.

Grossin *et al.* [325] observed that methylglyoxal-modified albumin induces RAGE and esRAGE expression in endothelial cells, while glyoxylic acid-modified albumin increases only the full-length form. Recently, it was shown that insulin increases esRAGE in cultured macrophages [326].

The cleaved form of sRAGE is produced through the action of ADAM10 and other proteases on the extracellular domain of RAGE. Therefore, it is expected that RAGE overexpression associated with activation of these proteases would lead to increased cRAGE. RAGE expression is modulated by several external stimuli. Full-length RAGE may be upregulated by TNF- $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ -estradiol and glycated albumin [327], while it is downregulated by angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor (ACEi) [328], retinol (vitamin A) [94], metformin [329] and statins [330-332].

ADAM10 is activated by calcium ionophore calcimycin (Ca-IC) and the phorbol ester myristate actetate (PMA), albeit Galichet *et al.* did not observe an increase in sRAGE formation with PMA-mediated activation [198]. ADAM10 is localized in lipid rafts and has its activity increased by lowering cholesterol levels [333-335] and by retinoic acid receptors [336]. It is possible that cholesterol lowering is one of the mechanism through which statins increase sRAGE levels [337, 338]. Metalloproteases are, in general, activated by cytokines like IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  [339-342] and associated with inflammation, tumor proliferation and angiogenesis [343, 344], which are processes where RAGE is implicated. Another issue that renders cRAGE production more complex is that activation of G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) also induces RAGE shedding through ADAM10, ADAM17 and MMP9 [202].

Metz and colleagues observed that ligand-induced activation of the V2 vasopressin, oxytocin and pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating polypeptide receptors increase cRAGE production [202]. Since GPCRs are a vast family of receptors, encoded by more than 800 genes [345], implicated in hormone and metabolite signaling [346], these findings extend

the borders of RAGE cleavage regulation and underscore the importance of further studies before clinical conclusions on sRAGE levels. Nevertheless, data on cRAGE formation *in vitro* is scarce. In cultured cells, sRAGE increases after treatment with ACEi [328], H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> [347] and insulin [326].

The consistency of data concerning sRAGE levels in AD might lie in the regulatory mechanisms of A $\beta$  production. The amyloid precursor protein (APP) is subjected to proteolytic cleavage by secretases [348]. When cleaved by  $\alpha$ -secretases (TACE, ADAM10, PC7), it gives origin to  $\alpha$ -amyloid peptide, while the  $\gamma$ -secretase produces A $\beta$ . It is not clear if the low sRAGE levels are a result of lower ADAM10 activity, which also favors A $\beta$  formation, or a more complex mechanism of regulation. Regardless, a greater issue might be the intact membrane RAGE that remains fully functional due to this lower activity of ADAM10. Mice knocked down for RAGE present decreased uptake of labeled A $\beta$  in comparison to wild type animals. Furthermore, mice expressing human esRAGE show the same uptake inhibition as the RAGE knock-out group [349].

In vivo, the variation in sRAGE levels may be mostly explained by the differences among study populations. Most of them do not precise information about ethnicity and RAGE polymorphisms, which are known to influence sRAGE levels [219, 350]. Kidney dysfunction, which is clearly associated with higher sRAGE levels, is not well defined among the different studies, a fact that may represent a bias. Nevertheless, after analyzing the biological variations of sRAGE, Brown and colleagues observed that sRAGE has a low index of individuality which is associated with little utility for population-based reference values [351]. In addition, they state that such low index is valuable in monitoring diseases. In a pharmacokinetics study, Renard *et al.* observed that recombinant rat sRAGE has a longer half-life in diabetic rats than non-diabetic animals. The authors suggested that the increased AGEs in diabetes constitute an additional compartment for the distribution of sRAGE [196]. In this case, AGEs in tissues could act

as sequestering agents, decreasing circulating sRAGE. Moreover, it is unknown whether sRAGE-ligand complexes are further cleared from the organism or internalized in tissues.

Different studies present different factors associated with sRAGE levels. Sometimes, probably due to different inclusion criteria and a diverse pathophysiology, opposite associations are observed (Table 18). In addition, only a few studies investigated the association of sRAGE with these factors alone and the high regulatory complexity of sRAGE formation does not allow fairly conclusive interpretations. An increase in soluble RAGE levels is often associated with acute inflammation. After severe trauma, sRAGE increases and is associated with trauma severity (n=176) [313]. This view of an acute increase in sRAGE is supported by other studies where sRAGE increases immediately after surgery [290, 294]. On the other hand, Achouiti *et al.* did not observe changes in sRAGE after experimental human endotoxemia (n=8) or during severe sepsis (n=51) [352].

Another important factor that may underlie sRAGE variations is the genetic background. Hudson and colleagues observed considerable differences in sRAGE mean levels according to ethnicity, with non-Hispanic black subjects having lower sRAGE levels than non-Hispanic white and Hispanic ones [353]. In a study with type 2 diabetics only, afro-Caribbean patients had lower sRAGE than white and south Asian ones [219]. In a recent meta-analysis of 27 studies (7585 CAD patients and 9240 controls), it was observed that ethnicity, study design, matched information and sample size are potential sources of heterogeneity [205]. This study also showed that the contribution of RAGE polymorphisms to CAD incidence depends on ethnicity. However, the authors underscore the coherence of esRAGE as a negative predictor of CAD development.

In conclusion, evidence suggests a very complex regulation of esRAGE and cRAGE formation (Figure 8). Cell-specific mechanisms are very likely to take place and, since the

major source of serum sRAGE remains unknown, the current knowledge of these

mechanisms reflects little about the variability of sRAGE levels among publications.

 Table 18. Factors associated with sRAGE levels in vivo

FACTOR		ASSOCIATION	REFERENCE
Kidney dysfunction	Ţ	Higher sRAGE levels in subjects with decreased glomerular filtration rate (1500 pg/ml; n=283) compared to normal kidney function (1200 pg/ml; n=265)	[269]
	↓	Type 2 diabetics with glomerulopathy and retinopathy (1068pg/ml; n=10) have lower sRAGE than those without (1575 pg/ml; n=20)	[221]
	1	Associated with albuminuria in type 2 diabetes (n=110; $\beta$ =0.22)	[231]
	<b>↑</b>	Higher sRAGE in non-diabetic chronic kidney disease patients (1244 pg/ml; n=20) than in healthy controls (506.3 pg/ml; n=20)	[275]
	1	sRAGE is associated with serum creatinine in patients with chronic kidney disease (r=0.5; n=25)	[278]
Smoking	ø	No difference between smokers and non-smokers in COPD (n=200) patients and in controls (n=201)	[287]
	ø	No association with the number of cigarettes/day nor with the years of smoking in male smokers (n=485).	[306]
	1	Healthy smokers (n=45) have higher sRAGE levels than non-smokers (n=50). sRAGE correlates with the number of cigarettes/day ( $r^2$ =0.36).	[322]
	↓	Inversely associated with smoking habit ( $\beta$ =0.223) in acute stroke patients (n=482)	[354]
	Ø	No association in elderly hypertensive patients (n=271)	[255]
Obesity/ Overweight	↓	Inversely correlated with waist circumference (r=-0.27) in subjects with metabolic syndrome risks (n=263).	[355]
	$\downarrow$	Inversely associated with BMI ( $r=-0.24$ ) and waist-to-hip ratio ( $r=-0.21$ ) in a general population ( $n=176$ )	[317]
	↓	Type 2 diabetics within the lowest BMI tertile have higher sRAGE levels (n=718)	[219]
	↓	Morbidly obese patients (n=85) have lower sRAGE levels than controls (n=40)	[356]
	↓	Inversely associated with BMI in elderly hypertensive patients (n=271; $\beta$ =-0.181)	[255]
	$\downarrow$	Inversely associated with BMI in the general population ( $\beta$ =-0.177; n=184)	[225]

Statins	Ø	No association in elderly hypertensive patients (n=271)	[255]
	ø	No effects on sRAGE levels after 8-12 months of treatment in acute coronary syndrome patients (n=208)	[357]
	1	6 months of atorvastatin treatment slightly increases sRAGE levels (673 to 737 pg/ml) in type 2 diabetics (n=39)	[338]
	1	Eight-week atorvastatin but not pravastatin increases sRAGE (843 to 1026 pg/ml) in hypercholesterolemic patients (n=10).	[337]
	ø	One-year treatment with atorvastatin does not change sRAGE levels in type 2 diabetics (n=184)	[219]
Ethnicity		Japanese healthy population with mean sRAGE at 450 $\pm$ 150 pg/ml (n=184; mean age=66.7 years)	[225]
		Healthy Chinese elderly (mean age=72 years) with median sRAGE 905 pg/ml (n=254)	[246]
		Healthy Japanese elderly (mean age=65 years) with mean sRAGE 1103 pg/ml	[358]
		Non-hispanic black subjects have lower sRAGE levels (757.4 pg/ml; n=197) than hispanic (891.9 pg/ml; n=708) and non-hispanic white individuals (1120.5 pg/ml; n=170)	[353]
		Healthy Brazilian subjects (1472.75 pg/ml; n=24; mean age=32.7 years)	[227]



necrosis factor; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; GPCR, G protein-coupled receptor; PMA, phorbol myristate RAGE; cRAGE, cleaved RAGE, esRAGE, endogenous secretory RAGE; ACEi, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor; MMP, matrix metallopeptidase; ADAM, a disintegrin and metalloproteinase; TNF, tumor acetate; AGE, advanced glycation end-product; MG-HSA, methylglyoxal-modified human serum albumin; Figure 8. Mechanisms of sRAGE formation. Dashed boxes show the stimuli known to induce each RAGE form. Closed boxes present stimuli that increase the activity of proteases. FL-RAGE, full length Ca-IC, calcium ionophore calcimycin.

## **1.7** Soluble RAGE as a therapeutic agent

There is overwhelming evidence supporting the use of sRAGE as a therapeutic molecule. In cultured endothelial cells, recombinant sRAGE blocks AGEs-induced oxidative stress, hyperpermeability and the expression of adhesion molecules [9, 11, 16]. Soluble RAGE also suppresses RAGE, HMGB1 and VCAM-1 overexpression induced by shear-stress [359]. *In vivo*, sRAGE ameliorates diabetes induced hyperpermeability and atherosclerosis [196, 254], and it also accelerates wound healing in diabetic mice [360].

Treatment with sRAGE was shown to improve survival ad reduce levels of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  in a model of severe sepsis [361]. The use of sRAGE as a therapeutic molecule was further supported by the studies of Renard and co-workers, who showed a relatively long half-life of recombinant sRAGE in rats [196, 362].

Other approaches to block the RAGE axis could be the use of anti-RAGE antibodies, the induction of RAGE cleavage or the use of specific inhibitors. Indeed, PF-04494700, an oral RAGE inhibitor, was already tested in AD patients in a 10-week trial. Although it had no effects on A $\beta$  levels and cognitive outcomes, no deleterious effects were seen either, allowing larger long-term trials [363].

## 1.8 Anti-sRAGE autoantibodies

Autoimmunity against sRAGE was observed for the first time in mice that were immunized with glycated human brain neurofillament protein [364]. Interestingly, the same animals developed antibodies against A $\beta$ . Anti-A $\beta$  IgGs were already studied in the course of AD with contradictory results. While some works failed to observe an association between anti-A $\beta$  and the disease [365, 366], others suggested a higher toxicity of the A $\beta$ -antibody complexes [367]. In healthy subjects, higher levels of such complexes were observed

compared to the free form of A $\beta$ , but no association with cognitive ability or age was found [368].

In AD patients, anti-sRAGE IgGs are higher compared to healthy seniors [369] and other studies showed an association between anti-sRAGE titers and dementia, assessed by the Clinical Dementia Score (CDR) and the Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status (RBANS) [370, 371]. In the same works, higher levels of anti-Aβ were also associated with dementia. Very interestingly, the group that observed these associations investigated a protective role of such autoantibodies by stimulating their production with and oral vaccine [372]. Indeed, this vaccine, constituted of a Aβ/sRAGE complex improves cognitive function in a transgenic mice model of Alzheimer's disease. Moreover, purified anti-sRAGE autoantibodies protect primary rat cortical neurons from Aβ toxicity. Nonetheless, it is unknown if these autoantibodies could neutralize sRAGE decoy effect or even activate RAGE. A double-edged sword effect is very likely and the incidence of these autoantibodies in other diseases where RAGE is implicated needs to be investigated.
## **Chapter Two**

# **Metabolic and Inflammatory Disorders**

RAGE has been particularly studied for its pathological roles in metabolic disorders. Therefore, such disorders were focus of studies on sRAGE levels. Metabolic disorders arise from the impairment of energy processing at tissue and cellular levels. The consequent morbidity and mortality are intimately associated with inflammation and cardiovascular complications. These issues are often originated from dyslipidemia and an exacerbated immune response. Although still unclear, autoimmunity is believed to play an important role in the pathogenesis and complications of these disorders. In this second chapter we summarize the pathological aspects of these diseases in which RAGE is deeply implicated and sRAGE was proposed as a biomarker.

### 2.1 Cardiovascular Diseases

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are the leading cause of mortality and morbidity in the world. CVDs include hypertension, cerebrovascular disease, heart failure, congenital heart disease, peripheral artery disease, rheumatic heart disease and coronary heart disease (CHD), the latter being responsible for 42% of the mortality associated with CVDs [373]. The major risk factors for the development of CVDs are tobacco, physical inactivity, alcohol consumption and unhealthy diet [373].

CVDs arise mostly from hypertension and atherosclerosis. Essential hypertension, or elevated blood pressure, is a disease of unknown specific cause. Evidence indicate that inflammatory processes play a major role in the expression of adhesion molecules and the activation of the renin-angiotensin system, which are key mechanisms in the pathogenesis of hypertension [374].

Little is known about RAGE activation in association with hypertension. In an animal model, Bohlender and colleagues observed increased RAGE expression in the glomerulus of hypertensive rats. It was also observed that angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors (ACEi) reduce the expression of RAGE in diabetic rats [328].

Soluble RAGE was measured in hypertensive patients, with distinctive results. While Geroldi *et al.* [257] showed that hypertension was associated with lower sRAGE levels, while Nakamura and colleagues showed that anti-hypertensive treatment promoted further decrease in sRAGE [256].

Intimately associated with hypertension is atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory process, characterized by the arterial wall thickening through accumulation of fatty components (i.e. cholesterol) and macrophages [375]. Atherosclerosis origin is multifactorial, with a major role played by hypertension, hyperlipidemia, diabetes, western diet and smoking [376-378]. It is generally initiated by the expression of adhesion molecules by endothelial cells, in the innermost layer of vessels. Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) play a major role in atherosclerosis, binding T lymphocytes and monocytes [379-381]. The expression of adhesion of adhesion molecules is induced by pro-inflammatory molecules such as oxidized lipoproteins [382], interleukin 1 (IL-1), interleukin 4 (IL-4) and interferon gamma (IFN-γ) [383].

Once attached to the endothelium, monocytes migrate to the intima layer, due especially to the expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) [384, 385]. Monocyte migration, also called diapedesis, is clearly dependent on MCP-1 since mice with predisposition to atherosclerosis but lacking MCP-1 or its receptor do not develop lesions [386, 387]. In the intima, monocytes differentiate into macrophages and incorporate modified lipids [388]. Low-density lipoprotein (LDL) may actively or passively pass through endothelial junctions and accumulate [389]. In the subendothelium, LDL is oxidized and cleaved, and these modifications increase its engulfing by macrophages [390].

In contrast to LDL, which increases cholesterol and lipids in extra-hepatic tissues, highdensity lipoprotein (HDL) is responsible for removing cholesterol excess. Apolipoprotein A-I is the major protein component of HDL, responsible for cholesterol and lipid binding due to its amphipathic properties. Thus HDL reduces lipid affluence in the vessel walls, further decreasing lipid oxidation and monocyte recruitment [391, 392]. Other mechanisms of HDL action include the inhibition of the expression of vascular adhesion molecules and MCP-1.

Clinically, cardiovascular risk is assessed by factors associated with inflammation and increased cholesterol levels and deposition. Increased plasma LDL and cholesterol are closely related to increased risk of CVDs [393]. On the other hand, HDL plays a protective role by sequestering cholesterol from the endothelium and is, therefore, associated with lower risk of CVDs [393]. In any case, inflammatory and metabolic disorders like diabetes, obesity and kidney dysfunction favor the development of CVDs.

Unfortunately, there are no specific molecules to diagnose CVDs and their severity. The diagnoses are made mostly with imaging techniques or an electrocardiogram. Moreover, inflammatory markers like C-reactive protein (CRP)/high sensitivity (hs) CRP, tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF-  $\alpha$ ), IL-10, IL-8 lack specificity and are more likely to evaluate the associated risk. The imminence and progression of atherosclerosis lesions is easily

assessed by the intima-media thickness (IMT). The IMT, which can be performed by noninvasive ultrasound, provides important information about advancement of lipid deposition and monocyte infiltration.

RAGE actively participates in atherosclerosis progression. Blockade of RAGE with recombinant sRAGE drastically inhibits plaque formation in mice [254]. RAGE activation increases ROS production and the expression of adhesion molecules, which further accelerate atherosclerosis [394].

There are several studies on sRAGE levels and their relation to atherosclerosis. Even though most of them evaluate CVD incidence and risk in the course of other diseases (i.e. diabetes and kidney disease), some studies were made in populations without complications other than CVDs. While sRAGE was found higher in symptomatic atherosclerosis [268] and associated with plaque vulnerability [271], patients with aortic valve stenosis have lower sRAGE levels [270].

### 2.2 Diabetes

The risk of CVDs increases substantially with diabetes, which doubles the mortality risk compared to peers without the disease. Among diabetics, the leading cause of death are CVDs, which also represent the major co-morbidities associated with the disease [395]. In the world, more than 347 million people are diabetic and this number is expected to double before 2030 [395].

Type 1 diabetes has a strong immune component, responsible for the destruction of pancreatic  $\beta$  cells and it is, in part, genetically determined. It is, sometimes, also called juvenile diabetes because of its early onset (<30 years-old) but the strong environmental component affects drastically the age of onset [396]. Type 2 diabetics, however, is closely associated with obesity and advanced age through the development of insulin resistance

[397]. Insulin resistance is caused by desensitization to insulin due to hyperlipidemia and inflammation. It has been proposed that the increase of fatty acyl CoAs and diacyl-glycerol induce serine/threonine kinases, inhibiting the insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1) and further reducing downstream signaling to insulin action [398]. The decreased anabolic effect of insulin results in hyperglycemia and weight loss.

While the diagnose and progression of diabetes are easily assessed by means of glucose levels and glycated hemoglobin (HbA<sub>1C</sub>) [399], the risk of associated complications is more difficult to evaluate, due to their complex etiology. However, the clinical value of laboratory tests are under constant debate, for limitations of methodology and the impact of other variables (i.e. ethnicity) should be taken into account [400]. Nonetheless, diabetes complications are often investigated independently of diabetes itself, without neglecting the aggravations of the disease. To date, the major biomarkers diabetes-associated risks are glycemia, HbA<sub>1C</sub>, lipid profile (LDL, HDL and triglycerides) and urinary albumin excretion [401].

It is widely known that glucose exerts its toxic effects through the non-enzymatic modification of biomolecules. These modified products, which may have their function impaired, are subject to structural modifications that may lead to the formation of AGEs. The reactions that end up with AGE formation might produce highly reactive intermediary products such as methylglyoxal and glyoxal. These dicarbonyl compounds are also capable of modifying biomolecules [402] and spontaneously modify glutathione, impairing the cellular antioxidant pool [18]. The resulting oxidative stress induces damage to proteins, lipids and DNA and increase the rate of glycation, generating a vicious cycle that ultimately promotes cell and tissue dysfunction [403]. As described in the first chapter, AGEs induce oxidation and inflammation through interaction with RAGE.

The first pathological mechanisms involving RAGE were described in diabetes. RAGE activation increases ROS production and endothelial permeability [10]. Moreover, RAGE

plays an important role in diabetes-associated atherosclerosis and decreased insulin secretion [254, 404, 405].

Serum sRAGE has been extensively studied in diabetes and, as presented in the first chapter, there is controversy. Nevertheless, in a nested-case control study, Colhoun *et al.* observed that higher sRAGE levels were associated with increased coronary heart disease incidence in type 2 diabetes [219]. However, the recent findings of insulin regulating RAGE expression and sRAGE production puts a warning in studies concerning sRAGE levels, especially those where patients have impaired insulin signaling [326].

### 2.3 Obesity

Obesity is considered as a medical condition where the excess of body fat may impair health [406]. In addition, the distribution of accumulated fat is as important as the accumulation rate to determine the risks associated with obesity. For example, abdominal fat, evaluated as waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) and waist circumference, are strongly related to CVD risk in non-obese [407] and obese subjects [408]. The body-mass index (BMI) is the current reference index to diagnose and classify obesity. It is defined as the weight divided by the square of height (kg/m<sup>2</sup>). A BMI of 30 or higher characterizes obesity. Table 4 shows the weight classification according to BMI.

Table 13. Weight diassification according to body mass mack.	
Classification	BMI ( kg/m²)
Underweight	<18.50
Normal weight	18.50 – 24.99
Overweight:	≥ 25.00
Pre-obese	25.00 - 29.99
Obese class I	30.00 - 34.99
Obese class II	35.00 – 39.99
Obese class III	≥ 40.00

Table 19. Weight classification according to body-mass index.

Obesity increases the risk of developing diabetes and CVDs. Hubert and colleagues investigated the relationship between obesity and CVD among 5209 subjects in a 26-year follow-up. In both men and women, the Metropolitan Relative Weight (MRW, similar to BMI) was associated with CHD [409]. Particularly in women, MRW was associated with stroke and CVD death. In much larger cohort with 115886 women, the influence of obesity in CHD was evaluated after an 8-year follow-up [410]. Increased body-weight was found associated with hypercholesterolemia, non-fatal and fatal CHD. In the heaviest group (BMI≥29), 70% of coronary events were attributed to obesity. Similarly, Dorn et al., observed an all-cause mortality associated with elevate BMI. However, this association was found only in men younger than 65 years-old. Furthermore, BMI was strongly related to CHD and CVD mortality, in both sexes [411]. Hodgson and colleagues, however, showed a correlation between CHD and WHR, but not BMI [412]. A study in 2003 showed that severe obesity (BMI>45) is responsible for a reduction of life expectancy of 13 and 8 years for men and women, respectively [413]. On the other hand, a recent study of Flegal and colleagues [414] observed an increase in longevity in people with overweight (BMI of 25 - 29.9) even when compared to normal weight subjects (BMI of 18.5 - 24.9).

It is common sense that obesity prevention and treatment are successfully achieved through regular physical activity and lowering of calorie intake. Surgical intervention is particularly considered for patients who have failed previous attempts of losing weight and present a BMI≥40 or 35 with medical conditions other than obesity [415]. One of the most common interventions is the gastric bypass, or *Roux-en-Y*, where a small stomach pouch is created while the rest of the stomach and part of the duodenum are bypassed (Figure 9). The efficacy of this procedure is up to 68% of weight loss [416].



Figure 9. Schematics of a gastric bypass (*Roux-en-Y*). Panel A shows the normal gastric flow. Panel B shows the bypassed stomach and duodenum.

As in diabetes, obesity is considered as an aggravation factor for other complications such as CVDs and renal failure. The impairment of metabolism, which results in increased circulating lipids lead to higher levels of LDL and cholesterol, has a profound impact on inflammation. The increase in adipose tissue is accompanied by a pro-inflammatory state. Adipocytes and infiltrated immune cells release cytokines that, together with the increase in free fatty acids, decrease insulin sensitivity [417]. Several pro-inflammatory cytokines are associated with insulin resistance, like IL-1, IL-6, IL-10, CRP and TNF- $\alpha$  [418]. The subsequent hyperinsulinemia maintain high levels of circulating lipids and Na<sup>2+</sup>, leading to hypertension [419].Thus, it is clear that while obesity has a substantial behavioral basis, the events following dyslipidemia and adipose tissue hypertrophy impair health condition through inflammation and cardiovascular dysfunction.

The RAGE axis is still to be further investigated in obesity. Different studies found opposite results concerning weight gain and RAGE in animals given a high fat diet. The

first, in 2012, showed that RAGE -/- mice gained weight faster and had higher levels of cholesterol and insulin compared to wild-type animals [420]. The other, in 2013, observed that the presence of RAGE increased weight gain, epididymal fat and adipocyte size [47].

In humans, a few studies have investigated sRAGE levels and their association to body weight. It was first observed that sRAGE levels are inversely correlated with BMI in the general population [317]. More specific was the work of Brix and colleagues, that observed lower sRAGE levels in morbidly obese subjects and an increase in these levels after bariatric surgery [356].

### 2.4 Autoimmunity

All the above aforementioned diseases have a strong inflammatory component, with a major role played by the immune system. However, an exacerbated inflammation may result in the recognition and destruction of self-antigens, which characterizes autoimmunity. Autoimmune diseases are a heterogeneous group of disorders but some systemic autoimmune conditions like rheumatoid arthritis (RA), antiphospholipid syndrome (APS) and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) share an increased risk of CVDs [421]. Although genetic and epigenetic factors constitute predisposing factors for autoimmune diseases, trigger factors like diet, smoking and pathogens play an important role [422].

Although autoimmune reactions may arise from infectious agents that mimic some of the host's self-antigens, several cases are reported without apparent infection. Autoimmunity is also attributed to modified biomolecules, such as oxidized LDL [423] and, since the recruitment of inflammatory cells increases the production of ROS, so does tissue damaged [424], amplifying the cycle of autoimmunity (Figure 10).

### Chapter Two – Metabolic and Inflammatory Disorders



Figure 10. Amplification of autoimmune damage. Once self-antigens promote an autoimmune reaction, further inflammation occurs and tissue damage increases.

The participation of autoimmune reactions in atherosclerosis is still unclear even though cells of the immune system participate actively in atherogenesis. Immunohistological studies show that lymphocytes and macrophages are already present in the intima of early lesions, before clinical symptoms [425, 426]. The presence of vascular antigens in the early events of atherosclerosis has been subject of discussion [427] and the list of candidates is narrow. Oxidized LDL is known to possess immunogenic epitopes [428] and to contribute to atherogenesis [429]. Wick and colleagues have proposed that the origin of atherosclerosis is of inflammatory nature, mainly through the immune response to heat shock protein 60 (HSP60), expressed by endothelial cells [430, 431]. Heat shock proteins (HSPs) are stress-responsive molecules that participate in protein transport, folding and degradation by their chaperone activity [432]. HSP60 is expressed in the mitochondria but may be translocated to the cytosol and further to the cell surface. Its immunogenicity is attributed to the great sequence homology between human and bacterial forms [433]. Damaged endothelial cells increased HSP60 expression and secretion, favoring the antibody production by B lymphocytes (Figure 11). Since the risk of atherosclerosis is increased in virtually all inflammatory and metabolic disorders, this hypothesis places autoimmunity at the root of the major health burden in the world.



**Figure 11. Autoimmune mechanisms of atherosclerosis.** Endothelial cells under stress overexpress HSP60, inducing the recruitment and adhesion of T cells and monocytes that will further transmigrate into the intima [434]. EC, endothelial cell; ADCC, antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin

Type 1 diabetes has a well-defined autoimmune component with reactivity against islet cells and insulin. B lymphocytes play a major role by infiltrating the pancreas and producing antibodies against insulinoma-associated antigen-2, glutamic acid decarboxylase 65, insulin and zinc transporter 8 [435]. Very interestingly, Oresic and colleagues proposed that lipid and amino acid metabolism dysregulation precedes autoimmunity in type 1 diabetes [436]. They observed reduced levels of phosphatidylcholine and succinic acid but increased glutamic acid and ketoleucine before seroconversion. Although further investigation is needed, these findings may serve as background for the investigation of autoimmunity in other metabolic disorders. In type 2

diabetes, there is not enough evidence supporting autoimmunity although the immune system plays an important role by mediating the inflammatory events that lead to insulin resistance. Type 1.5 diabetes has been proposed and named latent autoimmune diabetes of adults (LADA). Patients with LADA do not require insulin treatment, but are positive for antibodies against islet cells, just like type 1 diabetics. In addition, as in type 2 diabetes, insulin resistance seems to play an important role, but data is controversial [437].

In the case of obesity, autoimmunity has been mostly associated with the thyroid [438, 439]. Despite the relation between hypothyroidism and obesity, Tamer and co-workers observed an association between anti-thyroglobulin autoantibodies and the levels of triglycerides and cholesterol, independent of thyroid function [440]. On the other hand, Lombardi *et al.* found increased autoantibodies against a disintegrin and metalloproteinase with a thrombospondin type 1 motif (ADAMST) 13 in obese subjects and these levels decreased after bariatric surgery [441]. Unfortunately, the mechanisms responsible for obesity-associated autoimmunity are unknown and it is unclear whether autoantibodies are just a consequence or play an important role in the origin of obesity-related complications.

RAGE is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily and has a putative role in immunity. Indeed, binding of phosphatidylserine [66] and complement component C1q [67] to RAGE increases phagocytosis. Furthermore, RAGE knockout mice respond differently to systemic infections, with higher or lower mortality depending on the disease model [58-61]. In autoimmune diseases like Kawasaki disease and Myasthenia gravis, RAGE is over expressed [442, 443].

Soluble RAGE was measured in patients with autoimmune diseases and lower levels were observed in SLE [321], RA [310], Sjögren's syndrome [311] and Myasthenia gravis [444]. Nevertheless, as for other diseases, it remains unclear whether low sRAGE levels represent reduced protection against RAGE-mediated deleterious effects or just a

fingerprint of such mechanisms. In addition, the recently described anti-sRAGE autoantibodies [364, 369, 445] further implicate RAGE in autoimmunity, though their biological effects in vivo remain unclear.

## **Chapter Three**

# **Objectives**

Soluble RAGE has been extensively studied in human diseases and widely proposed as a biomarker of metabolic and inflammatory complications. However, its levels are controversial and demand a closer examination of the factors that might regulate them.

As a pattern-recognition receptor, sRAGE binds a great diversity of ligands and their effects on sRAGE quantification are unclear. In this context, anti-sRAGE autoantibodies emerge as possible sRAGE-binding molecules and as potential immunological component of metabolic and inflammatory diseases, where RAGE expression is increased. Nevertheless, anti-sRAGE autoantibodies remain to be better studied.

The objectives of this study were:

- ω To investigate the effects of RAGE ligands and anti-RAGE autoantibodies on sRAGE quantification, in order to evaluate a possible role of these molecules in the variation of sRAGE levels presented in the scientific literature. This objective was developed in the first article of this thesis.
- ω To evaluate, in a well-established cohort in Lille (ABOS), if serum levels of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies are associated with morbid obesity, weight loss and metabolic improvement after gastric bypass. This objective was developed in the second article of this thesis.

# **Chapter Four**

# Articles

The research developed specifically in this thesis originated two manuscripts that were submitted to peer-reviewed journals. The first manuscript, "Do RAGE ligands or anti-sRAGE autoantibodies interfere with sRAGE quantification?" was accepted for publication in the journal *Annals of Clinical Biochemistry* and is presented herein in its accepted version. The second manuscript, entitled "Anti-sRAGE autoantibody: a new biomarker during obesity" was submitted to the *International Journal of Obesity* and is currently under review. It is presented here in its original version.

# 4.1 Do RAGE ligands or anti-sRAGE autoantibodies interfere with sRAGE quantification?

Rodrigo Lorenzi<sup>1</sup>, Nicolas Grossin<sup>1</sup>, Marc Lambert<sup>1</sup>, Maité Daroux<sup>1,3</sup>, Zoubir Adjoutah<sup>2</sup>, Christophe Flahaut<sup>4</sup>, Philippe Jacolot<sup>5</sup>, Frédéric J. Tessier<sup>5</sup>, Didier Lefranc<sup>2</sup>, Pierre Desremaux<sup>6</sup>, Sylvain Dubucquoi<sup>2</sup>, Eric Boulanger<sup>1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>Vascular Aging Biology, Blood-Vessel Interface and Vascular Repair Unit, EA2693, Lille School of Medicine, Lille2 University, Lille, France

<sup>2</sup>Lymphocyte Homeostasis and Deregulation Unit, EA2686, Lille School of Medicine, Lille2 University, Lille, France.

<sup>3</sup>Department of Nephrology, Duchenne Hospital. Boulogne-sur-Mer, France.

<sup>4</sup>Blood-Brain Barrier Physiopathology Laboratory, EA2465, Artois University, Lens, France

<sup>5</sup>EGEAL, Institut Polytechnique LaSalle Beauvais, Beauvais, France.

<sup>6</sup>Inflammatory Bowel Diseases Unit, INSERM U995, Lille School of Medicine, Lille2 University, Lille, France

### Abstract

*Background:* The soluble form of the receptor for advanced glycation end-products (sRAGE) has been studied in various diseases. It is not clear why sRAGE levels vary between studies, with controversial results. What also remains to be determined is whether RAGE ligands could affect sRAGE assessment by epitope masking. Recently described anti-sRAGE autoantibodies may play an interfering role. The aim of this study was therefore to investigate the influence of RAGE ligands and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies on sRAGE quantification.

*Methods:* The RAGE ligands carboxymethyllysine (CML; AGEs with a high affinity to RAGE), S100 proteins, high mobility group protein B1 (HMGB1), and β-amyloid peptide (aβ) were tested by ELISA with recombinant sRAGE (rHu-sRAGE), or serum from healthy controls. Using ELISA, anti-sRAGE autoantibodies (IgGs) were identified in hemodialysis (HD) patients, then purified and incubated with rHu-sRAGE or serum to investigate their effects on sRAGE levels.

*Results:* RAGE ligands, either alone at 3 different concentrations (CML was also tested at different glycation levels) or a mixture of all these ligands did not affect sRAGE levels when incubated with rHu-sRAGE or control serum. Compared to healthy controls, HD patients have higher levels of sRAGE (p<0.001) and anti-sRAGE IgGs (p<0.05). However, incubation of rHu-sRAGE with purified IgGs from HD patients had no effect on sRAGE quantification.

*Conclusions:* RAGE ligands or anti-sRAGE autoantibodies did not interfere with sRAGE quantification. Further studies are required to elucidate the variability in sRAGE levels reported in the literature, and to define the potential of sRAGE for use as a reliable biomarker.

### Introduction

Metabolic and inflammatory disorders constitute a major health problem and thus an additional socio-economic burden, and are among the leading causes of mortality and morbidity throughout the world [373, 395, 406, 446, 447]. Although much progress has been made in the fields of prognosis and diagnosis, effective and reliable biomarkers are still needed. Triglycerides and LDL-cholesterol (associated with dyslipidemia, caused by abnormally high levels of lipids and lipoproteins in the blood), glycated hemoglobin and, more recently, C-reactive protein (CRP) are well identified as vascular risk biomarkers [448]. A large number of vascular complications may occur in the course of diseases that do not have specific vascular biomarkers (e.g. renal failure, hypertension, vascular aging). To prevent and more easily manage such risk, new vascular biomarkers need to be found.

RAGE, the receptor for advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) is a multiligand receptor belonging to the immunoglobulin superfamily of cell-surface molecules [1]. It is known to play a major vascular role in metabolic (e.g. diabetes mellitus, renal failure) and inflammatory disorders, and RAGE activation is followed by pro-inflammatory, pro-thrombotic and neoangiogenic cell responses.[21, 22, 449-451] RAGE contains an intracellular domain, a short transmembrane domain and an extracellular domain consisting of 3 immunoglobulin-like regions, i.e. 1 'V' type followed by 2 'C' types. The 'V' type is essential for most ligand binding [98].

Soluble RAGE (sRAGE) corresponds to the extracellular domain, and is able to act as a decoy to avoid interaction between RAGE and its pro-inflammatory ligands. Carboxymethyllysine (CML, the AGE with highest affinity to RAGE),[134] S100/calgranulins, high-mobility group protein B1 (HMGB1/amphoterin) and  $\beta$ -amyloid peptide (a $\beta$ ) are the most widely studied RAGE ligands [28, 452]. These ligands bind to different sites of sRAGE (Fig. 1) [98].



### Figure 1. RAGE ligands bind to different sites of sRAGE.

As a pattern-recognition receptor, RAGE has different binding sites depending on which ligand is involved. The preferential binding sites for anti-sRAGE autoantibodies have not yet been determined. CML (carboxymethyllysine), S100A6, S100A12 or S100B, HMGB1 (high-mobility group protein B1), a $\beta$  (amyloid beta peptide).

sRAGE has been extensively studied in patients with diabetes or renal failure, and in subjects with certain inflammatory vascular diseases [221, 275, 278]. Although sRAGE may play a potential role as a decoy receptor and vascular biomarker, its quantification remains a subject of controversy. While associations between sRAGE levels and disease severity/complications are often observed, it is surprising to note that for the same disease, the results regarding such associations are frequently conflicting: some may be negative, others positive[212, 217, 220, 221, 224, 258, 260]. Certain factors are also considered to modulate sRAGE levels, including drug intake, renal failure, RAGE polymorphisms and advancing age.

As sRAGE quantification is performed worldwide by ELISA, in this study it was hypothesized that RAGE ligands might impair its quantification by masking its epitopes. In addition, the role of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies was also investigated (their activity has been described in Alzheimer's disease and in the course of rheumatoid arthritis) [369, 445], thereby increasing the range of RAGE-binding molecules.

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of CML, S100 A6, A12 or B, HMGB1 and  $a\beta$  binding on the 3 domains of sRAGE, and that of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies on sRAGE quantification by ELISA.

### Materials and Methods

### Chemicals

HMGB1 (ab82100), S100 A6 (ab104645), A12 (ab103393) and B (ab54050) were purchased from Abcam. Anti-CML antibodies (MAB3247) and Fc-free recombinant human sRAGE (FcFree-rHu-sRAGE) (SRG00) were purchased from R&D Systems. Human recombinant sRAGE without the IgG crystallisable fragment (Fc) was used to avoid nonspecific antibody interactions in the quantification of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies. The other experiments were performed using Fc-conjugated sRAGE (rHu-sRAGE) (1145-RG-050) from R&D Systems. Anti-human IgG antibodies (A3187), aβ (A1075), glyoxylic acid (G10601), human serum albumin (HSA) (A3782) and sodium cyanoborohydride (156159) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Para-nitrophenylphosphate (pNPP) (EU1-2001-100) was purchased from Euromedex. CML-modified human serum albumin (CML-HSA) was obtained as previously described [453]. Briefly, HSA (50 mg/ml) was incubated for 16 h at 37°C in the presence of glyoxylic acid (60 mM) and sodium cyanoborohydride (20 mM) in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), pH 7.8. The solution was then extensively dialyzed against PBS, and the level of glycation was analyzed by 2,4,6-trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid (TNBS) free lysine assay [454]. HSA-CML glycation levels were obtained with between 5% to 60% of modified lysine residues.

### Effect of RAGE ligands on sRAGE quantification using rHu-sRAGE or control serum

To assess the effect of RAGE ligands on sRAGE quantification, rHu-sRAGE (625, 1250 and 2500 pg/ml) was incubated in triplicate for 1 h at room temperature (RT) with CML-HSA (10, 100 and 1000 µg/ml), S100A6 (10, 100 and 1000 ng/ml), S100A12 (10, 100 and 1000 ng/ml), S100B (10, 100 and 1000 ng/ml), HMGB1 (1, 10 and 100 ng/ml) or aβ (1, 10 and 100 ng/ml) respectively, at concentrations ranging from physiological to supraphysiological levels. Since the extent of glycation affects RAGE binding affinity [81], all the tested incubations of CML-HSA were also performed at 3 levels of glycation (5%, 30% and 60%). One experiment was also carried out with a mixture of all these ligands at their highest concentration, and also at the highest glycation level for CML-HSA. All ligand solutions were prepared in PBS containing 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 10 µM ZnCl<sub>2</sub>. To investigate the presence of a possible matrix effect resulting in stronger interactions between sRAGE and its ligands, the effects of the aforementioned RAGE ligands (under the same conditions) on serum sRAGE quantification were analyzed. Sera from 4 healthy control subjects were incubated for 1 h at RT with CML-HSA, S100A6, S100A12 or S100B, HMGB1 or aβ. Each serum sample was also incubated with a mixture of all the selected ligands at their highest concentration.

### sRAGE measurement

sRAGE quantification was performed using a Quantikine Human RAGE ELISA kit (R&D Systems) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, a 50  $\mu$ L sample (rHu-sRAGE sRAGE + ligand; or serum + ligand) was added to anti-sRAGE-coated wells and incubated at RT for 2 h. The wells were then washed in rinsing buffer, following which 200  $\mu$ L of peroxidase-conjugated anti-sRAGE solution were added and incubated for 2 h. The wells were washed again and the substrate solution (200  $\mu$ L) was incubated for 30 minutes, and kept away from the light. The reaction was stopped with 50  $\mu$ L of stop

solution, and optical density (OD) was measured at 450 nm in a microplate reader (Multiskan Ascent 354, Thermo Scientific).

### Study subjects

To assess the effect of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies on sRAGE quantification, their presence was investigated in hemodialysis (HD) patients who are known to have high serum levels of AGEs and to suffer from an inflammatory state [455]. The latter state led the present authors to hypothesize that such patients might be good candidates for producing anti-sRAGE autoantibodies. A total of 36 HD patients were recruited from the Duchenne Hospital (Boulogne-sur-Mer, France). The only exclusion criterion was the presence of diabetes. Table 1 presents the patient characteristics. The control group included 46 healthy blood donors (Etablissement Français du Sang, Lille, France). Recruitment and blood collection were performed according to the Declaration of Helsinki, with the informed consent of all the study subjects.

### Anti-sRAGE autoantibody quantification by ELISA

The quantification of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies (IgGs) was adapted from a previously reported protocol [445]. Nunc Maxisorp<sup>TM</sup> F8 96-well microplates (Thermo Scientific) were coated with FcFree-rHu-sRAGE (0.5  $\mu$ g/well) in PBS overnight at 4°C. After coating, the wells were washed and then saturated with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) in PBS saturation buffer for 45 min at RT. The buffer was then removed, the wells were washed again and the sera diluted (1:100) in saturation buffer. Samples (100  $\mu$ L/well) were incubated for 2 h at RT. Following this, the wells were washed four times, then 100  $\mu$ L alkaline phosphatase-conjugated anti-human IgG were added to each well (1:2000 in saturation buffer) then incubated for 45 min at RT. The wells were washed 5 times in

saturation buffer and 100 µL of 1 mg/ml pNPP were added to each well and incubated for 1 h at 37°C. Optical density was measured at 405 nm in a microplate reader. Samples were measured in duplicate, and anti-sRAGE IgG titers were calculated by subtracting the blank control sample (wells not coated with FcFree-rHu-sRAGE) from the duplicate mean.

The specificity of the ELISA was confirmed by Western blot using serum from HD patients with low and high anti-sRAGE IgG levels (migration of rHu-sRAGE in SDS–PAGE, transfer to a PVDF membrane, incubation of serum within the membrane, and revelation using peroxidase-conjugated anti-human IgG antibody) (not shown).

To confirm that anti-sRAGE autoantibodies were not just glycated IgGs which could bind to sRAGE as it is a glycated protein receptor, IgG glycation level was assessed by dot– blot (anti-CML antibody) (Fig. 2A) and liquid chromatography coupled to linear ion-trap tandem mass spectrometry (LC–MS/MS), as previously described (Fig. 2B) [456]. Dot– blot and LC–MS/MS were performed with purified IgGs from HD patients with high (n=8) and low (n=8) anti-sRAGE IgG levels.

### Effect of purified IgGs on sRAGE quantification using rHu-sRAGE or control serum

The effect of IgGs on sRAGE quantification was assessed by incubating rHu-sRAGE or serum from healthy controls with purified IgGs from HD patients with the lowest (n=8) and highest (n=8) anti-sRAGE IgG titers (Quantikine). IgG fractions were obtained using a MAb-Trap kit (GE Healthcare, Buc, France). Briefly, serum (0.5 mL) was filtered (0.2 $\mu$ m) and diluted 1:1 in binding buffer, applied to a protein G–sepharose column and washed in binding buffer. Bound IgGs were eluted with elution buffer into tubes containing 200  $\mu$ L/ml neutralizing buffer. The eluted fractions were dialyzed against PBS and the protein content was assayed using a BCA Protein Assay (Thermo Scientific).

Purified IgGs (0.1, 0.5 and 1 mg/ml) from patients with low and high anti-sRAGE autoantibody levels were incubated in triplicate with rHu-sRAGE at 625, 1250 and 2500 pg/ml and also with sera from 4 healthy controls for 1 h at RT (Quantikine).



### Figure 2. Glycation levels of purified IgGs are independent of anti-sRAGE activity.

Carboxymethyllysine (CML) content was analyzed in purified IgGs from HD patients with low (n=8) and high (n=8) anti-sRAGE IgG levels. Serum IgGs were purified using a protein G-sepharose column. IgG fractions were spotted onto a nitrocellulose membrane and blotted with anti-CML antibody (A, top). Spot intensity was analyzed with ImageJ software (A, bottom). The CML content of purified IgGs was also analyzed by LC-MS/MS (B). Mean + SEM (n=8). No statistically significant difference was observed (Student's *t*-test).

### Statistical analysis

Anti-sRAGE autoantibodies and sRAGE levels were compared between the control group and HD patients using Student's *t*-test. The effect of RAGE ligands and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies on sRAGE quantification was analyzed by 1-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by Tukey's test. A p<0.05 value was considered as being statistically significant.

Male (n)	15 (42%)
Age (yr)	65±17 [26 – 91]
BMI <sup>a</sup>	25.47±4.95 [19 – 43]
CRP <sup>♭</sup> (mg/l)	12.15±21.18 [4 – 126]
Hemoglobin	10.83±1.18 [8.2 – 12.4]
ESRD: <sup>c</sup>	
Urological disease	10 (27.8%)
Vascular nephropathy	9 (25%)
Polycystic kidney disease	8 (22.2%)
Glomerular disease	5 (13.9%)
Interstitial nephropathy	4 (11.1%)

### Table 1. Patient characteristics

<sup>a</sup>Body mass index; <sup>b</sup> C-reactive protein; <sup>c</sup> End-stage renal disease; [] range.

### Results

# RAGE ligands do not affect sRAGE quantification (using rHu-sRAGE or control serum)

When incubated singly with rHu-sRAGE, CML–HSA (10, 100 and 1000  $\mu$ g/ml), S100A6 (10, 100 and 1000 ng/ml), S100A12 (10, 100 and 1000 ng/ml), S100B (10, 100 and 1000 ng/ml), HMGB1 (1, 10 and 100 ng/ml) or a $\beta$  (1, 10 and 100 ng/ml) or mixed together (at the highest concentration for each above-mentioned RAGE ligand), this had no effect on recombinant sRAGE quantification at 625, 1250 or 2500 pg/ml. Figure 3A shows the

sRAGE levels after incubation with the highest concentrations of these ligands. However, since other serum components could also affect ligand-binding affinity, the influence of the matrix effect was investigated by incubating the same RAGE ligands with sera from healthy control subjects. None of the tested concentrations were found to alter the serum levels of sRAGE as quantified by ELISA (Fig. 3B). In addition, no effect of CML–HSA on sRAGE quantification was observed, whatever the level of glycation (not shown). Figures 3A and 3B show the results obtained for CML–HSA with 60% modified lysine residues.



# Figure 3. Effect of RAGE ligands on sRAGE quantification.

After incubation of rHu-sRAGE with CML-HSA, S100A6, S100A12, s100B, HMGB1 or aß alone and then with a mixture of all these ligands combined at their highest concentration (All), no effects on sRAGE quantification were observed (A). The same RAGE ligands were incubated with sera from healthy control subjects. Serum sRAGE levels were normalized to the normal values of each patient (serum + PBS), represented by the dashed line. No statistically significant effects were observed (p>0.05) (B). Mean + SEM.

### sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibody levels are increased in HD patients

Compared to healthy control subjects, HD patients had significantly higher serum sRAGE levels (3449±1752 pg/ml vs 1113±456 pg/ml, p<0.0001) (Fig. 4A). In addition, it was possible to identify HD patients with anti-sRAGE autoantibodies; the titers of anti-sRAGE lgGs were significantly higher in HD patients than in controls (OD 0.29±0.26 vs OD 0.19±0.13, p<0.05) (Fig. 4B). However, no correlation between sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibody levels was observed (Figs 4C and 4D) either in the control group or in the HD patient group, although the latter presented significantly higher levels of these two biomarkers. The absence of an inverse correlation between sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibody levels, particularly in the HD patient group, was not in favor of the hypothesis initially put forward that anti-sRAGE antibodies might mask sRAGE epitopes and thus affect sRAGE quantification by ELISA ( $r^2$ =0.01).



### Figure 4. sRAGE and anti-sRAGE antibody levels in HD patients.

Serum sRAGE levels in control subjects (n=46) and HD patients (n=36) (A). These levels were measured twice for each patient. (B) Anti-sRAGE autoantibody titers in HD patients and control subjects. No significant association between sRAGE and anti-sRAGE levels was observed in control subjects (C) or in HD patients (D). Bars indicate the means in panels A and B.

# Purified IgGs do not affect sRAGE quantification (using rHu-sRAGE or control serum)

The effect of purified IgGs on sRAGE quantification was further analyzed. Purified IgGs (0.1, 0.5 and 1 mg/ml) from HD patients with low (n=8) or high (n=8) anti-sRAGE IgG levels did not affect recombinant sRAGE quantification at 625, 1250 or 2500 pg/ml (Fig. 5A). However, since other serum components could also have an impact on ligand-binding affinity, the possible influence of the matrix effect was investigated by incubating purified IgGs with sera from healthy control subjects (n=4). None of the purified IgGs tested and obtained from patients with low or high anti-sRAGE IgGs was found to affect serum sRAGE levels as quantified by ELISA (Fig. 5B). Figures 5A and 5B show the results following incubation with 1 mg/ml of purified IgGs.



# Figure 5. Effect of purified IgGs on sRAGE quantification.

Purified IgGs from HD patients with low and high auto-sRAGE IgG levels were incubated with rHu-sRAGE (A) or with serum from healthy control subjects (B). Serum sRAGE levels were normalized to the normal values of each patient (serum + PBS), represented by the dashed line. No statistically significant difference was observed. Mean + SEM.

### Discussion

In this study, it has been demonstrated that RAGE ligands CML–HSA, S100A6, S100A12, S100B, HMGB1 and aβ or a mixture of all these ligands at their highest concentration do not affect sRAGE quantification. While not considered as being RAGE ligands, the activity of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies has already been investigated in the literature, but their effects on RAGE binding have yet to be elucidated. Herein, HD patients were identified with increased anti-sRAGE titers, and IgGs from their sera were further purified. However, when incubated with rHu-sRAGE or control sera, these IgGs had no effect on sRAGE quantification.

RAGE was first described as a binding protein for AGEs and was later found to be a pattern-recognition receptor that binds to several members of the S100/calgranulin family, HMGB1, and  $a\beta$  [1]. More recently, lipopolysaccharides (LPS) and phosphatidylserine have also been reported to bind to RAGE [61, 457]. However, in the present work LPS and phosphatidylserine were not tested because their RAGE binding sites have not yet been identified, and these two groups of molecules have not been fully studied as RAGE ligands. As regards RAGE, ligand binding takes place independently of a specific amino-acid sequence [82].

Ligands can bind to RAGE in different domains, suggesting that simultaneous molecular binding is possible. AGEs and HMGB1 mainly bind to the V-domain while S100B [64], S100A6 and S100A12 bind to the VC1 and C1C2 domains, and aβ to the V and C1 domains (Fig. 1) [167]. HMGB1 is the ligand with the highest binding affinity to RAGE, followed by CML. The absence of effect of HMGB1 alone on sRAGE quantification has been previously reported [310]. All the sRAGE domains were investigated in the present study using CML–HSA, S100A6, S100A12, S100B, HMGB1 or aβ. Moreover, epitope masking has been described in the literature as a problematical issue in ELISA protocols, e.g. resulting in lower anti-aβ binding in the presence of aβ fibrils and aggregates [458,

459]. Furthermore, epitope masking via phosphorylation has also been demonstrated for the DO-1 domain of p53 [460], as well as for the binding of cardiolipins to anti- $\beta_2$ -glycoprotein 1 antibodies [461].

The evaluation of sRAGE blood levels is solely based on ELISA tests. Therefore, it is possible that epitope masking via steric hindrance could interfere with the results of the ELISA test and lead to an under-assessment of serum sRAGE levels. Moreover, the amino-acid sequences recognized by the antibodies of the most commonly used ELISA kits are not available, making it difficult to predict the effect of epitope masking on the quantitative evaluation of sRAGE levels. On the other hand, sRAGE quantification has been shown to be stable through time and to vary minimally between serum and plasma [351]. Wittwer and colleagues also demonstrated that sRAGE levels are comparable between EDTA and heparin sampling, with no loss after repeated freeze-thaw cycles [462]. These previous works, combined with the present results, corroborates the robustness of the assay. Moreover, RAGE–ligand interactions are of electrostatic in nature and antibody affinity maturation could create stronger interactions between sRAGE and commercially produced antibodies [82].

In the present study, after demonstrating for the first time that HD patients produce antisRAGE autoantibodies, it was shown that there was no correlation between sRAGE levels and anti-sRAGE autoantibody activity. However, since it is possible that the production of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies could be induced by glycated proteins and sRAGE itself [364], it is not surprising that uremic patients, who have increased AGE and sRAGE levels and thus suffer from a complex inflammatory state, could develop autoantibodies. Secondly, when incubated with recombinant sRAGE or sera, the purified anti-sRAGE lgGs from these patients had no effect on sRAGE quantification as measured by ELISA. In fine, this does not rule out an interaction between anti-sRAGE and sRAGE, although it suggests that the antibodies used in the ELISA method have a higher affinity for, and/or recognize a different epitope. Moreover, purified IgGs from these patients displayed different levels of

glycation which had no association with anti-sRAGE titers (Fig. 2). It is important to point out this aspect, since it could represent a certain bias in the present study methodology. The validity of antigen–antibody binding was also confirmed by Western blot (not shown). The pathophysiology of anti-sRAGE autoantibody production has not been elucidated, and even less the relevance of these autoantibodies as biomarkers. It is suggested here that this may involve a possible autoimmune reaction to vascular dysfunction induced by RAGE ligands that stimulate sRAGE production and subsequent anti-sRAGE autoantibody formation.

The role of sRAGE as a useful vascular biomarker remains uncertain, since a number of factors can influence its serum levels. As mentioned in the Introduction, depending on the authors in question, sRAGE levels have been reported as being either negatively or positively correlated with the severity of the same disease [217, 220, 221, 224, 258, 260]. Thus the findings in this respect are contradictory. Factors capable of modulating sRAGE levels such as angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors or statins have not met with general consensus in the literature [219, 231, 328]. Among these various factors, age, RAGE polymorphisms, smoking body-mass index and ethnicity could well play an important role in varying sRAGE levels [219, 317, 322, 353]. Furthermore, strong evidence suggests a role of kidney dysfunction in increased sRAGE levels, although the specific mechanisms are unclear [275, 278, 280]. Compared to healthy young individuals, significantly higher sRAGE levels have been reported in healthy centenarians,[463] and a difference of around 500 pg/ml sRAGE has been associated with Gly82Ser polymorphism [350]. However, to date nothing has yet been reported on sRAGE blood levels after a high AGE-containing meal.

The sRAGE assay measures the pool formed by cleaved sRAGE (cRAGE) and endogenous secretory sRAGE (esRAGE) [199]. The secreted form has also been studied as a biomarker for vascular risk. In the present study, we did not specifically investigate

esRAGE since it has the same amino-acid sequence for the ligand-binding domains of cRAGE.

Although the hypothesis that RAGE ligands or anti-sRAGE autoantibodies might negatively affect sRAGE quantification was not confirmed, it can now be underlined that the ELISA technique for sRAGE quantification is an extremely reliable method. The use of sRAGE as a valid biomarker has still to be determined, and in this regard the reports in the literature remain controversial. In the present study, it was demonstrated that antisRAGE autoantibodies could be detected in HD patients. Nonetheless, further studies are necessary to more fully assess the role of RAGE ligands and sRAGE on anti-sRAGE autoantibody formation as well as the potential role of such autoantibodies as potential biomarkers for vascular autoimmunity.

**Acknowledgements:** The authors gratefully acknowledge the assistance and invaluable technical expertise provided by Carine Hauspie and Sandrine Vuye from the laboratory of Lymphocyte Homeostasis and Deregulation, Lille2 University.

### General Conclusions

We have, therefore, demonstrated that the presence of RAGE ligands and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies does not impair sRAGE quantification, suggesting that other variables are responsible for the huge variation in sRAGE levels observed in the literature. In addition, we found anti-sRAGE autoantibodies in serum of HD patients. These observations conducted us to the second part of this thesis, where we investigated a population with well defined inclusion/exclusion criteria, with the aim of evaluating the association of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies with metabolic parameters.

### 4.2 Anti-sRAGE autoantibody: a new biomarker during obesity

Rodrigo Lorenzi<sup>1</sup>, François Pattou<sup>2</sup>, Jean-Baptiste Beuscart<sup>3</sup>, Nicolas Grossin<sup>1</sup>, Marc Lambert<sup>1</sup>, Pierre Fontaine<sup>4</sup>, Robert Caiazzo<sup>2</sup>, Marie Pigeyre<sup>2</sup>, Alexandre Patrice<sup>2</sup>, Maité Daroux<sup>1,5</sup>, Eric Boulanger<sup>1</sup>, Sylvain Dubucquoi<sup>6</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Vascular Aging Biology, Blood-Vessel Interface and Vascular Repair Unit, EA2693, Lille School of Medicine, Lille2 University, Lille, France.

<sup>2</sup>Departement of General and Endocrine Surgery, Lille Regional University Hospital, Lille, France.

<sup>3</sup>Department of Biostatistics, EA2694, CERIM, Lille School of Medicine, Lille2 University, Lille, France.

<sup>4</sup>Department of Endocrinology-Diabetes, Lille Regional University Hospital, Lille, France.

<sup>5</sup>Department of Nephrology, Duchenne Hospital. Boulogne-sur-Mer, France

<sup>6</sup>Lymphocyte Homeostasis and Deregulation Unit, EA2686, Lille School of Medicine, Lille2 University, Lille, France.

Submitted to the International Journal of Obesity on July 30<sup>th</sup>.
## Abstract

**Background/Objectives:** Morbid obesity increases risk of cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) and is closely associated with insulin resistance. Usual markers of obesityassociated risk are lipid profile and adipokines. The receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE) is implicated in proinflammatory processes that underlie CVDs and insulin resistance. Its soluble form (sRAGE) has been measured in several human diseases and is proposed as a biomarker of risk, disease severity and outcome. Recently, anti-sRAGE autoantibodies were described and were shown to be increased in diseases where RAGE is overexpressed. In this study we aimed to investigate serum levels of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies in morbidly obese patients. The impact of weight loss on their levels, one year after bariatric surgery, was also evaluated.

**Subjects/Methods:** From the ABOS cohort (Lille, France) of 750 obese patients, after exclusion criteria, 150 subjects were randomly included in this work. Serum sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies were measured after overnight fasting before bariatric surgery. Sixty nine patients were followed up to one year after gastric bypass. Levels of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies were measured. Control group consisted of blood donors.

**Results:** Baseline levels of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies were significantly higher in obese patients compared to controls (p<0.001). One year after gastric bypass, RAGE and anti-sRAGE decreased (p<0.001), although the latter remained higher than controls. The decrease in anti-sRAGE autoantibodies was correlated with the increase in high-density lipoprotein (HDL) (p=0.02).

**Conclusion:** Morbid obesity increases sRAGE and anti-sRAGE levels. Weight loss after gastric bypass is followed by a decrease of both titers. The decrease of anti-sRAGE correlates with the increase of HDL. These findings suggest that anti-sRAGE

autoantibodies may be a new biomarker to manage metabolic improvement during obesity.

### Introduction

Morbid obesity is a worldwide disease that achieved an epidemic status and grows rapidly in numbers. Obesity is characterized by impaired health due to excess of body fat.[406] In practice, a body-mass index (BMI)  $\geq$ 30 defines obesity. Obesity is one of the diagnostic components of metabolic syndrome and is associated with insulin resistance and increased vascular risk. Higher coronary heart disease incidence has been related to overweight in different studies.[409-411] To date, gastric bypass is one of the most efficient surgical procedures for weight loss, with up to 68% fat content reduction and improvement of metabolic function.[416]

Due to its complex physiopathology, obesity-associated complications are hard to evaluate and several molecules have been studied as biomarkers. High levels of triglycerides, low-density lipoprotein (LDL) and low levels of high-density lipoprotein (HDL) are characteristic of obesity and often associated with co-morbidities.[464-466] Adipokines, which often have deregulated secretion in obese subjects, are also associated with cardiometabolic risk. The high levels of leptin and leptin resistance observed in the obese are known to contribute to the proinflammatory and pro-thrombotic status of these subjects.[467] On the other hand, adiponectin levels are decreased in obesity and are associated with vascular dysfunction.[468]

The receptor of advanced glycation end-products (RAGE) is a multi-ligand receptor involved in pro-inflammatory and pro-ageing processes. RAGE engagement increases reactive oxygen species (ROS) and induces the expression of adhesion molecules and vascular endothelial growth factor.[21, 22, 89, 191] In adipocytes, RAGE activation

induces an increase in ROS that mediates insulin resistance.[47, 469] The soluble form of RAGE (sRAGE) acts as a decoy receptor, preventing RAGE activation.[10, 254, 470] Soluble RAGE has been extensively studied as a biomarker of vascular risk and metabolic dysfunction. Lower levels of sRAGE were observed in diabetics with vascular complications.[221, 258] Moreover, in the general population, sRAGE levels are inversely correlated with BMI, waist-hip ratio and fasting glucose.[317] Very interestingly, it has been shown that levels of sRAGE were restored after bariatric surgery in morbidly obese patients.[356] In addition, this increase in sRAGE levels was associated with improvement of insulin resistance. Nevertheless, sRAGE levels among publications are controversial, a fact that demands rigorous selection of study populations in order to evaluate the true value of sRAGE as a biomarker.

Recently, autoantibodies directed against sRAGE were found increased in the sera of Alzheimer's disease and rheumatoid arthritis patients.[369, 445] Although they correlate with dementia scores,[369-371, 471] it has been proposed that anti-sRAGE autoantibodies could play a protective role, preventing amyloid  $\beta$  (A $\beta$ ) toxicity through RAGE.[372] Our group has observed increased levels of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies in hemodialysis patients,[472] which could be associated to impaired glomerular filtration and increased sRAGE levels.

In this work, we aimed to estimate the value of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies as markers of metabolic homeostasis. To minimize confounding factors, we investigated a well-defined population of morbidly obese patients (ABOS cohort). The association of both titers with metabolic improvement after weight loss surgery was also evaluated.

### Materials and Methods

### Study population

Patients included in this study were enrolled in ABOS (ClinicalGov NCT01129297). This prospective cohort study is ongoing at the Department of General and Endocrine Surgery, in Lille, France, and currently follows the 750 obese patients who were eligible for or underwent gastric bypass (Roux-en-Y). It aims at studying the effect of bariatric surgery on diabetes and glucose regulation. Details on the ABOS cohort study have been published elsewhere.[473] The exclusion criteria were chosen to avoid any factors that could influence sRAGE levels, as follows: hypertension, glomerular filtration rate <90ml/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> (Modified of Diet in Renal Disease), angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEi), angiotensin receptor antagonists (ARA2) or satins medication and smokers.

From the whole cohort, 254 obese patients were enrolled. As the main topic of the ABOS study is the glucose regulation in obese patients, these subjects were further subclassified into three groups of patients with diabetes or lesser degrees of impaired glucose regulation. Accordingly, the oral glucose tolerance test criteria for *normoglycemia* are fasting plasma glucose concentration (FPG) < 5.5 mmol/l and 2-h PG < 7.7 mmol/l; *glucose intolerant*: FPG > 5.5 mmol/l and < 6.9 mmol/l or 2-h PG between 7.7 and 10.9 mmol/l; *Type 2 diabetes*: FPG > 6.9 mmol/l or 2-h PG > 11 mmol/l. According to preliminary works of our group (unpublished data), we estimated the number of subjects to include in order to detect a difference in anti-sRAGE antibodies between normoglycemic, glucose intolerant and type 2 diabetes patients. Because three groups were tested, we used the Bonferoni correction providing a significance level of 0.016 (0.05/3). Given a power of 90%, a significance level of 0.016, the expected means and deviations, the number of patients to be included was 50 subjects in each group (46 + 10% security). We therefore randomly included 150 patients in this study, subclassified in

normoglycemics, glucose intolerants and type 2 diabetics (n=50 for each). The control group included 46 healthy blood donors (Etablissement Français du Sang, Lille, France). Recruitment and blood collection were performed according to the Declaration of Helsinki, with the informed consent of all the study subjects. After baseline analysis, we screened patients who underwent a gastric bypass followed by a one year medical check-up and had available frozen serum at one year. The 69 patients who met these further selection criteria were included in the second part of the study on evolution of the anti-sRage concentration. The flow-chart of patients selection is presented in figure 1.

### sRAGE quantification by ELISA

Serum sRAGE levels were quantified using the Quantikine ELISA kit by R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions. Each sample was analyzed in duplicate, incubating 50µl of serum for 2h in 96-wells microplates pre-coated with anti-sRAGE antibody. Wells were washed 4 times with provided washing buffer and peroxidase-conjugated anti-sRAGE was incubated for 2h at room temperature (RT). Plates were washed again and then incubated with substrate for 30 min, protected from light. Color intensity was measured using a microplate reader (450nm) and sRAGE concentrations were calculated using a standard curve.

#### Anti-sRAGE autoantibodies quantification by ELISA

The quantification of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies (IgGs) was adapted from a previously reported protocol.[445] Nunc Maxisorp<sup>TM</sup> F8 96-well microplates from Thermo Scientific (Waltham, MA, USA) were coated with Fc fragment-free sRAGE (R&D Systems) (0.5  $\mu$ g/well) in phosphate buffer saline (PBS) overnight at 4°C. After coating, the wells were washed and then saturated with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) in PBS saturation buffer

for 45 min at RT. The buffer was then removed, the wells were washed again and the sera diluted (1:100) in saturation buffer. Samples (100  $\mu$ L/well) were incubated for 2h at RT. Following this, the wells were washed four times, then 100  $\mu$ L alkaline phosphatase-conjugated anti-human IgG (Sigma Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) were added to each well (1:2000 in saturation buffer) then incubated for 45 min at RT. The wells were washed 5 times in saturation buffer and 100  $\mu$ L of 1 mg/ml para-nitrophenylphosphate (Euromedex, Strasbourg, France) were added to each well and incubated for 1h at 37°C. Optical density was measured at 405 nm in a microplate reader. Samples were measured in duplicate, and anti-sRAGE IgG titers were calculated by subtracting the blank control sample (wells not coated with sRAGE) from the duplicate mean.

### Statistical Analysis

Baseline characteristics were presented in terms of mean and standard deviation (SD) for continuous variables, and as frequency and percentage for categorical variables. Comparisons were first done at baseline between the three sub-groups of the whole cohort of 150 obese patients and also with controls subjects. sRAGE levels were compared using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by Tukey's test. Levels of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies were compared using Dunn's multiple comparison test.

Comparisons were then made between the characteristics at baseline and one year after bariatric surgery for the 69 obese patients included in the second part of the study. A paired Student t-test was used for all comparisons after verifying for differences in the variance distributions. The percentage of diabetic patients was analyzed by a chi-square test. Lastly, we analyzed the associations between the evolutions in anti-sRAGE antibodies and other characteristics. The Pearson's product moment correlation coefficient was used to test the association between the differences in anti-sRAGE antibodies (baseline value minus value at one year) and the differences in other characteristics (baseline value minus value at one year). The significance level was 0.05 for all tests performed.



**Figure 1. Patients flowchart.** From the initial 750 morbidly obese patients of the ABOS cohort, our study population was selected to exclude factors known to influence sRAGE levels.

# Results

## Baseline levels of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies are higher obese patients

The clinical characteristics of the 150 obese patients of the initial study population are presented in table 1. The 150 patients initially included in this study had higher levels of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies in comparison to the control group (p<0.0001 for both) (Figure 2A and 2B). Among the obese patients, neither sRAGE nor anti-sRAGE levels differ between normoglycemic, glucose intolerant and diabetic patients.

	All	NG	GI	DB
n, (men/women)	150	50 (42/8)	50 (37/13)	50 (34/16)
	(37/113)			
Age, years	35 ± 9	29 ± 8	37 ± 5	40 ± 8
Weight, kg	133.8 ± 24	134 ± 24.4	132 ± 25	135.4 ± 23.3
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	47.1 ± 7.1	46.7 ± 7.2	$46.5 \pm 6.9$	48.2 ± 7.3
SBP, mmHg	130 ± 18.4	130 ± 16.6	128.1 ± 16.9	132 ± 21.4
DBP, mmHg	71.6 ± 14.4	70 ± 16.2	70.2 ± 13.6	74.4 ± 12.9
HbA1 <sub>C</sub> , mmol/mol	45.3 ± 27	35.5 ± 2	41 ± 2	61.7 ± 21
Fasting glucose,mmol/l	6.17 ± 2.5	$4.8 \pm 0.3$	$5.3 \pm 0.6$	8.3 ± 3.4
2h PP glucose, mmol/l	8.25 ± 4.3	5.7 ± 1.2	6.5 ± 1.3	12.5 ± 5.1
sRAGE, pg/ml	1223 ± 354	1301 ± 324	1132 ± 334	1235 ± 388
Anti-sRAGE, absorbance*	$0.76 \pm 0.5$	$0.75 \pm 0.47$	$0.83 \pm 0.57$	$0.70 \pm 0.44$
hs-CRP, mg/l	7.3 ± 2.9	6.9 ± 3.1	7.7 ± 2.5	7.2 ± 3

 Table 1. Clinical data of the initial obese population

Data are expressed as mean ± SD. NG, normoglycemic; GI, glucose intolerant; DB, diabetic; BMI, body mass index; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; HbA1<sub>c</sub>, glycated hemoglobin; PP, postprandial; hs-CRP, high sensitive C-reactive protein.\* Absorbance at 405nm.



**Figure 2**. Levels of sRAGE (A) and anti-sRAGE (B) autoantibodies are higher in morbidly obese patients. Regardless of glucose regulation impairment, morbidly obese patients had higher levels of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies compared to controls. \*p<0.05, \*\*\* p<0.0001, in comparison to control group. NG, normoglycemic; GI, glucose intolerant; DB, diabetics.

### Gastric bypass is followed by a decrease in sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies

Since sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies did not differ according to glucose regulation, we decided to investigate the role of obesity itself. From the original study population, we further selected 69 patients, who were submitted to gastric bypass with a 1 year follow-up. Clinical data of these patients are presented in table 2. One year after weight loss surgery, the percentage of BMI decreased was 31.9% (from 46.7 to 31.8 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), along with an improvement in insulin. After gastric bypass, sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies levels decreased (Figure.3A and 3B). Serum sRAGE after surgery was different from the levels before surgery only (p<0.0001). Anti-sRAGE autoantibodies were significantly lower after surgery (p<0.0001) but still higher in comparison to control (p<0.0001).

### The decrease in anti-sRAGE autoantibodies is associated with the increase in HDL

Univariate analysis showed a correlation between the increase in HDL levels and the decrease of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies after surgery ( $r^2$ =0.077, p=0.02). Figures 4A and 4B represent the correlation between these two parameters and their evolution after surgery, respectively. Other metabolic parameters were not associated with neither anti-sRAGE nor sRAGE levels.

	Pre-surgery	Post-surgery (1 year)	P-value
n, (men/women)	69 (21/48)	69 (21/48)	NA
Age, years	37 ± 9	38 ± 9	NA
Weight, kg	136.1 ± 24	92.8 ± 18.2	<0.0001
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	46.7 ± 9.9	31.8 ± 5.2	<0.0001
Diabetes, n (%)	28 (40%)	5 (7%)	<0.0001
Systolic BP, mmHg	130 ± 22	119 ± 15	<0.0001
Diastolic BP, mmHg	72 ± 16	68 ± 11	0.0045
HbA <sub>1C</sub> , mmol/mol	47.5 ± 17	37.7 ± 8	<0.0001
Fasting glucose, mmol/l	6.51 ± 2.5	5.01 ± 1.7	<0.0001
2h PP glucose, mmol/l	$8.8 \pm 4.5$	4.7 ± 2.4	<0.0001
Fasting insulin, µU/ml	16.7 ± 9.5	9.8 ± 2.7	<0.0001
2h PP insulin, µU/ml	70.3 ± 56.6	16.2 ± 28.6	<0.0001
HOMA-IR	$5 \pm 4.4$	$4.2 \pm 20.2$	<0.0001
hs-CRP, mg/l	6.8 ± 2.9	2.1 ± 2.6	<0.0001
LDL-C, mmol/l	$3.2 \pm 0.7$	$2.6 \pm 0.6$	<0.0001
HDL-C, mmol/l	1.1 ± 0.3	$1.3 \pm 0.3$	<0.0001
Total cholesterol, mmol/l	$5 \pm 0.9$	$4.4 \pm 0.9$	<0.0001
Triglycerides, g/l	1.6 ± 1	1 ± 0.4	<0.0001

Table 2. Clinical data of obese patients

Data are expressed as mean ± SD. BMI, body mass index; BP, blood pressure; HbA<sub>1C</sub>, glycated hemoglobin; PP, postprandial; HOMA-IR, Homeostasis Model of Assessment - Insulin Resistance; hs-CRP, high sensitive C-reactive protein; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol.



Figure 3. Serum levels of sRAGE (A) and anti-sRAGE (B) autoantibodies decrease after bariatric surgery. 69 morbidly obese patients were underwent a gastric bypass. sRAGE and anti-sRAGE levels were measured before and one year after surgery.





### Discussion

Herein we demonstrate that morbidly obese subjects, eligible for a weight loss surgery, present higher serum levels of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies. One year after gastric bypass, both titers decrease significantly. While sRAGE levels after surgery were similar to those of control subjects, anti-sRAGE titers remained higher. We also observed that the increase in HDL levels, an usual consequence of weight loss surgery, was associated with the decrease of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies.

Serum sRAGE levels have been measured in patients from several diseases and sRAGE is often proposed as a biomarker of severity or prognosis. Nonetheless, data is quite controversial, with increased and decreased levels observed for a same disease. The regulation of sRAGE expression, either from membrane RAGE cleavage or from mRNA alternative splicing, is not well elucidated. In vivo, sRAGE levels seem to be modulated by several factors such as ACEi, statins, BMI, RAGE polymorphisms and kidney dysfunction.[219, 317, 322, 353] The higher levels of sRAGE in our group of obese subjects are in contrast with the work of Brix and colleagues,[356] who observed lower levels compared to controls and an increase after bariatric surgery. Concerning such controversial findings, we hypothesize that it is mainly due to inclusion/exclusion criteria. In our ABOS cohort, we highly selected patients that were not under ACEi or statins, nonsmokers and without kidney dysfunction or hypertension. Their study did not include subjects with known diabetes, but we did not observe any influence of diabetes in sRAGE or anti-sRAGE levels. In addition, our study included (one-year follow-up) only patients that were submitted to a gastric bypass (Roux-en-Y). Unfortunately, any possible effects of the surgery type on sRAGE levels were not presented in the other work.

The majority of circulating sRAGE is produced by cleavage of membrane RAGE, which is performed mainly by a disintegrin and metalloproteinase 10 (ADAM10) and matrix metallopeptidase 9 (MMP9).[200] Although it has a putative protective role, studies that

show RAGE blockade use much higher doses of sRAGE than those found in circulation.[474, 475] Furthermore, it remains unknown whether RAGE cleavage follows RAGE activation or it is a simple prevention mechanism. Nevertheless, our findings are in agreement with the hypothesis that sRAGE levels reflect RAGE overexpression.

In rheumatoid arthritis and Alzheimer's disease, [372, 445] anti-sRAGE autoantibodies are believed to play a protective role even though they are associated with dementia scores.[370, 371] An oral vaccine has been developed to increase the production of antisRAGE and anti-A<sub>β</sub>. The vaccine improved cognition in a mice model of Alzheimer's and the developed anti-sRAGE autoantibodies prevented Aβ-induced toxicity to neuronal cells in vitro.[372] New autoantibody reactivity appearance has been reported in relation to the overexpression of autoantigens, especially in a proinflammatory or proapoptotic context.[476] Such autoreactive specificities could contribute to the regulation of the expression and clearance of overexpressed autoantigens.[477, 478] The high levels of anti-sRAGE antibody observed in our study population may be due to the raise in sRAGE levels associated with the increased inflammation process and endothelial dysfunction. Upregulation of inflammatory cytokines, especially TNF- $\alpha$ , and soluble adhesion molecules like soluble vascular adhesion molecule 1 (sVCAM-1) and soluble intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (sICAM-1) has been reported in obese subjects.[479-481] TNF-a and other pro- inflammatory cytokines are implicated in the pathogenesis of autoimmunity, particularly in type 1 diabetes and rheumatoid arthritis.[482, 483]

One year after gastric bypass, serum levels of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies decreased, in parallel with the decrease of inflammation and CRP levels. Likewise, weight loss surgery improved the lipid profile and insulin sensitivity, with 17.8% of diabetes remission. The increase in HDL levels was correlated with the decrease of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies. Low HDL levels are closely associated with increased vascular risk.[466] In a model of systemic lupus erythematosus, autoantibodies against Apo-I were associated with decreased levels of HDL.[484] Chen and colleagues observed a negative

correlation between sRAGE and HDL in RA patients.[176] Although we did not observe correlations between sRAGE levels and the improvement of lipid profile, the parallel decrease of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE suggests a role of RAGE and autoimmunity in the vascular risk associated with dyslipidemia in obesity. In obesity, the role of autoimmunity is still poorly understood. Some studies have proposed a role for leptin. Obesity favors the development of thyroid autoantibodies and those are associated with leptin levels.[485] Leptin acts directly on T lymphocytes,[486] increasing the release of cytokines by Th2 cells, which participate in the humoral immune system.

Our study is the first to demonstrate the presence of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies in morbidly obese patients. Our findings come from a large cohort with well-defined inclusion/exclusion criteria. Although we did not observe strong correlations between sRAGE or anti-sRAGE and parameters associated with metabolic improvement (i.e. weight loss and HOMA index), the decrease of both titers after surgery suggests that their high levels before weight loss were associated with obesity. Moreover, our data concern a short period after surgery, with a still high BMI. A follow-up of two and five years is intended. Hence, the incidence of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies in pre-obese subjects should be further studied to elucidate the role of increased body fat in the development of autoimmunity against RAGE. Therefore, a role for these molecules and the membrane RAGE in the pathophysiology of obesity is to be investigated.

### Acknowledgements

The authors thank Marie-France Six, Carole Eberle, Sarah Surmont (INSERM U859, Lille 2 University, Lille, France) for patient enrolment, sample handling and clinical data collection.

This study was supported in part by grants from "European Genomic Institute for Diabetes" (EGID, ANR-10-LABX-46).

# **Conflict of Interest**

The authors declare that there are no competing financial interests.

# **General Conclusions**

In this article we showed, in a well-defined cohort, that morbidly obese patients have higher levels of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies. In addition, no association of these titers with glucose regulation impairment was found. On the other hand, weight-loss surgery promoted a decrease in both markers. Moreover, the decrease in anti-sRAGE autoantibodies was correlated with the increase in HDL levels, suggesting that autoimmunity against sRAGE has an association with increased cardiovascular risk. In conclusion, morbid obesity leads to an increased autoreactivity against sRAGE which is attenuated after surgical intervention. The associated changes in anti-sRAGE and HDL indicate that anti-sRAGE are related to increased cardiovascular risk.

# **Chapter Five**

# Discussion

## 5.1 From sRAGE to anti-sRAGE autoantibodies

Soluble RAGE levels have been measured in the course of several human diseases and often proposed as markers of severity and predictors of outcome. Nonetheless, very little is known about the regulation of sRAGE formation *in vivo* and there is not a consensus on whether sRAGE levels represent a mechanism of protection or just the overexpression of RAGE. In the literature, several factors are known to influence sRAGE levels (i.e. kidney dysfunction, smoking, RAGE polymorphisms and drug treatment). Because of RAGE promiscuity as a receptor, we hypothesized that, besides the aforementioned factors, the presence of RAGE ligands could impair sRAGE measurement by masking epitopes recognized in its quantification.

Therefore, we incubated different RAGE ligands with recombinant sRAGE and control sera to further measure sRAGE concentration. The presence of RAGE ligands did not impair sRAGE quantification. We aimed also to investigate the effects of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies, which were recently described and could compete with the antibodies of the sRAGE ELISA test. We identified hemodialysis (HD) patients with increased anti-sRAGE titers that were further purified and incubated with recombinant sRAGE and control sera. Nonetheless, the presence of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies did not affect sRAGE quantification. Our findings suggested that the variations in sRAGE levels are not due to an impairment of sRAGE measurement.

On a second moment, we intended to further investigate sRAGE in a well established cohort in order to reduce the biases of its measurement. We also aimed to investigate the presence of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies, since they were increased in HD patients and

their pathophysiological role remains unclear. Hence, we studied a population of 150 morbidly obese patients (ABOS, Lille) who were eligible for a bariatric surgery. Both sRAGE and anti-sRAGE levels were higher in morbidly obese patients compared to controls. Although sRAGE levels are modulated in diabetes, we did not observe any association with the degree of glucose regulation impairment. Then, we further analyzed patients from the original population with a 1-year follow-up after gastric bypass. Sixty nine patients were included and we found a decrease in both sRAGE and anti-sRAGE levels after surgery. Moreover, the decrease in anti-sRAGE autoantibodies was correlated with the increase in HDL-cholesterol, suggesting that autoimmunity against sRAGE have an association with vascular risk.

## 5.2 The sRAGE rollercoaster

In our work we measured sRAGE levels with an ELISA method that quantifies both cRAGE and esRAGE (total sRAGE). Concerning their ligand-binding sites, esRAGE and cRAGE share the same domains and, to date, no ligand was shown to bind the unique amino acid sequence of esRAGE. Although our findings seem to rule out the original hypothesis, they are limited since we use only a simple methodology to assess our question. Preliminary results in our laboratory, using surface plasmon resonance, indicated the presence of high-molecular weight complexes of sRAGE in the serum of diabetic patients. Attempts to quantify free and complexed sRAGE with this technique were proven very hard because of the multifactorial nature of the results (molecular weight, affinity and concentration). An interesting approach would be the use of mass spectrometry to evaluate the ratio of free/complexed sRAGE and value of this information as marker of disease severity and outcome.

ELISA method It is important to notice that the only quantitative is the technique applied to measure sRAGE levels. lt has а high specificity because it uses 2 antibodies: a monoclonal antibody that captures sRAGE from sera and a polyclonal antibody that further binds to sRAGE and is measurable due to its conjugated peroxidase. few in studies measured sRAGE in cell А vitro western blot, but this is culture media using а semi-quantitative method would require pre-treatment of complex samples that like serum. The development of new methods, like liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS), would represent an advantage because of its high specificity and sensitivity, as well as the possibility to investigate isoforms and structural modifications (i.e. oxidation and glycation).

Another limitation of these findings is that they do not provide further information on whether RAGE ligands or anti-sRAGE autoantibodies could influence sRAGE levels by increasing/decreasing cRAGE and esRAGE formation or their clearance. Indeed, immune complexes are cleared by specific receptors and HMGB1, the ligand with the highest affinity, is found in the circulation as part of immune complexes with DNA fragments [487]. These high molecular weight complexes represent the major RAGE-binding activity of HMGB1 [156]. As to the induction of esRAGE and cRAGE formation, RAGE cleavage is known to be modulated by calcium [200, 202], a mechanism that could implicate the involvement of S100 proteins, but no evidence of such regulation has been found. On the other hand, methylglyoxal-modified albumin was shown to induce the transcription of esRAGE [325]. It was also hypothesized that sRAGE levels increase at acute phase as a protection mechanism and increased cellular damage, at chronic phase, impairs its formation or consumes most sRAGE by an increase in RAGE ligands [28]. Unfortunately, so far, no studies *in vivo* were performed attempting to elucidate the regulation of sRAGE levels.

In humans, sRAGE has been associated with circulating AGEs [225], kidney dysfunction [264, 278] and the use of statins [337]. Among these factors, kidney dysfunction, often evidenced by low GFR or increased creatinine is the less controversial. Nevertheless, among patients with renal impairment, those with lower sRAGE seem to be more susceptible to CVDs. Intriguingly, it remains unknown why sRAGE levels increase with the decline of kidney function. It could due to a) a coordinated response against the oxidative and inflammatory stress [488], b) impaired clearance or c) consequence to RAGE overexpression and tissue damage. In any case, kidney dysfunction presents more coherent data concerning sRAGE levels than other diseases. Moreover sRAGE levels are also influenced by RAGE polymorphisms [350] and ethnicity [219], which have been also associated with complications of diabetes. Prevost and colleagues observed and association of the G82S polymorphism with advanced stages of diabetic nephropathy [489], although meta-analyses failed to find this relationship [490, 491]. The G82S polymorphism is associated with higher ligand-binding affinity and with enhanced proinflammatory responses [492] and it was shown to be associated with lower sRAGE levels [350]. However, the mechanisms underlying this association remain unknown. Hence, this multifactorial regulation of sRAGE levels jeopardizes studies in terms of inclusion/exclusion criteria and sample size.

Besides these factors mentioned above, we hypothesized that RAGE ligands, because of their structural variability and binding-site heterogeneity, could impair sRAGE quantification. This hypothesis, if true, would imply that sRAGE levels among publications only reflect free sRAGE and not ligand-bound (complexed) sRAGE. Using different ligands at different concentrations we saw no effect on sRAGE measurement. The recent discovery of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies led us to investigate their effects on sRAGE quantification as well, especially because antibodies may have increased affinity through processes of affinity maturation [493]. Nonetheless, in the first article of this thesis, we

showed that the presence of RAGE ligands or anti-sRAGE autoantibodies could not impair sRAGE quantification.

Other hypotheses to explain the variation of sRAGE levels are necrosis and sequestering by full-length RAGE or RAGE ligands. In the case of necrosis, membrane RAGE would be released, as well as the pool of intracellular esRAGE. It seems, however, very unlikely to reach such an extensive necrosis capable of considerably changing systemic sRAGE levels. In the case of sRAGE sequestering, it was shown that sRAGE forms dimers with membrane RAGE, a mechanism through which sRAGE would exert its beneficial effects [494]. Again, whether RAGE expression is important enough to capture circulating sRAGE and affect its measured levels, remains speculative. Moreover, tissues overexpressing RAGE ligands, especially AGEs, could act as additional compartments to interact with sRAGE [196].

The many hypothesis concerning sRAGE levels led us to further investigate them in a study designed to eliminate most of the factors known to influence sRAGE levels. Therefore, we opted to study sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies in a cohort of morbidly obese patients.

# 5.3 The interest of the ABOS cohort

ABOS (Biological Atlas of Severe Obesity) is a study cohort that includes patients eligible for a weight loss surgery (bariatric surgery) with a BMI  $\geq$  35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, regardless of the degree of glucose regulation impairment. Because of its prospective nature and considerably well-defined patients' phenotypes, it is a cohort of great value to study molecules like sRAGE, of which the regulatory mechanism are still poorly understood.

For our study we selected 254 patients from the 750 individuals of the cohort. These patients met the inclusion criteria that were defined to eliminate factors that could

influence sRAGE levels. We only included patients with GFR >90ml/min/1.73m2, without arterial hypertension, who were not under ACEi, ARA2 or statins treatment and who were not smokers. Patients were then randomly selected to be equally distributed according to glucose regulation: normoglycemic, glucose intolerant and diabetic (n=50 each).

Baseline (before surgery) levels of sRAGE were higher in morbidly obese patients than in the control group. No difference between normoglycemic, glucose intolerant and diabetics was observed, further supporting that this increase was due to obesity. Sixty nine patients submitted to a gastric bypass and with a 1-year follow-up were included in the second part of the study. Serum sRAGE levels decreased to control values 1 year after surgery.

If we consider sRAGE as marker of RAGE overexpression and inflammation, an increase in its levels seems logical. To date, there is no data concerning the expression of RAGE in obese patients. In rats, high-fat diet increases RAGE expression in the retina of diabetic rats [495]; Zucker fatty rats have higher RAGE mRNA expression in the aorta than Zucker lean animals [496, 497]. Again, there is no data concerning the contribution of each tissue to the circulating pool of sRAGE. If RAGE expression increases in adipocytes of obese individuals, the infiltration of inflammatory cells may be responsible for sRAGE increase. Macrophage-conditioned medium induces expression of MMP-9 and MMP-3 in adipocytes [498]. Both metalloproteinases can cleave membrane RAGE to form sRAGE [201]. In our study, however, we did not investigate the activity of these enzymes.

Our findings concerning sRAGE levels in the obese contrast with those from 2 previous works where sRAGE was found inversely correlated with BMI [317] and lower in morbidly obese patients [356].Since all three studies used the same methodology to quantify sRAGE, we can only infer that the controversy is due to different inclusion/exclusion criteria. Brix *et al.* observed an increase in sRAGE levels 2 years after bariatric surgery while we had a 1-year follow-up. The controversy between their findings and ours may reside in a long-term regulation of sRAGE levels in parallel with weight loss and metabolic

improvement. The maximal loss of excess weight is achieved within 2 years after surgery, regardless of the procedure [499], and insulin resistance improvement is achieved within 1 year [500]. If, at first glance, both studies could seem contradictory, the complex regulation of sRAGE formation may explain such differences and this question should be addressed with *in vitro* and *in vivo* models.

Similarly to sRAGE, anti-sRAGE autoantibodies were increased in morbidly obese patients, regardless of glucose regulation impairment. In addition, gastric bypass led to a decrease in anti-sRAGE titers 1 year after intervention, although levels remained higher than control group. Although no correlation between anti-sRAGE and BMI or weight loss was observed, we found a weak association between the decrease in anti-sRAGE titers and the increase in HDL-cholesterol (r<sup>2</sup>=0.077, p=0.02). This association does not support a cause-consequence relationship between both parameters, but may imply an association of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies and the increased vascular risk of morbidly obese patients.

The biological data available for our study population do not allow further speculation about the meaning of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies in morbid obesity. In addition, we can only hypothesize that RAGE is overexpressed in endothelial cells and adipocytes, without any evidence of one's contribution to the levels of circulating sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies. Other markers of vascular dysfunction like sVCAM-1, endothelin and inflammatory cytokines (i.e. IL-6, IL-8 and IL-1) should be measured to better identify the scenario associated with autoimmunity against sRAGE. Also, we should further investigate the expression of RAGE, its ligands and sheddases responsible for sRAGE formation in the adipose tissue of these patients. Thereby, we would achieve an insightful view of adipocyte inflammation surrounding RAGE. Evidently, animal models of obesity in RAGE -/- background are an overwhelming tool in the pursuit to explain these phenomena.

## 5.4 Autoimmunity against sRAGE

In previous works anti-sRAGE autoantibodies were measured only in rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and Alzheimer's disease (AD) patients, both with increased levels compared to healthy controls. In RA patients they were observed in serum and synovial fluid, with higher levels in the latter being associated with the less erosive form of disease [445]. In AD, anti-sRAGE are associated with dementia scores [369, 371, 471] and were further attributed a protective role, with the development of a vaccine, consisted of a sRAGE/A $\beta$  complex, that increases their production [372]. Vaccine-induced anti-sRAGE autoantibodies enhance neuronal viability after exposure to A $\beta$  and improve cognitive function in AD mice [372].

In this work we observed increased levels of sRAGE in HD patients and morbidly obese subjects eligible for weight-loss surgery. Both study populations present a pro-inflammatory status and sRAGE was increased in comparison to controls. Serum levels of A $\beta$  are increased with obesity and decrease after bariatric surgery [501]. If A $\beta$  is increased in our obese patients, its association with high sRAGE levels could form the highly-immunogenic complex that could induce anti-sRAGE production [372].

Oxidative stress plays an important role in autoimmunity-associated complications and the role of ROS in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases is also subject of debate. Gerling suggests that antigens of autoimmune diseases are actually oxidatively-modified proteins, a hypothesis that would exempt true self antigens of a pathological role [502]. It would also imply antioxidants as potential therapeutic agents for these diseases. In the same line, Stark proposes that thiol oxidation impairs protein degradation, which will further lead to the generation of unfamiliar immunogenic peptides [503]. These hypotheses linking oxidative stress to autoimmunity pathogenesis have a profound impact on RAGE biology since its activation by different ligands increases ROS production.

Should RAGE be a major culprit in the pathogenesis of autoimmunity or just a "victim" of other sources of oxidative stress, it remains to be investigated.

There is evidence suggesting that RAGE is implicated in insulin resistance and adipocyte hypertrophy. In adipocytes and muscle cells, AGEs increase ROS production and inhibit glucose uptake in a RAGE-dependent manner [469, 504]. In adipocytes, the AGE-RAGE axis increases the expression of MCP-1, which is involved in atherosclerosis and insulin resistance. Two similar works presented controversial results concerning the role of RAGE in weight gain. The one of Monden and colleagues observed the RAGE activation mediates adipocyte hypertrophy *in vitro* and mice fed a high-fat diet present reduced weight gain, epididymal fat weight and higher insulin sensitivity in the absence of RAGE [47]. However, in a previous study, it was observed that RAGE -/- mice have a faster weight gain, higher cholesterol and insulin resistance [420]. Although the composition of the high fat diet differed between both studies, it remains intriguingly unclear why the outcomes were almost opposite. In addition, RAGE activation by AGEs was shown to promote adipogenesis of senescent preadipocytes, further implicating RAGE in adipocyte biology and obesity [505].

Although autoimmunity is frequently seen as deleterious, growing evidence indicates a role for autoimmune reactions in tissue repair. The group of Michael Schwartz demonstrated that autoimmune T lymphocytes mediate recovery after optical nerve injury or contusion of the spinal cord [506-509] and the induction of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies was protective in a mice model of AD [372]. Nonetheless, we cannot infer a protective role for anti-sRAGE autoantibodies in our study. Other autoantibodies should be investigated in the future to specify the nature of such autoreactivity.

Other studies have demonstrated the occurrence of autoimmune reaction in obese subjects, especially against  $\beta$  cell antigens, thyroid and sperm [510]. Nonetheless, the biological and clinical relevance of obesity-associated autoimmunity may be underrated

since improvement of the disease is likely to be evaluated by weight loss and metabolic changes. Indeed, antibodies against thryroglobulin, thyroid-stimulating hormone and ADAMTS13 are increased in obese subjects, compared to lean ones [441, 485]. However, to our knowledge, there are no studies analyzing the incidence of autoantibodies before and after weight-loss surgery. Our findings, thus, are the first to show a decrease in autoimmunity associated with weight loss, despite the lack of direct correlation between autoantibodies and BMI or weight loss.

One year after bariatric surgery both sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies decreased, suggesting an association with obesity. Even though no correlations with weight loss or inflammatory markers like CRP were found, our data are in agreement with other works where sRAGE is increased in inflammatory diseases. In addition, the decrease in anti-sRAGE was correlated with the increase in HDL-cholesterol levels, implicating autoimmunity against sRAGE in the increased cardiovascular risk of obesity. Improved endothelial function was observed after bariatric surgery, associated with an increase in adiponectine and a decrease in leptin levels [511]. Our study is, however, limited because we did not investigate other markers of vascular dysfunction, neither adipokines like leptin and adiponectin.

## 5.5 Limitations

Our work has several limitations. In the first part, we only show that the presence of ligands and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies does not impair sRAGE quantification. We do not present the effects of RAGE ligands and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies in the production or clearance of sRAGE. In addition, as proposed by Renard and colleagues [196], AGEs could represent an additional compartment for sRAGE distribution. Therefore, AGEs-bearing cells would capture sRAGE, reducing its measurable levels in plasma or serum. Another limitation of the first study is that we do not use techniques other than ELISA to

quantify sRAGE. Nonetheless, the ELISA method is the standard technique used to measure sRAGE. Furthermore, we only measured total sRAGE levels, with no discrimination between esRAGE and cRAGE. To date there is no method to quantify cRAGE only and both cRAGE and esRAGE share the same ligand-binding domains, which should not represent a bias to our study.

In the second part of the thesis, although we selected our study population to avoid factors that could influence sRAGE levels (i.e. renal dysfunction, smoking, hypertension and statins), we have no data concerning the distribution of RAGE polymorphisms among our patients. Moreover, we did not investigate the activity of RAGE-cleavage enzymes (ADAM10, MMP-3, MMP-9 and MMP-13), which would provide useful information about the mechanisms regulating sRAGE formation. However, such an investigation would demand a large screening to evaluate the activities of these enzymes in different tissues. Similar approaches should be encouraged in other diseases to elucidate the specificities of each pathology. Finally, we have only a short-term follow-up. The evolution of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE levels should be further investigated in order to better associate them with the metabolic and inflammatory changes that follow bariatric surgery.

# 5.6 Conclusion

We have thus demonstrated that the presence of RAGE ligands and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies does not impair sRAGE quantification, suggesting that the differences in sRAGE levels among publications is not due to a lack of efficacy in the measurement. After a review of the literature, we indicate that inconsistencies may lie in differences of inclusion/exclusion criteria and insufficient knowledge of the potential factors that influence sRAGE levels.

We also demonstrated that hemodialysis and morbidly obese patients have higher levels of sRAGE and anti-sRAGE autoantibodies. In our cohort of morbidly obese patients, with well-defined inclusion criteria, sRAGE and anti-sRAGE titers are elevated and decrease 1 year after bariatric surgery. The decrease in anti-sRAGE is weakly correlated with the increase in HDL-cholesterol. These findings show an autoimmune reactivity against sRAGE associated with obesity and, although fairly conclusive, suggest that this autoimmunity is associated with increased vascular risk.

# **Chapter Six**

# Perspectives

In this work we have shown that the variability of sRAGE levels among publications is not due to the impairment of its quantification by RAGE ligands or autoantibodies. We have further demonstrated that individuals with morbid obesity, eligible for a gastric bypass, present increased levels of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies and these levels decrease after weight-loss surgery. Together, our results raise some questions that should be subject of further investigation:

a) Do RAGE ligands or autoantibodies affect RAGE cleavage?

By studying several cell types overexpressing RAGE, different ligands and autoantibodies would be incubated. RAGE cleavage would be investigated by the activity of proteases and the quantification of sRAGE and esRAGE in the culture media.

b) Do RAGE ligands or autoantibodies affect sRAGE clearance?

This question should be addressed by the injection of labeled sRAGE and different ligands in animals to evaluate any changes in clearance times. In addition, this investigation could be done in different disease models to better understand the impact of each pathology on the pool of sRAGE.

c) Do anti-sRAGE autoantibodies activate RAGE?

In cultured cells overexpressing RAGE, purified autoantibodies would be added and RAGE activation would be assessed by the classical pathway that leads to NADPH activation and NF-κB translocation, for example.

d) Do anti-sRAGE autoantibodies block sRAGE?

With simple experiments applying sRAGE blocking effects, sRAGE would be preincubated with anti-sRAGE autoantibodies and further added to cultured cells in order to evaluate its RAGE-blocking activity.

### e) Are anti-sRAGE autoantibodies biomarkers of RAGE-overexpressing diseases?

The occurrence of anti-sRAGE would be assessed in different disease cohorts or animal models. In animals, the effect of RAGE expression on anti-sRAGE formation would be assessed by regulating RAGE expression with interference RNA.

f) Is there a role for RAGE autoimmunity in obesity-related complications?

To answer this question, animal models of obesity, like the ob/ob mice, should be used. In this model, we would, at first, investigate the occurrence of anti-sRAGE in obese animals. The occurrence of anti-sRAGE should be verified at different stages of obesity and their production would be induced by the oral vaccine previously described. Immunosuppressant therapy would be applied to elucidate the participation of autoimmunity in obese-associated insulin resistance, inflammation and vascular dysfunction. Further studies in humans, with obese and pre-obese patients should be performed to elucidate the evolution of anti-sRAGE autoantibodies in association with the development of obese-related complications.

# References

- 1. Schmidt, A.M., et al., Isolation and characterization of two binding proteins for advanced glycosylation end products from bovine lung which are present on the endothelial cell surface. J Biol Chem, 1992. 267(21): p. 14987-97.
- 2. Neeper, M., et al., Cloning and expression of a cell surface receptor for advanced glycosylation end products of proteins. J Biol Chem, 1992. 267(21): p. 14998-5004.
- 3. Sugaya, K., et al., Three genes in the human MHC class III region near the junction with the class II: gene for receptor of advanced glycosylation end products, PBX2 homeobox gene and a notch homolog, human counterpart of mouse mammary tumor gene int-3. Genomics, 1994. 23(2): p. 408-19.
- 4. Spies, T., M. Bresnahan, and J.L. Strominger, *Human major histocompatibility complex contains a minimum of 19 genes between the complement cluster and HLA-B.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1989. 86(22): p. 8955-8.
- 5. Gawlowski, T., et al., Advanced glycation end products strongly activate platelets. Eur J Nutr, 2009. 48(8): p. 475-81.
- 6. Collison, K.S., et al., RAGE-mediated neutrophil dysfunction is evoked by advanced glycation end products (AGEs). J Leukoc Biol, 2002. 71(3): p. 433-44.
- 7. Brett, J., et al., Survey of the distribution of a newly characterized receptor for advanced glycation end products in tissues. Am J Pathol, 1993. 143(6): p. 1699-712.
- 8. Wautier, J.L., et al., Increased adhesion of erythrocytes to endothelial cells in diabetes mellitus and its relation to vascular complications. N Engl J Med, 1981. 305(5): p. 237-42.
- 9. Wautier, J.L., et al., Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) on the surface of diabetic erythrocytes bind to the vessel wall via a specific receptor inducing oxidant stress in the vasculature: a link between surface-associated AGEs and diabetic complications. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1994. 91(16): p. 7742-6.
- 10. Wautier, J.L., et al., Receptor-mediated endothelial cell dysfunction in diabetic vasculopathy. Soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products blocks hyperpermeability in diabetic rats. J Clin Invest, 1996. 97(1): p. 238-43.
- 11. Schmidt, A.M., et al., Advanced glycation endproducts interacting with their endothelial receptor induce expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) in cultured human endothelial cells and in mice. A potential mechanism for the accelerated vasculopathy of diabetes. J Clin Invest, 1995. 96(3): p. 1395-403.
- 12. Chavakis, T., et al., The pattern recognition receptor (RAGE) is a counterreceptor for leukocyte integrins: a novel pathway for inflammatory cell recruitment. J Exp Med, 2003. 198(10): p. 1507-15.
- 13. Wautier, M.P., et al., Activation of NADPH oxidase by AGE links oxidant stress to altered gene expression via RAGE. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 2001. 280(5): p. E685-94.
- 14. Halliwell, B., *The role of oxygen radicals in human disease, with particular reference to the vascular system.* Haemostasis, 1993. 23 Suppl 1: p. 118-26.
- 15. Coughlan, M.T., et al., RAGE-induced cytosolic ROS promote mitochondrial superoxide generation in diabetes. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2009. 20(4): p. 742-52.
- 16. Yan, S.D., et al., Enhanced cellular oxidant stress by the interaction of advanced glycation end products with their receptors/binding proteins. J Biol Chem, 1994. 269(13): p. 9889-97.

### References

- 17. Reiniger, N., et al., Deletion of the receptor for advanced glycation end products reduces glomerulosclerosis and preserves renal function in the diabetic OVE26 mouse. Diabetes, 2010. 59(8): p. 2043-54.
- 18. Thornalley, P.J., *The glyoxalase system in health and disease.* Mol Aspects Med, 1993. 14(4): p. 287-371.
- 19. Yamamoto, Y., et al., Development and prevention of advanced diabetic nephropathy in RAGE-overexpressing mice. J Clin Invest, 2001. 108(2): p. 261-8.
- 20. Wendt, T.M., et al., RAGE drives the development of glomerulosclerosis and implicates podocyte activation in the pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy. Am J Pathol, 2003. 162(4): p. 1123-37.
- 21. Boulanger, E., et al., Mesothelial RAGE activation by AGEs enhances VEGF release and potentiates capillary tube formation. Kidney Int, 2007. 71(2): p. 126-33.
- 22. Boulanger, E., et al., AGEs bind to mesothelial cells via RAGE and stimulate VCAM-1 expression. Kidney Int, 2002. 61(1): p. 148-56.
- 23. Kihm, L.P., et al., RAGE expression in the human peritoneal membrane. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2008. 23(10): p. 3302-6.
- 24. Hammes, H.P., *et al.*, *Pericytes and the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy.* Diabetes, 2002. 51(10): p. 3107-12.
- 25. Yamagishi, S., et al., Receptor-mediated toxicity to pericytes of advanced glycosylation end products: a possible mechanism of pericyte loss in diabetic microangiopathy. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1995. 213(2): p. 681-7.
- 26. Yamagishi, S., et al., Advanced glycation endproducts inhibit prostacyclin production and induce plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in human microvascular endothelial cells. Diabetologia, 1998. 41(12): p. 1435-41.
- 27. Herczenik, E., et al., Activation of human platelets by misfolded proteins. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2007. 27(7): p. 1657-65.
- 28. Ramasamy, R., S.F. Yan, and A.M. Schmidt, *The diverse ligand repertoire of the receptor for advanced glycation endproducts and pathways to the complications of diabetes.* Vascul Pharmacol, 2012. 57(5-6): p. 160-7.
- 29. Tanji, N., et al., Expression of advanced glycation end products and their cellular receptor RAGE in diabetic nephropathy and nondiabetic renal disease. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2000. 11(9): p. 1656-66.
- 30. Ritthaler, U., et al., Expression of receptors for advanced glycation end products in peripheral occlusive vascular disease. Am J Pathol, 1995. 146(3): p. 688-94.
- 31. Santana, R.B., et al., A role for advanced glycation end products in diminished bone healing in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes, 2003. 52(6): p. 1502-10.
- 32. Wendt, T., et al., Glucose, glycation, and RAGE: implications for amplification of cellular dysfunction in diabetic nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2003. 14(5): p. 1383-95.
- 33. Gao, X., et al., AGE/RAGE produces endothelial dysfunction in coronary arterioles in type 2 diabetic mice. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 2008. 295(2): p. H491-8.
- 34. Cipollone, F., et al., The receptor RAGE as a progression factor amplifying arachidonate-dependent inflammatory and proteolytic response in human atherosclerotic plaques: role of glycemic control. Circulation, 2003. 108(9): p. 1070-7.
- 35. Mackic, J.B., et al., Human blood-brain barrier receptors for Alzheimer's amyloidbeta 1- 40. Asymmetrical binding, endocytosis, and transcytosis at the apical side of brain microvascular endothelial cell monolayer. J Clin Invest, 1998. 102(4): p. 734-43.
- 36. Kook, S.Y., et al., Abeta(1)(-)(4)(2)-RAGE interaction disrupts tight junctions of the blood-brain barrier via Ca(2)(+)-calcineurin signaling. J Neurosci, 2012. 32(26): p. 8845-54.

- 37. Giri, R., et al., beta-amyloid-induced migration of monocytes across human brain endothelial cells involves RAGE and PECAM-1. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 2000. 279(6): p. C1772-81.
- 38. Deane, R., et al., RAGE mediates amyloid-beta peptide transport across the blood-brain barrier and accumulation in brain. Nat Med, 2003. 9(7): p. 907-13.
- 39. Li, M., et al., Amyloid beta interaction with receptor for advanced glycation end products up-regulates brain endothelial CCR5 expression and promotes T cells crossing the blood-brain barrier. J Immunol, 2009. 182(9): p. 5778-88.
- 40. Sasaki, N., et al., Immunohistochemical distribution of the receptor for advanced glycation end products in neurons and astrocytes in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res, 2001. 888(2): p. 256-262.
- 41. Sparvero, L.J., et al., RAGE (Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts), RAGE ligands, and their role in cancer and inflammation. J Transl Med, 2009. 7: p. 17.
- 42. Abe, R., et al., Regulation of human melanoma growth and metastasis by AGE-AGE receptor interactions. J Invest Dermatol, 2004. 122(2): p. 461-7.
- 43. DiNorcia, J., et al., RAGE signaling significantly impacts tumorigenesis and hepatic tumor growth in murine models of colorectal carcinoma. J Gastrointest Surg, 2010. 14(11): p. 1680-90.
- 44. Pusterla, T., et al., Receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE) is a key regulator of oval cell activation and inflammation-associated liver carcinogenesis in mice. Hepatology, 2013. 58(1): p. 363-73.
- 45. Radia, A.M., et al., Specific siRNA Targeting Receptor for Advanced Glycation End Products (RAGE) Decreases Proliferation in Human Breast Cancer Cell Lines. Int J Mol Sci, 2013. 14(4): p. 7959-78.
- 46. Takeuchi, A., et al., Low molecular weight heparin suppresses receptor for advanced glycation end products-mediated expression of malignant phenotype in human fibrosarcoma cells. Cancer Sci, 2013. 104(6): p. 740-9.
- 47. Monden, M., et al., Receptor for advanced glycation end products regulates adipocyte hypertrophy and insulin sensitivity in mice: involvement of Toll-like receptor 2. Diabetes, 2013. 62(2): p. 478-89.
- 48. Harja, E., et al., Vascular and inflammatory stresses mediate atherosclerosis via RAGE and its ligands in apoE-/- mice. J Clin Invest, 2008. 118(1): p. 183-94.
- 49. Hirosumi, J., *et al.*, *A central role for JNK in obesity and insulin resistance*. Nature, 2002. 420(6913): p. 333-6.
- 50. Ueno, H., et al., Receptor for advanced glycation end-products (RAGE) regulation of adiposity and adiponectin is associated with atherogenesis in apoE-deficient mouse. Atherosclerosis, 2010. 211(2): p. 431-6.
- 51. Liu, H., et al., Angiogenesis impairment in diabetes: role of methylglyoxal-induced receptor for advanced glycation endproducts, autophagy and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2. PLoS One, 2012. 7(10): p. e46720.
- 52. Shoji, T., et al., Receptor for advanced glycation end products is involved in impaired angiogenic response in diabetes. Diabetes, 2006. 55(8): p. 2245-55.
- 53. Juranek, J.K., et al., RAGE deficiency improves postinjury sciatic nerve regeneration in type 1 diabetic mice. Diabetes, 2013. 62(3): p. 931-43.
- 54. Englert, J.M., et al., Paradoxical function for the receptor for advanced glycation end products in mouse models of pulmonary fibrosis. Int J Clin Exp Pathol, 2011. 4(3): p. 241-54.
- 55. He, M., et al., The role of the receptor for advanced glycation end-products in lung fibrosis. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2007. 293(6): p. L1427-36.
- 56. Englert, J.M., et al., A role for the receptor for advanced glycation end products in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Pathol, 2008. 172(3): p. 583-91.
- 57. Guo, J., et al., RAGE mediates podocyte injury in adriamycin-induced glomerulosclerosis. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2008. 19(5): p. 961-72.

- 58. van Zoelen, M.A., et al., Receptor for advanced glycation end products facilitates host defense during Escherichia coli-induced abdominal sepsis in mice. J Infect Dis, 2009. 200(5): p. 765-73.
- 59. Lutterloh, E.C., et al., Inhibition of the RAGE products increases survival in experimental models of severe sepsis and systemic infection. Crit Care, 2007. 11(6): p. R122.
- 60. Liliensiek, B., et al., Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) regulates sepsis but not the adaptive immune response. J Clin Invest, 2004. 113(11): p. 1641-50.
- 61. Yamamoto, Y., et al., Septic shock is associated with receptor for advanced glycation end products ligation of LPS. J Immunol, 2011. 186(5): p. 3248-57.
- 62. Sorci, G., et al., RAGE in tissue homeostasis, repair and regeneration. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2013. 1833(1): p. 101-9.
- 63. Sakatani, S., et al., Deletion of RAGE causes hyperactivity and increased sensitivity to auditory stimuli in mice. PLoS One, 2009. 4(12): p. e8309.
- 64. Hori, O., et al., The receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) is a cellular binding site for amphoterin. Mediation of neurite outgrowth and coexpression of rage and amphoterin in the developing nervous system. J Biol Chem, 1995. 270(43): p. 25752-61.
- 65. Huttunen, H.J., J. Kuja-Panula, and H. Rauvala, *Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) signaling induces CREB-dependent chromogranin expression during neuronal differentiation.* J Biol Chem, 2002. 277(41): p. 38635-46.
- 66. Friggeri, A., et al., Participation of the receptor for advanced glycation end products in efferocytosis. J Immunol, 2011. 186(11): p. 6191-8.
- 67. Ma, W., et al., RAGE binds C1q and enhances C1q-mediated phagocytosis. Cell Immunol, 2012. 274(1-2): p. 72-82.
- 68. Ruan, B.H., et al., Complement C3a, CpG oligos, and DNA/C3a complex stimulate IFN-alpha production in a receptor for advanced glycation end product-dependent manner. J Immunol, 2010. 185(7): p. 4213-22.
- 69. Businaro, R., et al., S100B protects LAN-5 neuroblastoma cells against Abeta amyloid-induced neurotoxicity via RAGE engagement at low doses but increases Abeta amyloid neurotoxicity at high doses. J Neurosci Res, 2006. 83(5): p. 897-906.
- 70. van Zoelen, M.A., et al., Receptor for advanced glycation end products is protective during murine tuberculosis. Mol Immunol, 2012. 52(3-4): p. 183-9.
- 71. Sorci, G., et al., The danger signal S100B integrates pathogen- and dangersensing pathways to restrain inflammation. PLoS Pathog, 2011. 7(3): p. e1001315.
- 72. van Zoelen, M.A., et al., Receptor for advanced glycation end products is detrimental during influenza A virus pneumonia. Virology, 2009. 391(2): p. 265-73.
- 73. van Zoelen, M.A., et al., The receptor for advanced glycation end products impairs host defense in pneumococcal pneumonia. J Immunol, 2009. 182(7): p. 4349-56.
- 74. Riuzzi, F., et al., HMGB1-RAGE regulates muscle satellite cell homeostasis through p38-MAPK- and myogenin-dependent repression of Pax7 transcription. J Cell Sci, 2012. 125(Pt 6): p. 1440-54.
- 75. Riuzzi, F., et al., S100B engages RAGE or bFGF/FGFR1 in myoblasts depending on its own concentration and myoblast density. Implications for muscle regeneration. PLoS One, 2012. 7(1): p. e28700.
- 76. Mangalmurti, N.S., et al., Advanced glycation end products on stored red blood cells increase endothelial reactive oxygen species generation through interaction with receptor for advanced glycation end products. Transfusion, 2010. 50(11): p. 2353-61.
- 77. Bierhaus, A., et al., Advanced glycation end product (AGE)-mediated induction of tissue factor in cultured endothelial cells is dependent on RAGE. Circulation, 1997. 96(7): p. 2262-71.

### References

- 78. Huttunen, H.J., C. Fages, and H. Rauvala, *Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE)-mediated neurite outgrowth and activation of NF-kappaB require the cytoplasmic domain of the receptor but different downstream signaling pathways.* J Biol Chem, 1999. 274(28): p. 19919-24.
- 79. Osawa, M., et al., De-N-glycosylation or G82S mutation of RAGE sensitizes its interaction with advanced glycation endproducts. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2007. 1770(10): p. 1468-74.
- 80. Srikrishna, G., et al., N -Glycans on the receptor for advanced glycation end products influence amphoterin binding and neurite outgrowth. J Neurochem, 2002. 80(6): p. 998-1008.
- 81. Xie, J., et al., Structural basis for pattern recognition by the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE). J Biol Chem, 2008. 283(40): p. 27255-69.
- 82. Koch, M., et al., Structural basis for ligand recognition and activation of RAGE. Structure, 2010. 18(10): p. 1342-52.
- 83. Xu, D., et al., Stable RAGE-Heparan Sulfate Complexes Are Essential for Signal Transduction. ACS Chem Biol, 2013.
- 84. Xu, D., et al., Heparan sulfate is essential for high mobility group protein 1 (HMGB1) signaling by the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE). J Biol Chem, 2011. 286(48): p. 41736-44.
- 85. Park, H., F.G. Adsit, and J.C. Boyington, *The 1.5 A crystal structure of human receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE) ectodomains reveals unique features determining ligand binding.* J Biol Chem, 2010. 285(52): p. 40762-70.
- 86. Hudson, B.I., et al., Interaction of the RAGE cytoplasmic domain with diaphanous-1 is required for ligand-stimulated cellular migration through activation of Rac1 and Cdc42. J Biol Chem, 2008. 283(49): p. 34457-68.
- 87. Copeland, J.W. and R. Treisman, *The diaphanous-related formin mDia1 controls serum response factor activity through its effects on actin polymerization.* Mol Biol Cell, 2002. 13(11): p. 4088-99.
- 88. Hordijk, P.L., *Regulation of NADPH oxidases: the role of Rac proteins.* Circ Res, 2006. 98(4): p. 453-62.
- 89. Guo, Z.J., et al., Advanced oxidation protein products activate vascular endothelial cells via a RAGE-mediated signaling pathway. Antioxid Redox Signal, 2008. 10(10): p. 1699-712.
- 90. Reddy, M.A., et al., Key role of Src kinase in S100B-induced activation of the receptor for advanced glycation end products in vascular smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem, 2006. 281(19): p. 13685-93.
- 91. Sakaguchi, M., et al., TIRAP, an adaptor protein for TLR2/4, transduces a signal from RAGE phosphorylated upon ligand binding. PLoS One, 2011. 6(8): p. e23132.
- 92. Xie, J., et al., Cellular signalling of the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE). Cell Signal, 2013. 25(11): p. 2185-2197.
- 93. Schmidt, A.M., et al., Activation of receptor for advanced glycation end products: a mechanism for chronic vascular dysfunction in diabetic vasculopathy and atherosclerosis. Circ Res, 1999. 84(5): p. 489-97.
- 94. de Bittencourt Pasquali, M.A., *et al.*, *Vitamin A (retinol) downregulates the receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE) by oxidant-dependent activation of p38 MAPK and NF-kB in human lung cancer A549 cells.* Cell Signal, 2013. 25(4): p. 939-54.
- 95. Kang, R., et al., The HMGB1/RAGE inflammatory pathway promotes pancreatic tumor growth by regulating mitochondrial bioenergetics. Oncogene, 2013.
- 96. Fritz, G., *RAGE: a single receptor fits multiple ligands.* Trends Biochem Sci, 2011. 36(12): p. 625-32.
- 97. Li, W., A.E. Sama, and H. Wang, *Role of HMGB1 in cardiovascular diseases.* Curr Opin Pharmacol, 2006. 6(2): p. 130-5.
- 98. Leclerc, E., *et al.*, *Binding of S100 proteins to RAGE: an update.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 2009. 1793(6): p. 993-1007.
- 99. Brownlee, M., *Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications*. Nature, 2001. 414(6865): p. 813-20.
- 100. Chung, S.S., et al., Contribution of polyol pathway to diabetes-induced oxidative stress. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2003. 14(8 Suppl 3): p. S233-6.
- 101. Du, X.L., et al., Hyperglycemia inhibits endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity by posttranslational modification at the Akt site. J Clin Invest, 2001. 108(9): p. 1341-8.
- 102. Maillard, L.C., Action des acides aminés sur les sucres: formation des mélanoïdines par voie méthodique. Comptes rendus de l'Académie des Sciences, 1912. 154: p. 3.
- 103. Voziyan, P.A., et al., Modification of proteins in vitro by physiological levels of glucose: pyridoxamine inhibits conversion of Amadori intermediate to advanced glycation end-products through binding of redox metal ions. J Biol Chem, 2003. 278(47): p. 46616-24.
- 104. Wautier, J.L. and A.M. Schmidt, *Protein glycation: a firm link to endothelial cell dysfunction.* Circ Res, 2004. 95(3): p. 233-8.
- 105. Phillips, S.A. and P.J. Thornalley, *The formation of methylglyoxal from triose phosphates. Investigation using a specific assay for methylglyoxal.* Eur J Biochem, 1993. 212(1): p. 101-5.
- 106. Anderson, M.M., et al., Human neutrophils employ the myeloperoxidase-hydrogen peroxide-chloride system to convert hydroxy-amino acids into glycolaldehyde, 2-hydroxypropanal, and acrolein. A mechanism for the generation of highly reactive alpha-hydroxy and alpha,beta-unsaturated aldehydes by phagocytes at sites of inflammation. J Clin Invest, 1997. 99(3): p. 424-32.
- 107. Arai, K., et al., Glycation and inactivation of human Cu-Zn-superoxide dismutase. Identification of the in vitro glycated sites. J Biol Chem, 1987. 262(35): p. 16969-72.
- 108. Kawamura, N., et al., Increased glycated Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase levels in erythrocytes of patients with insulin-dependent diabetis mellitus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 1992. 74(6): p. 1352-4.
- 109. Mera, K., et al., Effect of reactive-aldehydes on the modification and dysfunction of human serum albumin. J Pharm Sci, 2010. 99(3): p. 1614-25.
- 110. Dyer, D.G., et al., Accumulation of Maillard reaction products in skin collagen in diabetes and aging. J Clin Invest, 1993. 91(6): p. 2463-9.
- 111. Paul, R.G. and A.J. Bailey, *Glycation of collagen: the basis of its central role in the late complications of ageing and diabetes.* Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 1996. 28(12): p. 1297-310.
- 112. Andreassen, T.T., K. Seyer-Hansen, and A.J. Bailey, *Thermal stability, mechanical properties and reducible cross-links of rat tail tendon in experimental diabetes.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 1981. 677(2): p. 313-7.
- 113. Schnider, S.L. and R.R. Kohn, *Effects of age and diabetes mellitus on the solubility of collagen from human skin, tracheal cartilage and dura mater.* Exp Gerontol, 1982. 17(3): p. 185-94.
- 114. Kent, M.J., N.D. Light, and A.J. Bailey, *Evidence for glucose-mediated covalent cross-linking of collagen after glycosylation in vitro.* Biochem J, 1985. 225(3): p. 745-52.
- 115. Monnier, V.M., et al., Relation between complications of type I diabetes mellitus and collagen-linked fluorescence. N Engl J Med, 1986. 314(7): p. 403-8.
- 116. Chen, J., et al., Glycated collagen I induces premature senescence-like phenotypic changes in endothelial cells. Circ Res, 2002. 90(12): p. 1290-8.
- 117. Robert, L., A.M. Robert, and J. Labat-Robert, *The Maillard reaction--illicite (bio)chemistry in tissues and food.* Pathol Biol (Paris), 2011. 59(6): p. 321-8.

- 118. Li, Y., et al., Nonenzymatic glycation of guanosine 5'-triphosphate by glyceraldehyde: an in vitro study of AGE formation. Bioorg Chem, 2007. 35(6): p. 417-29.
- 119. Schmitt, A., et al., Characterization of advanced glycation end products for biochemical studies: side chain modifications and fluorescence characteristics. Anal Biochem, 2005. 338(2): p. 201-15.
- 120. Schmitt, A., J. Gasic-Milenkovic, and J. Schmitt, *Characterization of advanced glycation end products: mass changes in correlation to side chain modifications.* Anal Biochem, 2005. 346(1): p. 101-6.
- 121. Sulochana, K.N., et al., Glycation and glycoxidation studies in vitro on isolated human vitreous collagen. Med Sci Monit, 2003. 9(6): p. BR220-4.
- 122. Fu, M.X., et al., Glycation, glycoxidation, and cross-linking of collagen by glucose. Kinetics, mechanisms, and inhibition of late stages of the Maillard reaction. Diabetes, 1994. 43(5): p. 676-83.
- 123. Cerami, C., et al., Tobacco smoke is a source of toxic reactive glycation products. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1997. 94(25): p. 13915-20.
- 124. Goldberg, T., et al., Advanced glycoxidation end products in commonly consumed foods. J Am Diet Assoc, 2004. 104(8): p. 1287-91.
- 125. Uribarri, J., et al., Advanced glycation end products in foods and a practical guide to their reduction in the diet. J Am Diet Assoc, 2010. 110(6): p. 911-16 e12.
- 126. Tessier, F.J. and I. Birlouez-Aragon, *Health effects of dietary Maillard reaction products: the results of ICARE and other studies.* Amino Acids, 2012. 42(4): p. 1119-31.
- 127. Cai, W., et al., Oral advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs) promote insulin resistance and diabetes by depleting the antioxidant defenses AGE receptor-1 and sirtuin 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2012. 109(39): p. 15888-93.
- 128. Patel, R., et al., Effect of dietary advanced glycation end products on mouse liver. PLoS One, 2012. 7(4): p. e35143.
- 129. Chen, B.H., D.Y. Jiang, and L.S. Tang, *Advanced glycation end-products induce apoptosis involving the signaling pathways of oxidative stress in bovine retinal pericytes.* Life Sci, 2006. 79(11): p. 1040-8.
- 130. Denis, U., et al., Advanced glycation end-products induce apoptosis of bovine retinal pericytes in culture: involvement of diacylglycerol/ceramide production and oxidative stress induction. Free Radic Biol Med, 2002. 33(2): p. 236-47.
- 131. Hammes, H.P., et al., Differential accumulation of advanced glycation end products in the course of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetologia, 1999. 42(6): p. 728-36.
- 132. Lorenzi, R., et al., Circulating glycolaldehyde induces oxidative damage in the kidney of rats. Diabetes Res Clin Pract, 2010. 89(3): p. 262-7.
- 133. Shikata, K., et al., Localization of advanced glycation endproducts in the kidney of experimental diabetic rats. J Diabetes Complications, 1995. 9(4): p. 269-71.
- 134. Kislinger, T., et al., N(epsilon)-(carboxymethyl)lysine adducts of proteins are ligands for receptor for advanced glycation end products that activate cell signaling pathways and modulate gene expression. J Biol Chem, 1999. 274(44): p. 31740-9.
- 135. Schmidt, A.M., et al., Receptor for advanced glycation end products (AGEs) has a central role in vessel wall interactions and gene activation in response to circulating AGE proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1994. 91(19): p. 8807-11.
- 136. Miyata, T., et al., The receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) is a central mediator of the interaction of AGE-beta2microglobulin with human mononuclear phagocytes via an oxidant-sensitive pathway. Implications for the pathogenesis of dialysis-related amyloidosis. J Clin Invest, 1996. 98(5): p. 1088-94.
- 137. Abraham, E.C., M.S. Swamy, and R.E. Perry, *Nonenzymatic glycosylation (glycation) of lens crystallins in diabetes and aging.* Prog Clin Biol Res, 1989. 304: p. 123-39.

- 138. Ahmed, M.U., et al., N-epsilon-(carboxyethyl)lysine, a product of the chemical modification of proteins by methylglyoxal, increases with age in human lens proteins. Biochem J, 1997. 324 (Pt 2): p. 565-70.
- 139. Oimomi, M., et al., Age- and diabetes-accelerated glycation in the human aorta. Arch Gerontol Geriatr, 1989. 8(2): p. 123-7.
- 140. Won, K.B., et al., High serum advanced glycation end-products predict coronary artery disease irrespective of arterial stiffness in diabetic patients. Korean Circ J, 2012. 42(5): p. 335-40.
- 141. Jakus, V., M. Sapak, and J. Kostolanska, *Circulating TGF-beta1, glycation, and oxidation in children with diabetes mellitus type 1.* Exp Diabetes Res, 2012. 2012: p. 510902.
- 142. Shen, Y., et al., Serum advanced glycation end-products and receptors as prognostic biomarkers in diabetics undergoing coronary artery stent implantation. Can J Cardiol, 2012. 28(6): p. 737-43.
- 143. Thome, J., et al., Advanced glycation endproducts-associated parameters in the peripheral blood of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Life Sci, 1996. 59(8): p. 679-85.
- 144. Takahashi, M., et al., Relationship between pentosidine levels in serum and urine and activity in rheumatoid arthritis. Br J Rheumatol, 1997. 36(6): p. 637-42.
- 145. Semba, R.D., et al., Plasma carboxymethyl-lysine, an advanced glycation end product, and all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality in older community-dwelling adults. J Am Geriatr Soc, 2009. 57(10): p. 1874-80.
- 146. Sourris, K.C., et al., Plasma advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and NFkappaB activity are independent determinants of diastolic and pulse pressure. Clin Chem Lab Med, 2013: p. 1-10.
- 147. Semba, R.D., et al., Serum carboxymethyl-lysine, an advanced glycation end product, is associated with increased aortic pulse wave velocity in adults. Am J Hypertens, 2009. 22(1): p. 74-9.
- 148. Sakata, N., et al., Immunohistochemical localization of different epitopes of advanced glycation end products in human atherosclerotic lesions. Atherosclerosis, 1998. 141(1): p. 61-75.
- 149. Sakata, N., et al., Increased advanced glycation end products in atherosclerotic lesions of patients with end-stage renal disease. Atherosclerosis, 1999. 142(1): p. 67-77.
- 150. Niwa, T., et al., Immunohistochemical detection of advanced glycation end products in dialysis-related amyloidosis. Kidney Int, 1995. 48(3): p. 771-8.
- 151. Ahmed, N., et al., Assay of advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs): surveying AGEs by chromatographic assay with derivatization by 6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl-carbamate and application to Nepsilon-carboxymethyl-lysine-and Nepsilon-(1-carboxyethyl)lysine-modified albumin. Biochem J, 2002. 364(Pt 1): p. 1-14.
- 152. Liu, Y., R. Prasad, and S.H. Wilson, *HMGB1: roles in base excision repair and related function.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 2010. 1799(1-2): p. 119-30.
- 153. Klune, J.R., *et al.*, *HMGB1: endogenous danger signaling.* Mol Med, 2008. 14(7-8): p. 476-84.
- 154. Zhang, S., et al., HMGB1, an innate alarmin, in the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes. Int J Clin Exp Pathol, 2009. 3(1): p. 24-38.
- 155. Park, J.S., et al., Involvement of toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in cellular activation by high mobility group box 1 protein. J Biol Chem, 2004. 279(9): p. 7370-7.
- 156. Penfold, S.A., et al., Circulating high-molecular-weight RAGE ligands activate pathways implicated in the development of diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Int, 2010. 78(3): p. 287-95.
- 157. Feng, L., et al., Amelioration of compound 4,4'-diphenylmethanebis(methyl)carbamate on high mobility group box1-mediated inflammation and oxidant stress responses in human umbilical vein endothelial cells via

RAGE/ERK1/2/NF-kappaB pathway. Int Immunopharmacol, 2013. 15(2): p. 206-16.

- 158. Huang, W., et al., HMGB1 increases permeability of the endothelial cell monolayer via RAGE and Src family tyrosine kinase pathways. Inflammation, 2012. 35(1): p. 350-62.
- 159. Zhang, J., et al., Inhibitory effects of ethyl pyruvate administration on human gastric cancer growth via regulation of the HMGB1-RAGE and Akt pathways in vitro and in vivo. Oncol Rep, 2012. 27(5): p. 1511-9.
- 160. Taguchi, A., et al., Blockade of RAGE-amphoterin signalling suppresses tumour growth and metastases. Nature, 2000. 405(6784): p. 354-60.
- 161. Wang, H., et al., HMG-1 as a late mediator of endotoxin lethality in mice. Science, 1999. 285(5425): p. 248-51.
- 162. Yan, X.X., et al., Increased serum HMGB1 level is associated with coronary artery disease in nondiabetic and type 2 diabetic patients. Atherosclerosis, 2009. 205(2): p. 544-8.
- 163. Arrigo, T., et al., High-mobility group protein B1: a new biomarker of metabolic syndrome in obese children. Eur J Endocrinol, 2013. 168(4): p. 631-8.
- 164. Fukami, A., et al., Factors associated with serum high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) levels in a general population. Metabolism, 2009. 58(12): p. 1688-93.
- 165. Donato, R., Intracellular and extracellular roles of S100 proteins. Microsc Res Tech, 2003. 60(6): p. 540-51.
- 166. Dattilo, B.M., *et al.*, *The extracellular region of the receptor for advanced glycation end products is composed of two independent structural units.* Biochemistry, 2007. 46(23): p. 6957-70.
- 167. Leclerc, E., et al., S100B and S100A6 differentially modulate cell survival by interacting with distinct RAGE (receptor for advanced glycation end products) immunoglobulin domains. J Biol Chem, 2007. 282(43): p. 31317-31.
- 168. Huttunen, H.J., et al., Coregulation of neurite outgrowth and cell survival by amphoterin and S100 proteins through receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) activation. J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(51): p. 40096-105.
- 169. Kiryushko, D., et al., Molecular mechanisms of Ca(2+) signaling in neurons induced by the S100A4 protein. Mol Cell Biol, 2006. 26(9): p. 3625-38.
- 170. Wolf, R., et al., Chemotactic activity of S100A7 (Psoriasin) is mediated by the receptor for advanced glycation end products and potentiates inflammation with highly homologous but functionally distinct S100A15. J Immunol, 2008. 181(2): p. 1499-506.
- 171. Boyd, J.H., et al., S100A8 and S100A9 mediate endotoxin-induced cardiomyocyte dysfunction via the receptor for advanced glycation end products. Circ Res, 2008. 102(10): p. 1239-46.
- 172. Cecil, D.L., et al., Inflammation-induced chondrocyte hypertrophy is driven by receptor for advanced glycation end products. J Immunol, 2005. 175(12): p. 8296-302.
- 173. Hofmann, M.A., et al., RAGE mediates a novel proinflammatory axis: a central cell surface receptor for S100/calgranulin polypeptides. Cell, 1999. 97(7): p. 889-901.
- 174. Hsieh, H.L., et al., S100 protein translocation in response to extracellular S100 is mediated by receptor for advanced glycation endproducts in human endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2004. 316(3): p. 949-59.
- 175. Arumugam, T., et al., S100P stimulates cell proliferation and survival via receptor for activated glycation end products (RAGE). J Biol Chem, 2004. 279(7): p. 5059-65.
- 176. Chen, Y.S., et al., Serum levels of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products and of S100 proteins are associated with inflammatory, autoantibody, and classical risk markers of joint and vascular damage in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther, 2009. 11(2): p. R39.

- 177. Steiner, J., et al., S100B serum levels are closely correlated with body mass index: an important caveat in neuropsychiatric research. Psychoneuroendocrinology, 2010. 35(2): p. 321-4.
- 178. Catalan, V., et al., Increased levels of calprotectin in obesity are related to macrophage content: impact on inflammation and effect of weight loss. Mol Med, 2011. 17(11-12): p. 1157-67.
- 179. Ott, H.W., et al., Calgranulins in cystic fluid and serum from patients with ovarian carcinomas. Cancer Res, 2003. 63(21): p. 7507-14.
- 180. Lukanidin, E. and J.P. Sleeman, *Building the niche: the role of the S100 proteins in metastatic growth.* Semin Cancer Biol, 2012. 22(3): p. 216-25.
- 181. Glenner, G.G. and C.W. Wong, *Alzheimer's disease: initial report of the purification and characterization of a novel cerebrovascular amyloid protein.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1984. 120(3): p. 885-90.
- 182. Probst, A., et al., Deposition of beta/A4 protein along neuronal plasma membranes in diffuse senile plaques. Acta Neuropathol, 1991. 83(1): p. 21-9.
- Roher, A., et al., Purification, ultrastructure, and chemical analysis of Alzheimer disease amyloid plaque core protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1986. 83(8): p. 2662-6.
- 184. Priller, C., et al., Synapse formation and function is modulated by the amyloid precursor protein. J Neurosci, 2006. 26(27): p. 7212-21.
- 185. Soba, P., et al., Homo- and heterodimerization of APP family members promotes intercellular adhesion. EMBO J, 2005. 24(20): p. 3624-34.
- Hung, A.Y., et al., Increased expression of beta-amyloid precursor protein during neuronal differentiation is not accompanied by secretory cleavage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1992. 89(20): p. 9439-43.
- 187. Sturchler, E., et al., Site-specific blockade of RAGE-Vd prevents amyloid-beta oligomer neurotoxicity. J Neurosci, 2008. 28(20): p. 5149-58.
- 188. Yan, S.D., et al., RAGE and amyloid-beta peptide neurotoxicity in Alzheimer's disease. Nature, 1996. 382(6593): p. 685-91.
- 189. Arvanitakis, Z., et al., Serum creatinine levels correlate with plasma amyloid Beta protein. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord, 2002. 16(3): p. 187-90.
- 190. Abdullah, L., et al., High serum Abeta and vascular risk factors in first-degree relatives of Alzheimer's disease patients. Mol Med, 2009. 15(3-4): p. 95-100.
- 191. Marsche, G., et al., Hypochlorite-modified albumin colocalizes with RAGE in the artery wall and promotes MCP-1 expression via the RAGE-Erk1/2 MAP-kinase pathway. FASEB J, 2007. 21(4): p. 1145-52.
- 192. Okamoto, H., et al., Serum amyloid A activates nuclear factor-kappaB in rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts through binding to receptor of advanced glycation end-products. J Rheumatol, 2008. 35(5): p. 752-6.
- 193. Cai, H., et al., Serum amyloid A induces monocyte tissue factor. J Immunol, 2007. 178(3): p. 1852-60.
- 194. Tian, J., et al., RAGE inhibits RSV syncytia formation by interfering with F-protein function. J Gen Virol, 2013.
- 195. Malherbe, P., et al., cDNA cloning of a novel secreted isoform of the human receptor for advanced glycation end products and characterization of cells coexpressing cell-surface scavenger receptors and Swedish mutant amyloid precursor protein. Brain Res Mol Brain Res, 1999. 71(2): p. 159-70.
- 196. Renard, C., et al., Recombinant advanced glycation end product receptor pharmacokinetics in normal and diabetic rats. Mol Pharmacol, 1997. 52(1): p. 54-62.
- 197. Yonekura, H., et al., Novel splice variants of the receptor for advanced glycation end-products expressed in human vascular endothelial cells and pericytes, and their putative roles in diabetes-induced vascular injury. Biochem J, 2003. 370(Pt 3): p. 1097-109.

- 198. Galichet, A., M. Weibel, and C.W. Heizmann, *Calcium-regulated intramembrane proteolysis of the RAGE receptor.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2008. 370(1): p. 1-5.
- 199. Raucci, A., et al., A soluble form of the receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE) is produced by proteolytic cleavage of the membrane-bound form by the sheddase a disintegrin and metalloprotease 10 (ADAM10). FASEB J, 2008. 22(10): p. 3716-27.
- Zhang, L., et al., Receptor for advanced glycation end products is subjected to protein ectodomain shedding by metalloproteinases. J Biol Chem, 2008. 283(51): p. 35507-16.
- 201. Yamakawa, N., et al., Proteolytic release of the receptor for advanced glycation end products from in vitro and in situ alveolar epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2011. 300(4): p. L516-25.
- 202. Metz, V.V., et al., Induction of RAGE shedding by activation of G protein-coupled receptors. PLoS One, 2012. 7(7): p. e41823.
- 203. Katakami, N., et al., Endogenous secretory RAGE but not soluble RAGE is associated with carotid atherosclerosis in type 1 diabetes patients. Diab Vasc Dis Res, 2008. 5(3): p. 190-7.
- 204. Sakurai, S., et al., Development of an ELISA for esRAGE and its application to type 1 diabetic patients. Diabetes Res Clin Pract, 2006. 73(2): p. 158-65.
- 205. Peng, F., et al., Association of Four Genetic Polymorphisms of AGER and Its Circulating Forms with Coronary Artery Disease: A Meta-Analysis. PLoS One, 2013. 8(7): p. e70834.
- 206. Berg, T.J., et al., The advanced glycation end product Nepsilon-(carboxymethyl)lysine is increased in serum from children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care, 1998. 21(11): p. 1997-2002.
- 207. Berg, T.J., et al., Increased serum levels of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) in children and adolescents with IDDM. Diabetes Care, 1997. 20(6): p. 1006-8.
- 208. Kilhovd, B.K., et al., Serum levels of advanced glycation end products are increased in patients with type 2 diabetes and coronary heart disease. Diabetes Care, 1999. 22(9): p. 1543-8.
- 209. Katz, J., et al., Expression of the receptor of advanced glycation end products in gingival tissues of type 2 diabetes patients with chronic periodontal disease: a study utilizing immunohistochemistry and RT-PCR. J Clin Periodontol, 2005. 32(1): p. 40-4.
- 210. Tam, X.H., et al., Enhanced expression of receptor for advanced glycation endproducts is associated with low circulating soluble isoforms of the receptor in Type 2 diabetes. Clin Sci (Lond), 2011. 120(2): p. 81-9.
- 211. Thomas, M.C., et al., Soluble receptor for AGE (RAGE) is a novel independent predictor of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in type 1 diabetes. Diabetologia, 2011. 54(10): p. 2669-77.
- 212. Challier, M., et al., Increased serum concentrations of soluble receptor for advanced glycation endproducts in patients with type 1 diabetes. Clin Chem, 2005. 51(9): p. 1749-50.
- 213. Giannini, C., et al., The possible role of esRAGE and sRAGE in the natural history of diabetic nephropathy in childhood. Pediatr Nephrol, 2012. 27(2): p. 269-75.
- 214. Pertynska-Marczewska, M., et al., Glycation endproducts, soluble receptor for advanced glycation endproducts and cytokines in diabetic and non-diabetic pregnancies. Am J Reprod Immunol, 2009. 61(2): p. 175-82.
- 215. Nin, J.W., et al., Levels of soluble receptor for AGE are cross-sectionally associated with cardiovascular disease in type 1 diabetes, and this association is partially mediated by endothelial and renal dysfunction and by low-grade inflammation: the EURODIAB Prospective Complications Study. Diabetologia, 2009. 52(4): p. 705-14.

- 216. Nin, J.W., et al., Higher plasma soluble Receptor for Advanced Glycation End Products (sRAGE) levels are associated with incident cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality in type 1 diabetes: a 12-year follow-up study. Diabetes, 2010. 59(8): p. 2027-32.
- 217. Nakamura, K., et al., Elevation of soluble form of receptor for advanced glycation end products (sRAGE) in diabetic subjects with coronary artery disease. Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2007. 23(5): p. 368-71.
- 218. Yu, J.Y., et al., Plasma sRAGE is not associated with urinary microalbumin excretion in type 2 diabetic nephropathy at the early stage. Diabetes Res Clin Pract, 2010. 87(2): p. 157-60.
- 219. Colhoun, H.M., et al., Total soluble and endogenous secretory receptor for advanced glycation end products as predictive biomarkers of coronary heart disease risk in patients with type 2 diabetes: an analysis from the CARDS trial. Diabetes, 2011. 60(9): p. 2379-85.
- 220. Basta, G., et al., Circulating soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products is inversely associated with glycemic control and S100A12 protein. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2006. 91(11): p. 4628-34.
- 221. Grossin, N., et al., Severity of diabetic microvascular complications is associated with a low soluble RAGE level. Diabetes Metab, 2008. 34(4 Pt 1): p. 392-5.
- 222. Fujisawa, K., et al., Circulating soluble RAGE as a predictive biomarker of cardiovascular event risk in patients with type 2 diabetes. Atherosclerosis, 2013. 227(2): p. 425-8.
- 223. Nakamura, K., et al., Serum levels of soluble form of receptor for advanced glycation end products (sRAGE) are positively associated with circulating AGEs and soluble form of VCAM-1 in patients with type 2 diabetes. Microvasc Res, 2008. 76(1): p. 52-6.
- 224. Tan, K.C., et al., Association between serum levels of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products and circulating advanced glycation end products in type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia, 2006. 49(11): p. 2756-62.
- 225. Yamagishi, S., et al., Positive association between serum levels of advanced glycation end products and the soluble form of receptor for advanced glycation end products in nondiabetic subjects. Metabolism, 2006. 55(9): p. 1227-31.
- 226. Dettoraki, A., A.P. Gil, and B.E. Spiliotis, Association between serum levels of the soluble receptor (sRAGE) for advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs) and their receptor (RAGE) in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of children with type 1 diabetes mellitus. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab, 2009. 22(10): p. 895-904.
- 227. Reis, J.S., et al., Soluble RAGE and malondialdehyde in type 1 diabetes patients without chronic complications during the course of the disease. Diab Vasc Dis Res, 2012. 9(4): p. 309-14.
- 228. Katakami, N., et al., Decreased endogenous secretory advanced glycation end product receptor in type 1 diabetic patients: its possible association with diabetic vascular complications. Diabetes Care, 2005. 28(11): p. 2716-21.
- 229. Miura, J., et al., Endogenous secretory receptor for advanced glycation endproducts levels are correlated with serum pentosidine and CML in patients with type 1 diabetes. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2007. 27(1): p. 253-4.
- 230. Katakami, N., et al., Serum endogenous secretory RAGE level is an independent risk factor for the progression of carotid atherosclerosis in type 1 diabetes. Atherosclerosis, 2009. 204(1): p. 288-92.
- 231. Humpert, P.M., et al., Soluble RAGE but not endogenous secretory RAGE is associated with albuminuria in patients with type 2 diabetes. Cardiovasc Diabetol, 2007. 6: p. 9.
- 232. Devangelio, E., et al., Soluble RAGE in type 2 diabetes: association with oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med, 2007. 43(4): p. 511-8.

- 233. Nakamura, K., et al., Serum levels of soluble form of receptor for advanced glycation end products (sRAGE) are correlated with AGEs in both diabetic and non-diabetic subjects. Clin Exp Med, 2007. 7(4): p. 188-90.
- 234. An, X.F., et al., Plasma sRAGE is independently associated with high sensitivity Creactive protein in type 2 diabetes without coronary artery disease. Diabetes Res Clin Pract, 2010. 87(3): p. e19-22.
- 235. Su, X.D., et al., Elevated serum levels of advanced glycation end products and their monocyte receptors in patients with type 2 diabetes. Arch Med Res, 2011. 42(7): p. 596-601.
- 236. Al-Mesallamy, H.O., et al., Role of advanced glycation end product receptors in the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy. J Diabetes Complications, 2011. 25(3): p. 168-74.
- 237. EI-Mesallamy, H.O., et al., Levels of soluble advanced glycation end productreceptors and other soluble serum markers as indicators of diabetic neuropathy in the foot. J Investig Med, 2011. 59(8): p. 1233-8.
- 238. Park, H.J., et al., Soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products is associated with in-stent restenosis in patients with type 2 diabetes with drugeluting coronary stents. Coron Artery Dis, 2011. 22(1): p. 12-7.
- 239. Wang, L.J., et al., Increased serum high-mobility group box-1 and cleaved receptor for advanced glycation endproducts levels and decreased endogenous secretory receptor for advanced glycation endproducts levels in diabetic and non-diabetic patients with heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail, 2011. 13(4): p. 440-9.
- 240. Gohda, T., et al., Increased serum endogenous secretory receptor for advanced glycation end-product (esRAGE) levels in type 2 diabetic patients with decreased renal function. Diabetes Res Clin Pract, 2008. 81(2): p. 196-201.
- 241. Lu, L., et al., Increased glycated albumin and decreased esRAGE concentrations are associated with in-stent restenosis in Chinese diabetic patients. Clin Chim Acta, 2008. 396(1-2): p. 33-7.
- 242. Choi, K.M., et al., Association between endogenous secretory RAGE, inflammatory markers and arterial stiffness. Int J Cardiol, 2009. 132(1): p. 96-101.
- 243. Lu, L., et al., Increased glycated albumin and decreased esRAGE levels are related to angiographic severity and extent of coronary artery disease in patients with type 2 diabetes. Atherosclerosis, 2009. 206(2): p. 540-5.
- 244. Jin, C., et al., Association of serum glycated albumin, C-reactive protein and ICAM-1 levels with diffuse coronary artery disease in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Clin Chim Acta, 2009. 408(1-2): p. 45-9.
- 245. Peng, W.H., et al., Decreased serum esRAGE level is associated with angiographically determined coronary plaque progression in diabetic patients. Clin Biochem, 2009. 42(12): p. 1252-9.
- 246. Li, K., et al., Association between the RAGE G82S polymorphism and Alzheimer's disease. J Neural Transm, 2010. 117(1): p. 97-104.
- 247. Ghidoni, R., et al., Decreased plasma levels of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products in mild cognitive impairment. J Neural Transm, 2008. 115(7): p. 1047-50.
- 248. Emanuele, E., et al., Circulating levels of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products in Alzheimer disease and vascular dementia. Arch Neurol, 2005. 62(11): p. 1734-6.
- 249. Nozaki, I., et al., Reduced expression of endogenous secretory receptor for advanced glycation endproducts in hippocampal neurons of Alzheimer's disease brains. Arch Histol Cytol, 2007. 70(5): p. 279-90.
- Sternberg, Z., et al., Soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products in multiple sclerosis: a potential marker of disease severity. Mult Scler, 2008. 14(6): p. 759-63.

- 251. Ilzecka, J., Serum-soluble receptor for advanced glycation end product levels in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Acta Neurol Scand, 2009. 120(2): p. 119-22.
- 252. Liang, F., et al., Decreased plasma levels of soluble low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-1 (sLRP) and the soluble form of the receptor for advanced glycation end products (sRAGE) in the clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. J Clin Neurosci, 2013. 20(3): p. 357-61.
- 253. Boso, M., et al., Alterations of circulating endogenous secretory RAGE and S100A9 levels indicating dysfunction of the AGE-RAGE axis in autism. Neurosci Lett, 2006. 410(3): p. 169-73.
- 254. Bucciarelli, L.G., et al., RAGE blockade stabilizes established atherosclerosis in diabetic apolipoprotein E-null mice. Circulation, 2002. 106(22): p. 2827-35.
- 255. Nakamura, K., et al., Independent determinants of soluble form of receptor for advanced glycation end products in elderly hypertensive patients. Metabolism, 2009. 58(3): p. 421-5.
- 256. Nakamura, K., et al., Telmisartan inhibits expression of a receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) in angiotensin-II-exposed endothelial cells and decreases serum levels of soluble RAGE in patients with essential hypertension. Microvasc Res, 2005. 70(3): p. 137-41.
- 257. Geroldi, D., et al., Decreased plasma levels of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end-products in patients with essential hypertension. J Hypertens, 2005. 23(9): p. 1725-9.
- 258. Falcone, C., et al., Plasma levels of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products and coronary artery disease in nondiabetic men. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2005. 25(5): p. 1032-7.
- 259. Mahajan, N., et al., Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) and its inflammatory ligand EN-RAGE in non-diabetic subjects with pre-mature coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis, 2009. 207(2): p. 597-602.
- 260. Mulder, D.J., et al., Skin autofluorescence is elevated in patients with stable coronary artery disease and is associated with serum levels of neopterin and the soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products. Atherosclerosis, 2008. 197(1): p. 217-23.
- 261. Raposeiras-Roubin, S., et al., Relation of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products to predict mortality in patients with chronic heart failure independently of Seattle Heart Failure Score. Am J Cardiol, 2011. 107(6): p. 938-44.
- 262. Raposeiras-Roubin, S., et al., Soluble receptor of advanced glycation end products levels are related to ischaemic aetiology and extent of coronary disease in chronic heart failure patients, independent of advanced glycation end products levels: New Roles for Soluble RAGE. Eur J Heart Fail, 2010. 12(10): p. 1092-100.
- 263. Raposeiras-Roubin, S., et al., Evidence for a role of advanced glycation end products in atrial fibrillation. Int J Cardiol, 2012. 157(3): p. 397-402.
- 264. Basta, G., et al., Circulating soluble receptor of advanced glycation end product inversely correlates with atherosclerosis in patients with chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int, 2010. 77(3): p. 225-31.
- 265. Kim, J.K., et al., Plasma levels of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products (sRAGE) and proinflammatory ligand for RAGE (EN-RAGE) are associated with carotid atherosclerosis in patients with peritoneal dialysis. Atherosclerosis, 2012. 220(1): p. 208-14.
- 266. Leonardis, D., et al., Circulating soluble receptor for advanced glycation end product (sRAGE) and left ventricular hypertrophy in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD). Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis, 2012. 22(9): p. 748-55.
- 267. Koyama, Y., et al., Soluble Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) is a prognostic factor for heart failure. J Card Fail, 2008. 14(2): p. 133-9.

- 268. Basta, G., et al., High plasma levels of the soluble receptor for advanced glycation endproducts in patients with symptomatic carotid atherosclerosis. Eur J Clin Invest, 2009. 39(12): p. 1065-72.
- 269. Semba, R.D., et al., Advanced glycation end products and their circulating receptors predict cardiovascular disease mortality in older community-dwelling women. Aging Clin Exp Res, 2009. 21(2): p. 182-90.
- 270. Basta, G., et al., Circulating soluble receptor for advanced glycation end-product levels are decreased in patients with calcific aortic valve stenosis. Atherosclerosis, 2010. 210(2): p. 614-8.
- 271. Park, H.J., et al., Soluble receptor of advanced glycated endproducts is associated with plaque vulnerability in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Circ J, 2011. 75(7): p. 1685-90.
- 272. Dimitriadis, K., et al., Soluble receptor for advanced glycation end-product levels are related to albuminuria and arterial stiffness in essential hypertension. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis, 2013. 23(4): p. 382-8.
- 273. Koyama, H., et al., Plasma level of endogenous secretory RAGE is associated with components of the metabolic syndrome and atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2005. 25(12): p. 2587-93.
- 274. Boulanger, E., et al., Changes in glycation and oxidation markers in patients starting peritoneal dialysis: a pilot study. Perit Dial Int, 2006. 26(2): p. 207-12.
- 275. Nakamura, T., et al., Positive association of serum levels of advanced glycation end products and high mobility group box-1 with asymmetric dimethylarginine in nondiabetic chronic kidney disease patients. Metabolism, 2009. 58(11): p. 1624-8.
- 276. Abel, M., et al., Expression of receptors for advanced glycosylated end-products in renal disease. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 1995. 10(9): p. 1662-7.
- Gutwein, P., et al., ADAM10 is expressed in human podocytes and found in urinary vesicles of patients with glomerular kidney diseases. J Biomed Sci, 2010. 17: p. 3.
- 278. Kalousova, M., et al., Soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products in patients with decreased renal function. Am J Kidney Dis, 2006. 47(3): p. 406-11.
- 279. Nakamura, T., et al., Calcium channel blocker inhibition of AGE and RAGE axis limits renal injury in nondiabetic patients with stage I or II chronic kidney disease. Clin Cardiol, 2011. 34(6): p. 372-7.
- 280. Zakiyanov, O., et al., Serum S100A12 (EN-RAGE) levels in patients with decreased renal function and subclinical chronic inflammatory disease. Kidney Blood Press Res, 2011. 34(6): p. 457-64.
- 281. Nishizawa, Y. and H. Koyama, *Endogenous secretory receptor for advanced glycation end-products and cardiovascular disease in end-stage renal disease.* J Ren Nutr, 2008. 18(1): p. 76-82.
- 282. Dalal, M., et al., Endogenous secretory receptor for advanced glycation end products and chronic kidney disease in the elderly population. Am J Nephrol, 2011. 33(4): p. 313-8.
- 283. Nasrallah, M.M., et al., Endogenous soluble receptor of advanced glycation endproducts (esRAGE) is negatively associated with vascular calcification in nondiabetic hemodialysis patients. Int Urol Nephrol, 2012. 44(4): p. 1193-9.
- 284. Jabaudon, M., et al., Soluble form of the receptor for advanced glycation end products is a marker of acute lung injury but not of severe sepsis in critically ill patients. Crit Care Med, 2011. 39(3): p. 480-8.
- 285. Determann, R.M., et al., Plasma CC16 levels are associated with development of ALI/ARDS in patients with ventilator-associated pneumonia: a retrospective observational study. BMC Pulm Med, 2009. 9: p. 49.
- 286. Christie, J.D., et al., Plasma levels of receptor for advanced glycation end products, blood transfusion, and risk of primary graft dysfunction. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2009. 180(10): p. 1010-5.

- 287. Miniati, M., et al., Soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products in COPD: relationship with emphysema and chronic cor pulmonale: a case-control study. Respir Res, 2011. 12: p. 37.
- 288. Davey, A., D.F. McAuley, and C.M. O'Kane, *Matrix metalloproteinases in acute lung injury: mediators of injury and drivers of repair.* Eur Respir J, 2011. 38(4): p. 959-70.
- 289. Kikkawa, T., et al., Significance of measuring S100A12 and sRAGE in the serum of sepsis patients with postoperative acute lung injury. Dig Surg, 2010. 27(4): p. 307-12.
- 290. Agostoni, P., et al., Surfactant protein B and RAGE increases in the plasma during cardiopulmonary bypass: a pilot study. Eur Respir J, 2011. 37(4): p. 841-7.
- 291. Nakamura, T., et al., Increased levels of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products (sRAGE) and high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) are associated with death in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Clin Biochem, 2011. 44(8-9): p. 601-4.
- 292. Yerkovich, S.T., et al., Soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products (sRAGE) is present at high concentrations in the lungs of children and varies with age and the pattern of lung inflammation. Respirology, 2012. 17(5): p. 841-6.
- 293. Sukkar, M.B., et al., Soluble RAGE is deficient in neutrophilic asthma and COPD. Eur Respir J, 2012. 39(3): p. 721-9.
- 294. Liu, X., et al., Plasma sRAGE enables prediction of acute lung injury after cardiac surgery in children. Crit Care, 2012. 16(3): p. R91.
- 295. Watanabe, T., et al., Increased levels of HMGB-1 and endogenous secretory RAGE in induced sputum from asthmatic patients. Respir Med, 2011. 105(4): p. 519-25.
- 296. Ghavami, S., et al., S100A8/A9 at low concentration promotes tumor cell growth via RAGE ligation and MAP kinase-dependent pathway. J Leukoc Biol, 2008. 83(6): p. 1484-92.
- 297. Tafani, M., et al., Hypoxia-increased RAGE and P2X7R expression regulates tumor cell invasion through phosphorylation of Erk1/2 and Akt and nuclear translocation of NF-{kappa}B. Carcinogenesis, 2011. 32(8): p. 1167-75.
- 298. Jing, R., et al., Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) soluble form (sRAGE): a new biomarker for lung cancer. Neoplasma, 2010. 57(1): p. 55-61.
- 299. Krechler, T., et al., Soluble receptor for advanced glycation end-products (sRAGE) and polymorphisms of RAGE and glyoxalase I genes in patients with pancreas cancer. Clin Biochem, 2010. 43(10-11): p. 882-6.
- 300. Germanova, A., et al., Glyoxalase I Glu111Ala polymorphism in patients with breast cancer. Cancer Invest, 2009. 27(6): p. 655-60.
- 301. Piperis, M., et al., Effect of breast cancer adjuvant therapies on potential biomarkers of pulmonary inflammation. Anticancer Res, 2012. 32(11): p. 4993-5002.
- 302. Tesarova, P., et al., Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE)-soluble form (sRAGE) and gene polymorphisms in patients with breast cancer. Cancer Invest, 2007. 25(8): p. 720-5.
- 303. Jiao, L., et al., Advanced glycation end products, soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products, and risk of colorectal cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 2011. 20(7): p. 1430-8.
- 304. Jiao, L., et al., Evidence that serum levels of the soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products are inversely associated with pancreatic cancer risk: a prospective study. Cancer Res, 2011. 71(10): p. 3582-9.
- 305. Jiao, L., et al., Plasma soluble receptor for advanced glycation end-products and risk of colorectal adenoma. Int J Mol Epidemiol Genet, 2012. 3(4): p. 294-304.
- 306. Moy, K.A., et al., Soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products and risk of *liver cancer.* Hepatology, 2013.

- 307. Grote, V.A., et al., The associations of advanced glycation end products and its soluble receptor with pancreatic cancer risk: a case-control study within the prospective EPIC Cohort. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 2012. 21(4): p. 619-28.
- 308. Bopp, C., et al., sRAGE is elevated in septic patients and associated with patients outcome. J Surg Res, 2008. 147(1): p. 79-83.
- 309. Nakamura, T., et al., Suppression of high-mobility group box-1 and receptor for advanced glycation end-product axis by polymyxin B-immobilized fiber hemoperfusion in septic shock patients. J Crit Care, 2011. 26(6): p. 546-9.
- 310. Pullerits, R., et al., Decreased levels of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products in patients with rheumatoid arthritis indicating deficient inflammatory control. Arthritis Res Ther, 2005. 7(4): p. R817-24.
- 311. Stewart, C., et al., Decreased levels of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products in patients with primary Sjogren's syndrome. Rheumatol Int, 2008. 28(8): p. 771-6.
- 312. Witzke, K.A., et al., Loss of RAGE defense: a cause of Charcot neuroarthropathy? Diabetes Care, 2011. 34(7): p. 1617-21.
- 313. Cohen, M.J., et al., Early release of soluble receptor for advanced glycation endproducts after severe trauma in humans. J Trauma, 2010. 68(6): p. 1273-8.
- 314. Danzig, V., et al., Levels of circulating biomarkers at rest and after exercise in coronary artery disease patients. Physiol Res, 2010. 59(3): p. 385-92.
- 315. Kocsis, A.K., et al., Plasma concentrations of high-mobility group box protein 1, soluble receptor for advanced glycation end-products and circulating DNA in patients with acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology, 2009. 9(4): p. 383-91.
- 316. Yilmaz, Y., et al., Decreased plasma levels of soluble receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (sRAGE) in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Clin Biochem, 2009. 42(9): p. 802-7.
- 317. Norata, G.D., et al., Circulating soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products is inversely associated with body mass index and waist/hip ratio in the general population. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis, 2009. 19(2): p. 129-34.
- 318. Chayanupatkul, M. and S. Honsawek, Soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products (sRAGE) in plasma and synovial fluid is inversely associated with disease severity of knee osteoarthritis. Clin Biochem, 2010. 43(13-14): p. 1133-7.
- 319. Myles, A., et al., Soluble receptor for advanced glycation endproducts is decreased in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis (ERA category) and inversely correlates with disease activity and S100A12 levels. J Rheumatol, 2011. 38(9): p. 1994-9.
- 320. Jeong, S.J., et al., Low plasma levels of the soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products in HIV-infected patients with subclinical carotid atherosclerosis receiving combined antiretroviral therapy. Atherosclerosis, 2011. 219(2): p. 778-83.
- 321. Ma, C.Y., et al., The plasma level of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products is decreased in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Scand J Immunol, 2012. 75(6): p. 614-22.
- 322. Biswas, S.K., et al., Serum soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products (sRAGE) is independently associated with cigarette smoking in non-diabetic healthy subjects. Diab Vasc Dis Res, 2013.
- 323. Ferrante, E., et al., Determinants of thromboxane biosynthesis in rheumatoid arthritis: Role of RAGE and oxidant stress. Free Radic Biol Med, 2010. 49(5): p. 857-64.
- 324. Sterenczak, K.A., et al., Cloning, characterisation, and comparative quantitative expression analyses of receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) transcript forms. Gene, 2009. 434(1-2): p. 35-42.

- 325. Grossin, N., et al., Differential effect of plasma or erythrocyte AGE-ligands of RAGE on expression of transcripts for receptor isoforms. Diabetes Metab, 2009. 35(5): p. 410-7.
- 326. Lam, J.K., et al., Effect of insulin on the soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE). Diabet Med, 2013.
- 327. Tanaka, N., et al., The receptor for advanced glycation end products is induced by the glycation products themselves and tumor necrosis factor-alpha through nuclear factor-kappa B, and by 17beta-estradiol through Sp-1 in human vascular endothelial cells. J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(33): p. 25781-90.
- 328. Forbes, J.M., et al., Modulation of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products by angiotensin-converting enzyme-1 inhibition in diabetic nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2005. 16(8): p. 2363-72.
- 329. Ishibashi, Y., et al., Metformin inhibits advanced glycation end products (AGEs)induced renal tubular cell injury by suppressing reactive oxygen species generation via reducing receptor for AGEs (RAGE) expression. Horm Metab Res, 2012. 44(12): p. 891-5.
- 330. Feng, B., et al., Atorvastatin exerts its anti-atherosclerotic effects by targeting the receptor for advanced glycation end products. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2011. 1812(9): p. 1130-7.
- 331. Ishibashi, Y., et al., Pravastatin inhibits advanced glycation end products (AGEs)induced proximal tubular cell apoptosis and injury by reducing receptor for AGEs (RAGE) level. Metabolism, 2012. 61(8): p. 1067-72.
- 332. Qin, W., et al., Simvastatin suppresses apoptosis in vulnerable atherosclerotic plaques through regulating the expression of p(53), Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther, 2012. 26(1): p. 23-30.
- 333. Kojro, E., et al., Low cholesterol stimulates the nonamyloidogenic pathway by its effect on the alpha -secretase ADAM 10. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2001. 98(10): p. 5815-20.
- 334. Murai, T., et al., Low cholesterol triggers membrane microdomain-dependent *CD44* shedding and suppresses tumor cell migration. J Biol Chem, 2011. 286(3): p. 1999-2007.
- 335. Reiss, K., et al., Unsaturated fatty acids drive disintegrin and metalloproteinase (ADAM)-dependent cell adhesion, proliferation, and migration by modulating membrane fluidity. J Biol Chem, 2011. 286(30): p. 26931-42.
- 336. Tippmann, F., et al., Up-regulation of the alpha-secretase ADAM10 by retinoic acid receptors and acitretin. FASEB J, 2009. 23(6): p. 1643-54.
- 337. Santilli, F., et al., Decreased plasma soluble RAGE in patients with hypercholesterolemia: effects of statins. Free Radic Biol Med, 2007. 43(9): p. 1255-62.
- 338. Tam, H.L., et al., Effects of atorvastatin on serum soluble receptors for advanced glycation end-products in type 2 diabetes. Atherosclerosis, 2010. 209(1): p. 173-7.
- 339. Lee, E., et al., Regulation of matrix metalloproteinases and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 synthesis by plasminogen in cultured human vascular smooth muscle cells. Circ Res, 1996. 78(1): p. 44-9.
- 340. Mengshol, J.A., M.P. Vincenti, and C.E. Brinckerhoff, *IL-1 induces collagenase-3* (*MMP-13*) promoter activity in stably transfected chondrocytic cells: requirement for Runx-2 and activation by p38 MAPK and JNK pathways. Nucleic Acids Res, 2001. 29(21): p. 4361-72.
- 341. Nee, L.E., et al., TNF-alpha and IL-1beta-mediated regulation of MMP-9 and TIMP-1 in renal proximal tubular cells. Kidney Int, 2004. 66(4): p. 1376-86.
- 342. Noh, E.M., et al., Cordycepin inhibits IL-1beta-induced MMP-1 and MMP-3 expression in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts. Rheumatology (Oxford), 2009. 48(1): p. 45-8.
- 343. Bauvois, B., Transmembrane proteases in cell growth and invasion: new contributors to angiogenesis? Oncogene, 2004. 23(2): p. 317-29.

- 344. Siefert, S.A. and R. Sarkar, *Matrix metalloproteinases in vascular physiology and disease.* Vascular, 2012. 20(4): p. 210-6.
- 345. Fredriksson, R., et al., The G-protein-coupled receptors in the human genome form five main families. Phylogenetic analysis, paralogon groups, and fingerprints. Mol Pharmacol, 2003. 63(6): p. 1256-72.
- 346. Tonack, S., C. Tang, and S. Offermanns, *Endogenous metabolites as ligands for G protein-coupled receptors modulating risk factors for metabolic and cardiovascular disease.* Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 2013. 304(4): p. H501-13.
- 347. Qin, J., et al., Expression of the receptor for advanced glycation end products in oligodendrocytes in response to oxidative stress. J Neurosci Res, 2008. 86(11): p. 2414-22.
- 348. Nunan, J. and D.H. Small, *Regulation of APP cleavage by alpha-, beta- and gamma-secretases.* FEBS Lett, 2000. 483(1): p. 6-10.
- 349. Sugihara, T., et al., Endogenous secretory receptor for advanced glycation endproducts inhibits amyloid-beta1-42 uptake into mouse brain. J Alzheimers Dis, 2012. 28(3): p. 709-20.
- 350. Gaens, K.H., et al., Association of polymorphism in the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) gene with circulating RAGE levels. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2009. 94(12): p. 5174-80.
- 351. Brown, L.F. and C.G. Fraser, *Assay validation and biological variation of serum receptor for advanced glycation end-products.* Ann Clin Biochem, 2008. 45(Pt 5): p. 518-9.
- 352. Achouiti, A., et al., S100A12 and Soluble RAGE Levels During Human Severe Sepsis. Shock, 2013.
- 353. Hudson, B.I., et al., Association of serum soluble receptor for advanced glycation end-products with subclinical cerebrovascular disease: the Northern Manhattan Study (NOMAS). Atherosclerosis, 2011. 216(1): p. 192-8.
- 354. Yokota, C., et al., Low levels of plasma soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products are associated with severe leukoaraiosis in acute stroke patients. J Neurol Sci, 2009. 287(1-2): p. 41-4.
- 355. Sebekova, K., Z. Krivosikova, and M. Gajdos, Total plasma Nepsilon-(carboxymethyl)lysine and sRAGE levels are inversely associated with a number of metabolic syndrome risk factors in non-diabetic young-to-middle-aged medication-free subjects. Clin Chem Lab Med, 2013: p. 1-11.
- 356. Brix, J.M., et al., The soluble form of the receptor of advanced glycation endproducts increases after bariatric surgery in morbid obesity. Int J Obes (Lond), 2012. 36(11): p. 1412-7.
- 357. Fukushima, Y., et al., Relationship between advanced glycation end products and plaque progression in patients with acute coronary syndrome: the JAPAN-ACS Sub-study. Cardiovasc Diabetol, 2013. 12: p. 5.
- 358. Kotani, K., et al., Influence of Physical Activity Intervention on Circulating Soluble Receptor for Advanced Glycation end Products in Elderly Subjects. J Clin Med Res, 2011. 3(5): p. 252-7.
- 359. Ha, C.H., et al., Inhibitory effect of soluble RAGE in disturbed flow-induced atherogenesis. Int J Mol Med, 2013.
- 360. Wear-Maggitti, K., et al., Use of topical sRAGE in diabetic wounds increases neovascularization and granulation tissue formation. Ann Plast Surg, 2004. 52(5): p. 519-21; discussion 522.
- 361. Jeong, S.J., et al., The effect of sRAGE-Fc fusion protein attenuates inflammation and decreases mortality in a murine cecal ligation and puncture model. Inflamm Res, 2012. 61(11): p. 1211-8.
- 362. Renard, C., et al., The human and rat recombinant receptors for advanced glycation end products have a high degree of homology but different

*pharmacokinetic properties in rats.* J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 1999. 290(3): p. 1458-66.

- 363. Sabbagh, M.N., et al., PF-04494700, an oral inhibitor of receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE), in Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord, 2011. 25(3): p. 206-12.
- 364. Mruthinti, S., et al., Relationship between the induction of RAGE cell-surface antigen and the expression of amyloid binding sites. J Mol Neurosci, 2003. 20(3): p. 223-32.
- 365. Lopez, O.L., B.S. Rabin, and F.J. Huff, *Serum auto-antibodies in Alzheimer's disease.* Acta Neurol Scand, 1991. 84(5): p. 441-4.
- 366. Hyman, B.T., et al., Autoantibodies to amyloid-beta and Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol, 2001. 49(6): p. 808-10.
- 367. Nath, A., et al., Autoantibodies to amyloid beta-peptide (Abeta) are increased in Alzheimer's disease patients and Abeta antibodies can enhance Abeta neurotoxicity: implications for disease pathogenesis and vaccine development. Neuromolecular Med, 2003. 3(1): p. 29-39.
- 368. Maftei, M., et al., Antigen-bound and free beta-amyloid autoantibodies in serum of healthy adults. PLoS One, 2012. 7(9): p. e44516.
- Mruthinti, S., et al., Autoimmunity in Alzheimer's disease: increased levels of circulating IgGs binding Abeta and RAGE peptides. Neurobiol Aging, 2004. 25(8): p. 1023-32.
- 370. Wilson, J.S., et al., Anti-RAGE and Abeta immunoglobulin levels are related to dementia level and cognitive performance. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2009. 64(2): p. 264-71.
- 371. Mitchell, M.B., et al., RAGE and Abeta immunoglobulins: relation to Alzheimer's disease-related cognitive function. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2010. 16(4): p. 672-8.
- 372. Webster, S.J., et al., An aqueous orally active vaccine targeted against a RAGE/AB complex as a novel therapeutic for Alzheimer's disease. Neuromolecular Med, 2012. 14(2): p. 119-30.
- 373. World Health Organization. Office of Health Communications and Public Relations., *Cardiovascular diseases*. WHO fact sheet. 2007, Geneva: World Health Organization. 3 p.
- 374. Androulakis, E.S., et al., Essential hypertension: is there a role for inflammatory mechanisms? Cardiol Rev, 2009. 17(5): p. 216-21.
- 375. Lusis, A.J., Atherosclerosis. Nature, 2000. 407(6801): p. 233-41.
- 376. Millen, B.E., et al., Dietary patterns and the odds of carotid atherosclerosis in women: the Framingham Nutrition Studies. Prev Med, 2002. 35(6): p. 540-7.
- 377. Weintraub, W.S., *Cigarette smoking as a risk factor for coronary artery disease.* Adv Exp Med Biol, 1990. 273: p. 27-37.
- 378. Crouse, J.R., et al., Risk factors for extracranial carotid artery atherosclerosis. Stroke, 1987. 18(6): p. 990-6.
- 379. Takahashi, M., et al., Involvement of adhesion molecules in human monocyte adhesion to and transmigration through endothelial cells in vitro. Atherosclerosis, 1994. 108(1): p. 73-81.
- Duplaa, C., et al., Monocyte/macrophage recruitment and expression of endothelial adhesion proteins in human atherosclerotic lesions. Atherosclerosis, 1996. 121(2): p. 253-66.
- 381. Sluiter, W., et al., Leukocyte adhesion molecules on the vascular endothelium: their role in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease and the mechanisms underlying their expression. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol, 1993. 22 Suppl 4: p. S37-44.
- 382. Cominacini, L., et al., Antioxidants inhibit the expression of intercellular cell adhesion molecule-1 and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 induced by oxidized LDL on human umbilical vein endothelial cells. Free Radic Biol Med, 1997. 22(1-2): p. 117-27.

- 383. Konstantopoulos, K., et al., Endothelial P-selectin and VCAM-1 each can function as primary adhesive mechanisms for T cells under conditions of flow. J Leukoc Biol, 1997. 61(2): p. 179-87.
- 384. Furukawa, Y., et al., Anti-monocyte chemoattractant protein-1/monocyte chemotactic and activating factor antibody inhibits neointimal hyperplasia in injured rat carotid arteries. Circ Res, 1999. 84(3): p. 306-14.
- 385. Takeya, M., et al., Detection of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in human atherosclerotic lesions by an anti-monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 monoclonal antibody. Hum Pathol, 1993. 24(5): p. 534-9.
- 386. Gu, L., et al., Absence of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 reduces atherosclerosis in low density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. Mol Cell, 1998. 2(2): p. 275-81.
- 387. Dawson, T.C., et al., Absence of CC chemokine receptor-2 reduces atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Atherosclerosis, 1999. 143(1): p. 205-11.
- 388. Steinberg, D., *Lipoproteins and the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis.* Circulation, 1987. 76(3): p. 508-14.
- 389. Nielsen, L.B., *Transfer of low density lipoprotein into the arterial wall and risk of atherosclerosis.* Atherosclerosis, 1996. 123(1-2): p. 1-15.
- 390. Goldstein, J.L., et al., Binding site on macrophages that mediates uptake and degradation of acetylated low density lipoprotein, producing massive cholesterol deposition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1979. 76(1): p. 333-7.
- 391. Assmann, G. and A.M. Gotto, Jr., *HDL cholesterol and protective factors in atherosclerosis.* Circulation, 2004. 109(23 Suppl 1): p. III8-14.
- 392. Barter, P., *The role of HDL-cholesterol in preventing atherosclerotic disease.* European Heart Journal, 2005. 7: p. 5.
- 393. Castelli, W.P., et al., HDL cholesterol and other lipids in coronary heart disease. The cooperative lipoprotein phenotyping study. Circulation, 1977. 55(5): p. 767-72.
- Basta, G., Receptor for advanced glycation endproducts and atherosclerosis: From basic mechanisms to clinical implications. Atherosclerosis, 2008. 196(1): p. 9-21.
- World Health Organization. Office of Health Communications and Public Relations., *Diabetes*. WHO fact sheet. 2006, Geneva: World Health Organization. 3 p.
- 396. van Belle, T.L., K.T. Coppieters, and M.G. von Herrath, *Type 1 diabetes: etiology, immunology, and therapeutic strategies.* Physiol Rev, 2011. 91(1): p. 79-118.
- 397. Forbes, J.M. and M.E. Cooper, *Mechanisms of diabetic complications*. Physiol Rev, 2013. 93(1): p. 137-88.
- 398. Morino, K., K.F. Petersen, and G.I. Shulman, *Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance in humans and their potential links with mitochondrial dysfunction.* Diabetes, 2006. 55 Suppl 2: p. S9-S15.
- 399. World Health Organization., Use of glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) in diagnosis of diabetes mellitus: abbreviated report of a WHO consultation. 2011, Geneva: World Health Organization. 25 p.
- 400. Mosca, A., A. Lapolla, and P. Gillery, *Glycemic control in the clinical management of diabetic patients.* Clin Chem Lab Med, 2013. 51(4): p. 753-66.
- 401. Aslan, D., *Biomarkers for diabetes complications: The results of several clinical studies.* Journal of Medical Biochemistry, 2011. 30(3): p. 207-212.
- 402. Thornalley, P.J., *Protein and nucleotide damage by glyoxal and methylglyoxal in physiological systems--role in ageing and disease.* Drug Metabol Drug Interact, 2008. 23(1-2): p. 125-50.
- 403. Weiss, M.F., *Pathogenic role of advanced glycation end-products (AGEs): an overview.* Perit Dial Int, 1999. 19 Suppl 2: p. S47-52.

- 404. Shu, T., et al., AGEs decrease insulin synthesis in pancreatic beta-cell by repressing Pdx-1 protein expression at the post-translational level. PLoS One, 2011. 6(4): p. e18782.
- 405. Sun, M., et al., Deposition of advanced glycation end products (AGE) and expression of the receptor for AGE in cardiovascular tissue of the diabetic rat. Int J Exp Pathol, 1998. 79(4): p. 207-22.
- 406. World Health Organization., *Obesity : preventing and managing the global epidemic : report of a WHO consultation*. WHO technical report series. 2000, Geneva: World Health Organization. 252 p.
- 407. Shields, M., et al., Abdominal obesity and cardiovascular disease risk factors within body mass index categories. Health Rep, 2012. 23(2): p. 7-15.
- 408. Liu, P.Y., et al., Evidence for the association between abdominal fat and cardiovascular risk factors in overweight and obese African American women. J Am Coll Nutr, 2012. 31(2): p. 126-32.
- 409. Hubert, H.B., et al., Obesity as an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease: a 26-year follow-up of participants in the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation, 1983. 67(5): p. 968-77.
- 410. Manson, J.E., et al., A prospective study of obesity and risk of coronary heart disease in women. N Engl J Med, 1990. 322(13): p. 882-9.
- 411. Dorn, J.M., et al., Body mass index and mortality in a general population sample of men and women. The Buffalo Health Study. Am J Epidemiol, 1997. 146(11): p. 919-31.
- 412. Hodgson, J.M., et al., Coronary atherosclerosis in relation to body fatness and its distribution. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord, 1994. 18(1): p. 41-6.
- 413. Fontaine, K.R., et al., Years of life lost due to obesity. JAMA, 2003. 289(2): p. 187-93.
- 414. Flegal, K.M., et al., Association of all-cause mortality with overweight and obesity using standard body mass index categories: a systematic review and metaanalysis. JAMA, 2013. 309(1): p. 71-82.
- 415. Ahima, R.S., Should eligibility for bariatric surgery be expanded? Gastroenterology, 2008. 134(1): p. 15.
- 416. Schroeder, R., J.M. Garrison, Jr., and M.S. Johnson, *Treatment of adult obesity with bariatric surgery.* Am Fam Physician, 2011. 84(7): p. 805-14.
- 417. Aballay, L.R., et al., Overweight and obesity: a review of their relationship to metabolic syndrome, cardiovascular disease, and cancer in South America. Nutr Rev, 2013. 71(3): p. 168-79.
- 418. Shoelson, S.E., L. Herrero, and A. Naaz, *Obesity, inflammation, and insulin resistance.* Gastroenterology, 2007. 132(6): p. 2169-80.
- 419. Sowers, K.M. and J.R. Sowers, *Obesity, hypertension, and vascular disease.* Curr Hypertens Rep, 1999. 1(2): p. 140-4.
- 420. Leuner, B., et al., RAGE influences obesity in mice. Effects of the presence of RAGE on weight gain, AGE accumulation, and insulin levels in mice on a high fat diet. Z Gerontol Geriatr, 2012. 45(2): p. 102-8.
- 421. Sitia, S., et al., Cardiovascular involvement in systemic autoimmune diseases. Autoimmun Rev, 2009. 8(4): p. 281-6.
- 422. Anaya, J.M., *Common mechanisms of autoimmune diseases (the autoimmune tautology).* Autoimmun Rev, 2012. 11(11): p. 781-4.
- 423. Frostegard, J., *Autoimmunity, oxidized LDL and cardiovascular disease.* Autoimmun Rev, 2002. 1(4): p. 233-7.
- 424. Kurien, B.T. and R.H. Scofield, *Autoimmunity and oxidatively modified autoantigens*. Autoimmun Rev, 2008. 7(7): p. 567-73.
- 425. van der Wal, A.C., et al., Atherosclerotic lesions in humans. In situ immunophenotypic analysis suggesting an immune mediated response. Lab Invest, 1989. 61(2): p. 166-70.

- 426. Xu, Q.B., et al., Immunology of atherosclerosis: cellular composition and major histocompatibility complex class II antigen expression in aortic intima, fatty streaks, and atherosclerotic plaques in young and aged human specimens. Clin Immunol Immunopathol, 1990. 56(3): p. 344-59.
- 427. Wick, G., M. Knoflach, and Q. Xu, *Autoimmune and inflammatory mechanisms in atherosclerosis.* Annu Rev Immunol, 2004. 22: p. 361-403.
- 428. Witztum, J.L., *Immunological response to oxidized LDL.* Atherosclerosis, 1997. 131 Suppl: p. S9-11.
- 429. Palinski, W., E. Miller, and J.L. Witztum, *Immunization of low density lipoprotein* (*LDL*) receptor-deficient rabbits with homologous malondialdehyde-modified LDL reduces atherogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1995. 92(3): p. 821-5.
- 430. Wick, G., et al., Role of heat shock protein 65/60 in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Int Arch Allergy Immunol, 1995. 107(1-3): p. 130-1.
- 431. Wick, G., et al., Is atherosclerosis an immunologically mediated disease? Immunol Today, 1995. 16(1): p. 27-33.
- 432. Benjamin, I.J. and D.R. McMillan, *Stress (heat shock) proteins: molecular chaperones in cardiovascular biology and disease.* Circ Res, 1998. 83(2): p. 117-32.
- 433. Pfister, G., et al., Detection of HSP60 on the membrane surface of stressed human endothelial cells by atomic force and confocal microscopy. J Cell Sci, 2005. 118(Pt 8): p. 1587-94.
- 434. Grundtman, C., et al., Heat shock protein 60 and immune inflammatory responses in atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2011. 31(5): p. 960-8.
- 435. Wenzlau, J.M., et al., The cation efflux transporter ZnT8 (Slc30A8) is a major autoantigen in human type 1 diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2007. 104(43): p. 17040-5.
- 436. Oresic, M., et al., Dysregulation of lipid and amino acid metabolism precedes islet autoimmunity in children who later progress to type 1 diabetes. J Exp Med, 2008. 205(13): p. 2975-84.
- 437. Naik, R.G., B.M. Brooks-Worrell, and J.P. Palmer, *Latent autoimmune diabetes in adults.* J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2009. 94(12): p. 4635-44.
- 438. Premachandra, B.N. and I.B. Perlstein, Studies on obesity. III. effect of triiodothyronine (T3) on thyroglobulin autoantibodies in euthyroid obese subjects. Metabolism, 1976. 25(9): p. 981-8.
- 439. Gardas, A., B. Czarnocka, and J. Nauman, *The presence of autoantibodies directed to thyroid plasma membrane antigens in sera of patients with thyroid disorders, estimated by the reaction with labelled protein A.* Acta Endocrinol (Copenh), 1984. 105(4): p. 500-4.
- 440. Tamer, G., et al., Effects of thyroid autoimmunity on abdominal obesity and hyperlipidaemia. Endokrynol Pol, 2011. 62(5): p. 421-8.
- 441. Lombardi, A.M., et al., Presence of anti-ADAMTS13 antibodies in obesity. Eur J Clin Invest, 2012. 42(11): p. 1197-204.
- 442. Gong, F., et al., Expression of receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) on the surface of circulating endothelial cells is upregulated in Kawasaki disease. Pediatr Res, 2012. 71(6): p. 720-4.
- 443. Mu, L., et al., Activation of the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) exacerbates experimental autoimmune myasthenia gravis symptoms. Clin Immunol, 2011. 141(1): p. 36-48.
- Moser, B., et al., The receptor for advanced glycation endproducts and its ligands in patients with myasthenia gravis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2012. 420(1): p. 96-101.
- 445. Pullerits, R., et al., Synovial fluid expression of autoantibodies specific for RAGE relates to less erosive course of rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford), 2007. 46(8): p. 1367-71.

- 446. Scholze, J., et al., Epidemiological and economic burden of metabolic syndrome and its consequences in patients with hypertension in Germany, Spain and Italy; a prevalence-based model. BMC Public Health, 2010. 10: p. 529.
- 447. Williams, J.P. and J.A. Meyers, *Immune-mediated inflammatory disorders* (*I.M.I.D.s*): the economic and clinical costs. Am J Manag Care, 2002. 8(21 Suppl): p. S664-81; quiz S682-5.
- 448. Brownlee, I.A., et al., Markers of cardiovascular risk are not changed by increased whole-grain intake: the WHOLEheart study, a randomised, controlled dietary intervention. Br J Nutr, 2010. 104(1): p. 125-34.
- 449. Yeh, C.H., et al., Requirement for p38 and p44/p42 mitogen-activated protein kinases in RAGE-mediated nuclear factor-kappaB transcriptional activation and cytokine secretion. Diabetes, 2001. 50(6): p. 1495-504.
- 450. Bierhaus, A., P.M. Humpert, and P.P. Nawroth, *NF-kappaB as a molecular link between psychosocial stress and organ dysfunction.* Pediatr Nephrol, 2004. 19(11): p. 1189-91.
- 451. Lv, B., et al., High-mobility group box 1 protein induces tissue factor expression in vascular endothelial cells via activation of NF-kappaB and Egr-1. Thromb Haemost, 2009. 102(2): p. 352-9.
- 452. Sukkar, M.B., et al., RAGE: a new frontier in chronic airways disease. Br J Pharmacol, 2012. 167(6): p. 1161-76.
- 453. Ikeda, K., et al., N (epsilon)-(carboxymethyl)lysine protein adduct is a major immunological epitope in proteins modified with advanced glycation end products of the Maillard reaction. Biochemistry, 1996. 35(24): p. 8075-83.
- 454. Habeeb, A.F., *Determination of free amino groups in proteins by trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid.* Anal Biochem, 1966. 14(3): p. 328-36.
- 455. Daroux, M., et al., Advanced glycation end-products: implications for diabetic and non-diabetic nephropathies. Diabetes Metab, 2010. 36(1): p. 1-10.
- 456. Niquet-Léridon, C. and F.J. Tessier, Quantification of Nε-carboxymethyl-lysine in selected chocolate-flavoured drink mixes using high-performance liquid chromatography–linear ion trap tandem mass spectrometry. Food Chemistry, 2011. 126(2): p. 655-663.
- 457. He, M., et al., Receptor for advanced glycation end products binds to phosphatidylserine and assists in the clearance of apoptotic cells. EMBO Rep, 2011. 12(4): p. 358-64.
- 458. Bibl, M., et al., Cerebrospinal fluid amyloid beta peptide patterns in Alzheimer's disease patients and nondemented controls depend on sample pretreatment: indication of carrier-mediated epitope masking of amyloid beta peptides. Electrophoresis, 2004. 25(17): p. 2912-8.
- 459. Miller, D.L., et al., Humoral immune response to fibrillar beta-amyloid peptide. Biochemistry, 2003. 42(40): p. 11682-92.
- 460. Craig, A.L., et al., Dephosphorylation of p53 at Ser20 after cellular exposure to low levels of non-ionizing radiation. Oncogene, 1999. 18(46): p. 6305-12.
- 461. Cabral, A.R., J. Cabiedes, and D. Alarcon-Segovia, *Heterogeneity of antibodies to beta2-glycoprotein 1 from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus.* Lupus, 2004. 13(3): p. 182-7.
- 462. Wittwer, C., et al., Methodological and preanalytical evaluation of a RAGE *immunoassay*. Anticancer Res, 2012. 32(5): p. 2075-8.
- 463. Geroldi, D., et al., High levels of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products may be a marker of extreme longevity in humans. J Am Geriatr Soc, 2006. 54(7): p. 1149-50.
- 464. Hunt, S.C., R.R. Williams, and T.D. Adams, *Biochemical and anthropometric characterization of morbid obesity in a large Utah pedigree.* Obes Res, 1995. 3 Suppl 2: p. 165S-172S.
- 465. Ranlov, P.J., *Serum lipid changes after gastroplasty for morbid obesity.* Acta Med Scand, 1984. 216(5): p. 503-8.

- 466. Gordon, T., et al., High density lipoprotein as a protective factor against coronary heart disease. The Framingham Study. Am J Med, 1977. 62(5): p. 707-14.
- 467. Martin, S.S., A. Qasim, and M.P. Reilly, *Leptin resistance: a possible interface of inflammation and metabolism in obesity-related cardiovascular disease.* J Am Coll Cardiol, 2008. 52(15): p. 1201-10.
- 468. Hui, X., et al., Adiponectin and cardiovascular health: an update. Br J Pharmacol, 2012. 165(3): p. 574-90.
- 469. Unoki, H., et al., Advanced glycation end products attenuate cellular insulin sensitivity by increasing the generation of intracellular reactive oxygen species in adipocytes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract, 2007. 76(2): p. 236-44.
- 470. Goova, M.T., et al., Blockade of receptor for advanced glycation end-products restores effective wound healing in diabetic mice. Am J Pathol, 2001. 159(2): p. 513-25.
- 471. Mruthinti, S., et al., Autoimmunity in Alzheimer's disease as evidenced by plasma immunoreactivity against RAGE and Abeta42: complication of diabetes. Curr Alzheimer Res, 2006. 3(3): p. 229-35.
- 472. Lorenzi, R., et al., Do receptor for advanced glycation end-products (RAGE) ligands or anti-sRAGE autoantibodies interfere with sRAGE quantification? Annals of Clinical Biochemistry, in press.
- 473. Wolowczuk, I., et al., Tryptophan metabolism activation by indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase in adipose tissue of obese women: an attempt to maintain immune homeostasis and vascular tone. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol, 2012. 303(2): p. R135-43.
- 474. Sakaguchi, T., et al., Central role of RAGE-dependent neointimal expansion in arterial restenosis. J Clin Invest, 2003. 111(7): p. 959-72.
- 475. Zeng, S., et al., Blockade of receptor for advanced glycation end product (RAGE) attenuates ischemia and reperfusion injury to the liver in mice. Hepatology, 2004. 39(2): p. 422-32.
- 476. Plotz, P.H., *The autoantibody repertoire: searching for order.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2003. 3(1): p. 73-8.
- 477. Poletaev, A. and L. Osipenko, *General network of natural autoantibodies as immunological homunculus (Immunculus).* Autoimmun Rev, 2003. 2(5): p. 264-71.
- 478. Poletaev, A.B., V.L. Stepanyuk, and M.E. Gershwin, *Integrating immunity: the immunculus and self-reactivity*. J Autoimmun, 2008. 30(1-2): p. 68-73.
- 479. Katsuki, A., et al., Serum levels of tumor necrosis factor-alpha are increased in obese patients with noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 1998. 83(3): p. 859-62.
- 480. Winkler, G., et al., Elevated serum TNF-alpha level as a link between endothelial dysfunction and insulin resistance in normotensive obese patients. Diabet Med, 1999. 16(3): p. 207-11.
- 481. Desideri, G., et al., Early activation of vascular endothelial cells and platelets in obese children. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2005. 90(6): p. 3145-52.
- 482. Bluml, S., et al., Targeting TNF receptors in rheumatoid arthritis. Int Immunol, 2012. 24(5): p. 275-81.
- 483. Padgett, L.E., et al., The role of reactive oxygen species and proinflammatory cytokines in type 1 diabetes pathogenesis. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2013. 1281: p. 16-35.
- 484. Srivastava, R., et al., Autoimmune-mediated reduction of high-density lipoproteincholesterol and paraoxonase 1 activity in systemic lupus erythematosus-prone gld mice. Arthritis Rheum, 2011. 63(1): p. 201-11.
- 485. Marzullo, P., et al., Investigations of thyroid hormones and antibodies in obesity: leptin levels are associated with thyroid autoimmunity independent of bioanthropometric, hormonal, and weight-related determinants. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2010. 95(8): p. 3965-72.

- 486. Lord, G.M., et al., Leptin modulates the T-cell immune response and reverses starvation-induced immunosuppression. Nature, 1998. 394(6696): p. 897-901.
- 487. Tian, J., et al., Toll-like receptor 9-dependent activation by DNA-containing immune complexes is mediated by HMGB1 and RAGE. Nat Immunol, 2007. 8(5): p. 487-96.
- 488. Suzuki, D. and T. Miyata, *Carbonyl stress in the pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy.* Intern Med, 1999. 38(4): p. 309-14.
- 489. Prevost, G., et al., Polymorphisms of the receptor of advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE) and the development of nephropathy in type 1 diabetic patients. Diabetes Metab, 2005. 31(1): p. 35-9.
- 490. Kang, P., C. Tian, and C. Jia, *Association of RAGE gene polymorphisms with type* 2 diabetes mellitus, diabetic retinopathy and diabetic nephropathy. Gene, 2012. 500(1): p. 1-9.
- 491. Niu, W., et al., A meta-analysis of receptor for advanced glycation end products gene: four well-evaluated polymorphisms with diabetes mellitus. Mol Cell Endocrinol, 2012. 358(1): p. 9-17.
- 492. Hofmann, M.A., et al., RAGE and arthritis: the G82S polymorphism amplifies the inflammatory response. Genes Immun, 2002. 3(3): p. 123-35.
- 493. Shlomchik, M.J., et al., The role of clonal selection and somatic mutation in autoimmunity. Nature, 1987. 328(6133): p. 805-11.
- 494. Zong, H., et al., Homodimerization is essential for the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE)-mediated signal transduction. J Biol Chem, 2010. 285(30): p. 23137-46.
- 495. Mancini, J.E., et al., Retinal upregulation of inflammatory and proangiogenic markers in a model of neonatal diabetic rats fed on a high-fat-diet. BMC Ophthalmol, 2013. 13: p. 14.
- 496. Hirasawa, Y., et al., Pioglitazone improves obesity type diabetic nephropathy: relation to the mitigation of renal oxidative reaction. Exp Anim, 2008. 57(5): p. 423-32.
- 497. Sohn, E., et al., Combination of Medicinal Herbs KIOM-79 Reduces Advanced Glycation End Product Accumulation and the Expression of Inflammatory Factors in the Aorta of Zucker Diabetic Fatty Rats. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med, 2011. 2011: p. 784136.
- 498. O'Hara, A., et al., Microarray analysis identifies matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) as key genes whose expression is up-regulated in human adipocytes by macrophage-conditioned medium. Pflugers Arch, 2009. 458(6): p. 1103-14.
- 499. O'Brien, P.E., et al., Systematic review of medium-term weight loss after bariatric operations. Obes Surg, 2006. 16(8): p. 1032-40.
- 500. Lee, W.J., et al., Improvement of insulin resistance after obesity surgery: a comparison of gastric banding and bypass procedures. Obes Surg, 2008. 18(9): p. 1119-25.
- 501. Lee, Y.H., et al., Plasma amyloid-beta peptide levels correlate with adipocyte amyloid precursor protein gene expression in obese individuals. Neuroendocrinology, 2009. 90(4): p. 383-90.
- 502. Gerling, I.C., Oxidative Stress, Altered-Self and Autoimmunity. The Open Autoimmunity Journal, 2009. 1: p. 4.
- 503. Stark, J.M., Immunological adjuvance of metabolic origin: oxidative stress, postulated impaired function of thiol proteases and immunogenicity. Scand J Immunol, 1998. 48(5): p. 475-9.
- 504. Wu, C.H., et al., AGE-induced interference of glucose uptake and transport as a possible cause of insulin resistance in adipocytes. J Agric Food Chem, 2011. 59(14): p. 7978-84.
- 505. Chen, C.Y., et al., An advanced glycation end product (AGE)-receptor for AGEs (RAGE) axis restores adipogenic potential of senescent preadipocytes through modulation of p53 protein function. J Biol Chem, 2012. 287(53): p. 44498-507.

- 506. Butovsky, O., E. Hauben, and M. Schwartz, *Morphological aspects of spinal cord autoimmune neuroprotection: colocalization of T cells with B7--2 (CD86) and prevention of cyst formation.* FASEB J, 2001. 15(6): p. 1065-7.
- 507. Hauben, E., et al., Autoimmune T cells as potential neuroprotective therapy for spinal cord injury. Lancet, 2000. 355(9200): p. 286-7.
- 508. Schwartz, M., *Beneficial autoimmune T cells and posttraumatic neuroprotection.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2000. 917: p. 341-7.
- 509. Yoles, E., et al., Protective autoimmunity is a physiological response to CNS trauma. J Neurosci, 2001. 21(11): p. 3740-8.
- 510. Arai, S., et al., Obesity-Associated Autoantibody Production Requires AIM to Retain the Immunoglobulin M Immune Complex on Follicular Dendritic Cells. Cell Rep, 2013. 3(4): p. 1187-98.
- 511. Brethauer, S.A., et al., Early effects of gastric bypass on endothelial function, inflammation, and cardiovascular risk in obese patients. Surg Endosc, 2011. 25(8): p. 2650-9.